NOTICE
Time Change

The City Council Work Study Session
on Monday, January 20, 2026
has been rescheduled

Council Chambers — City Hall
21 South Eim
Zeeland, Michigan




CITY OF ZEELAND
City Council Work-Study Session
Agenda
City Hall — Council Chambers, 2" Floor, 21 South EIm
January 20, 2026, 5:30 p.m.

DISCUSSION ITEMS:

Board of Public Works Utilities Manager Contract — Robert Mulder

El Rancho, Inc. 8 Liquor License Application

Snowmelt Special Assessment Report

Lincoln Cemetery String Trimming Bid Award

Ottawa County Election Publishing Agreement and Ottawa County Early Voting Printing/Mailing
Agreement - Voter Information Cards

2026 Poverty Guidelines

Closed Session — pending litigation and attorney/client privilege memo

RN~

N

UPCOMING BUSINESS:

OLD BUSINESS:

Vacancies on Boards/Commissions:
Board of Construction Appeals (1)
Nominating Commission (5)

ANNOUNCEMENTS:




4

<
A&

CITY OF ZEELAND
City Council Regular Meeting
Agenda
City Hall — Council Chambers, 2" Floor, 21 South EIm
January 20, 2026, 7:00 p.m.

CALL TO ORDER:

Invocation — Council Member Lam

Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag

Excuse absent members (by motion and reason)
Approve additions/deletions to the Agenda
Consent Agenda (page 2)

Public Comment/Visitors

Communications

City Manager’s Report

PUBLIC HEARING:

7:10 P.M. — El Rancho, Inc. 8, LLC Liquor License Application

ACTION ITEMS:

1. Support El Rancho, Inc. 8 to receive a Class C, a DDA Redevelopment License
and a SDM Liquor License and Approve Operations Contract

El Rancho - Michigan Liquor Control Commission (MLCC) Approval

Board of Public Works Utilities Manager Contract — Robert Mulder

Ottawa County Election Publishing Agreement

Ottawa County Early Voting Printing/Mailing Agreement — Voter Information Cards
2026 Poverty Guidelines

Lincoln Cemetery String Trimming Bid Award

NoRWN

REPORTS FROM CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS

ANNOUNCEMENTS



CONSENT AGENDA

All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by
one motion with a roll call vote. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless
a council member, a member of the administrative staff or a citizen so requests, in which
event the item will be removed from the consent agenda and considered separately in its
normal sequence on the regular agenda.

1.

2.

Nowk

Approve minutes of the City Council Work Study and Regular meeting of January 5,
2026,

Receive for information draft minutes of the January 8, 2026, Shopping Area
Redevelopment Board meeting.

Receive for information draft minutes of the January 13, 2026, Board of Public Works
meeting,

Ratify BPW Action #25.072 - Approve Kennedy Industries for spare pump rebuild.
Ratify BPW Action #25.073 - Approve Three (3) 2026 Ford F150s

Ratify BPW Action #25.074 - Approve Yellow Line Creative LLC Budget Amendment.
Ratify BPW Action #25.075 - Approve Lead 24/7 Leadership Development Training for
Brian Coots.

Ratify BPW Action #25.076 - Approve Leadership Coaching Proposal from Discover
Coaching Services, LLC.



Council Meeting
Common Council
January 5, 2026

The regular meeting of the Common Council was held at 21 S. EIm Street,
Zeeland, Ml 49464 on Monday, January 5, 2026. Mayor Rick VanDorp called the
meeting to order at 7:02 P.M.

PRESENT: Councilmembers - Mayor VanDorp, Mayor Pro-Tern Gruppen,
Timmer, Lam, Bult, Langeland, Perkins

ABSENT: None

Staff Present: City Attorney Donkersloot, City Manager Tim Klunder, Asst City
Manager/Finance Director Kevin Plockmeyer, Police Chief Jungel, Community
Development Director Tim Maday and City Clerk Kristi DeVerney

The Invocation was offered by Mayor Rick VanDorp.

The Pledge Allegiance to the Flag

Consent Agenda

1. Approve minutes of the City Council Work Study and Regular meeting of December 15,
2025,

2. Receive for information draft minutes of December 9, 2025, 2025, Board of
Public Works meeting,

3. Receive for information draft minutes of the December 10, 2025, Cemetery/Parks

Commission meeting.

Motion was made by Councilmember Langeland and Supported by
Councilmember Timmer to approve the Consent Agenda.

Ayes: Mayor Pro-Tern Gruppen, Langeland, Timmer, Bult, Lam, Perkins, Mayor VanDorp
No Vote: None
Absent: None

Communications

None

City Managers Report

City Manager Klunder reported:
Fire/Rescue Chief Search Committee — Our Fire/Rescue Chief Search
Committee met this morning to review applications for our open Fire/Rescue



Chief position. The committee’s desire is to interview candidates in the next
couple of weeks.

Liquor License Application — We have received the application from El Rancho

for a liquor license. Our team is in the process of reviewing the license. We are

anticipating a public hearing on the license for Tuesday, January 20, 2026 due

to the City of Zeeland observing Martin Luther King Jr Day on Monday, January
19.

Goal Setting — City Council’s annual goal setting retreat will occur on Monday,
January 26 and Tuesday, January 27. These sessions will be held in the City
Council Chambers and will start at 5:30 p.m.

Fiscal Year 26/27 Budget — With the beginning of a new calendar year, the Department
budget reviews, with our administrative leadership team, will occur the week of
February 9. Budget review sessions, with City Council, will take place on Monday,
March 30, Tuesday, March 31, and, if necessary, Wednesday, April 1.

Planning Commission — Due to the New Year’s Day holiday, the Planning
Commission will hold their regular monthly meeting, for January, on January 8 at
5:45 p.m.

Police Department Oaths of Office

Police Chief Jungel noted that the City has hired a couple of part-time police
officers, Koichi Magee (former full-time Police Officer for the City of Zeeland)
and Mark DeLeeuw (former Holland Police Officer). Both officers missed being a
part of the police force. We are pleased to welcome their valuable skillset to our
department. City Clerk Kristi DeVerney administered the Oaths of Office to both
Officers.

Action Iltems

26.001 Rich Street Lift Station Pump Purchase

Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen and Supported by Councilmember Lam to
request City Council waive the requirement to obtain a minimum of three quotes
and authorize the purchase of one 7.5 HP Flygt pump from Kennedy Industries, as
outlined in the supporting documentation, in the amount of $20,818.00. Funding for
this purchase will be provided from the Transmission Equipment Maintenance line
item.

Ayes: Langeland, Timmer, Bult, Lam, Perkins, Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen,
Mayor VanDorp



No Vote: None
Absent: None

26.002 Lawrence Park Preliminary Design Contract Award

Motion by Councilmember Timmer and Supported by Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen to
approve awarding a professional services contract to MCSA Group, Inc. in the
amount of $9,440 for Lawrence Park Playground Design Development.

Ayes: Timmer, Bult, Lam, Perkins, Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen, Langeland,
Mayor VanDorp

No Vote: None

Absent: None

26.003 Architectural Services Contract

Motion by Councilmember Lam and Supported by Councilmember Timmer to
Approve awarding a professional services contract to Tower Pinkster in the amount
of $24,000

for implementation planning services related to the Facilities Condition Audit and
Space Use Analysis.

Ayes: Bult, Lam, Perkins, Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen, Langeland, Timmer,
Mayor VanDorp

No Vote: None

Absent: None

26.004 FY 25/26 Budget Amendment — Facilities Implementation Planning

Motion by Langeland and Supported by Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen to approve a
budget amendment in the City Building Fund establishing a total project budget of
$30,000 for facilities implementation planning.

Ayes: Lam, Perkins, Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen, Langeland, Timmer, Bult,
Mayor VanDorp

No Vote: None

Absent: None

26.005 Snowmelt Special Assessment Resolution #1

Motion by Councilmember Perkins and Supported by Councilmember Bult to
approve Snowmelt Special Assessment District, 2026-1-SM, Resolution No. 1
which authorizes the City Manager to prepare a report to establish a snowmelt
special assessment district.



Ayes: Perkins, Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen, Langeland, Timmer, Bult, Lam,

Mayor VanDorp
No Vote: None
Absent: None

26.006  Police Officers Labor Council collective Bargaining Agreement
Amendment

Motion by Councilmember Bult and Supported by Councilmember Timmer to
approve the attached Letter of Agreement with the Police Officer Labor Council on
behalf of the City of Zeeland removing part-time Officers from Union representation.

Ayes: Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen, Langeland, Timmer, Bult, Lam, Perkins,
Mayor VanDorp

No Vote: None

Absent: None

26.007 _ Planning Commission Appointment — C J Otteman

Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen and Supported by Councilmember Lam to
approve the appointment of C J Otteman to the Planning Commission with a term
expiring January 1, 2029.

Ayes: Langeland, Timmer, Bult, Lam, Perkins, Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen,
Mayor VanDorp

No Vote: None

Absent: None

Motion was made by Councilmember Langeland and supported by Councilmember Timmer
to enter into Closed Session at 7:36 P.M. for purposes of reviewing pending litigation, and
to review of a City Attorney’s opinion. Motion carried by all voting aye.

City Council reconvened from Closed Session at 8:24 p.m.
There being no further business, motion was made by Councilmember Timmer and

seconded by Councilmember Langeland to adjourn the meeting at 8:24 p.m. Motion
carried. All voting aye.

Mayor Richard Van Dorp llI

Kristi DeVerney City Clerk



MEMORANDUM OF-STUDY SESSION
Zeeland City Hall Council Chambers
Monday, January 5, 2026
5:30 P.M.

PRESENT: Counciimembers - Mayor VanDorp, Mayor Pro-Tern Gruppen, Lam,
Timmer, Perkins, Langeland and Bult (arrived at 5:45 p.m.)

ABSENT: None

Staff Present: City Attorney Donkersloot, City Manager Tim Klunder, Asst City
Manager/Finance Director Kevin Plockmeyer, City Clean Water Plant Superintendent
Engelsman and City Clerk Kristi DeVerney

Mayor VanDorp called the Study Session to order at 5:30 P.M.
Rich Street Lift Station Pump Purchase

CWP Director Doug Engelsman reported that the Zeeland Clean Water Plant (CWP) utilizes two 7.5 hp
Flyght pumps at the Rich Street Lift Station. One pump operates as the primary unit to maintain wet well
levels, while the second serves as a redundant backup in the event of pump failure. After more than 15
years of continuous service, these pumps are approaching the end of their optimal lifecycle for this
application, increasing the risk of mechanical or electrical failure.

The CWP has consistently followed this strategic asset management approach, particularly as suppliers
no longer maintain inventory levels they once did. The proposed replacement pump currently carries an
estimated 16-week delivery time. Once the Rich Street Lift Station pump replacement is completed, CWP
staff anticipates the transmission system will be well positioned for reliable operation for several years.

Under normal City policy, CWP staff obtains a minimum of three quotes for equipment purchases.
However, all seven lift stations within the city utilize Flygt pumps, which are widely recognized for their
reliability and performance in wastewater applications. Given the critical nature of these pumps and the
operational benefits of maintaining consistency in parts, service, and maintenance across the City’s
transmission system, CWP staff is requesting a waiver of the three-quote requirement for this purchase.

Financial Sustainability Follow-Up and Bonding Discussion

AFD Plockmeyer provided additional context following the Financial Sustainability Study and
presentation. The intent is to provide information and consideration for Council as you prepare for the
upcoming goal-setting process. Goal setting is an important moment to reflect on long-term fiscal
strategy, opportunities, and risks.

The current position of the study reaffirms Zeeland’s low debt, healthy fund balances, high-quality
services, and disciplined financial management. It also highlights that elevated revenues expected over
the next 10 to 15 years from Mead Johnson and JR Automation should be treated as one-time resources.



This approach avoids creating ongoing operational commitments that may be difficult to sustain once the
Zeeland Generating Station’s taxable value declines.

As Council prepares for goal setting, the study encourages consideration of long-term capital projects
that improve community assets without significantly increasing ongoing operating costs. Categories that
may warrant discussion include facility upgrades that extend useful life, enhancements to parks and open
spaces, energy efficiency improvements, pathway and mobility investments, and long-term street
reconstruction and maintenance.

Park improvements have been made through the completion of the pickleball courts at Huizenga Park
and the redevelopment of Hoogland Park which was identified as advanced priorities in the City’s Parks
and Recreation Master Plan. Because the City does not have a dedicated funding source for ongoing
park improvements, it requires these investments to be evaluated alongside other General Fund capital
priorities. To assist in determining future park investments, staff is seeking Council authorization at
Monday night's meeting to award a contract for preliminary architectural services at Lawrence Park. This
work will provide concept level designs and cost information that can be used, together with the Financial
Sustainability Study, to better assess timing, scale, and funding strategies for future park improvements.

Another significant and ongoing capital priority for the City is the street and bike path improvements.
Again, Zeeland does not have a dedicated funding source such as a dedicated street millage, however,
the City has historically invested between $1.5 million and $2 million dollars annually in street
reconstruction, resurfacing, and non-motorized pathway improvements. The City is nearing completion
of many of its major street reconstruction projects: however, several high-cost projects remain, including
the future reconstruction of Washington Avenue. As Council considers long term financial sustainability
and goal setting, the capital required for street and bike path improvements must be evaluated alongside
other competing priorities, including facilities, parks, and other capital improvements, to ensure that
investment decisions remain aligned with available resources and long-term fiscal capacity.

The City has also evaluated the need for a grade separated non-motorized crossing of Business Loop I-
196 near Maple Street and 92nd Avenue through a multi-jurisdictional study led by the Macatawa Area
Coordinating Council. That study identifies an elevated pedestrian and bicycle crossing at this location as
feasible, with planning level cost estimates ranging from approximately $7.3 million to $11.6 million
dollars depending on final design, trail connections, and site conditions. Because of the scale and
complexity of the project, the City’s posture in recent years has been to pursue the improvement only if
significant grant funding can be secured, recognizing that successful implementation would require
coordination and cost sharing among the City of Zeeland, Zeeland Township, MDOT, and other regional
partners. To support this approach, the City has set aside $1 million dollars to serve as a potential local
match should a competitive grant opportunity arise. As Council considers long term priorities and goal
setting, key questions remain whether this crossing continues to be a priority project for the community,
whether the current wait for a grant strategy remains appropriate, or whether Council wishes to direct
staff to pursue a more active approach that would require a greater upfront commitment of local
resources.

The Financial Sustainability Study and the Downtown Zeeland Parking Study performed in 2023 provide
useful context for understanding the City’s current parking assets, anticipated needs, and long-term
capital implications. Together, these documents suggest that while downtown parking supply is generally
adequate today, targeted capital investments and careful long-range planning will be important to avoid



overbuilding infrastructure that may not be financially sustainable.

The City recently reinvested in its existing parking assets through the repaving of the South Municipal
Lot. Looking ahead, staff anticipate that the North Municipal Lot will likely require similar reinvestment
within the next couple of years to maintain service levels and avoid more costly reconstruction in the
future.

Constructing a downtown parking deck is occasionally raised in the context of long-term downtown
growth. The Parking Study does not identify a current need for structured parking and indicates that
existing surface parking, combined with improved management and utilization strategies, can
accommodate anticipated near-term demand. The Financial Sustainability Study similarly cautions
against large capital projects that introduce significant long term operating costs unless clearly justified
by need and supported by sustainable funding sources. Parking decks typically involve substantial
upfront construction costs as well as ongoing expenses for maintenance, lighting, snow removal,
structural inspections, and eventual rehabilitation, which can place pressure on future operating budgets.

The studies suggest that a prudent approach at this time is to continue reinvesting in existing surface
lots, monitor downtown development and parking utilization trends, and revisit the concept of structured
parking only if future conditions demonstrate a clear and sustained deficiency that cannot be addressed
through surface lot expansion, shared use agreements, or parking management strategies. This
approach allows the City to preserve flexibility, align capital investments with demonstrated need, and
remain consistent with the broader goal of long-term financial sustainability.

Last year, the City completed a comprehensive Space Utilization Study to evaluate how existing
municipal facilities are being used and to identify improvements needed to support current and future
service delivery. The study identifies a series of renovation, reconfiguration, and targeted addition
projects across multiple facilities, with preliminary capital cost estimates totaling approximately $24
million dollars when fully built out. While these figures represent planning level estimates rather than
approved projects, they provide important context as Council considers long term capital priorities. The
findings align with the Financial Sustainability Study’s guidance to focus on reinvesting in existing assets
through largely one-time capital improvements that extend facility life, improve efficiency, and address
operational constraints, while carefully managing the timing and financing of these investments to avoid
adding unsustainable ongoing operating costs.

Earlier in 2025, staff brought forward for Council’s consideration the release of an RFP to evaluate the
feasibility of a potential recreation center. Council identified the completion of this RFP as one of its goals
for 2025, and staff requested Council’s affirmation of this goal during the summer of 2025. Now, following
the presentation of the Financial Sustainability Study, staff believes it is important to reengage Council in
this conversation to ensure that any feasibility study is approached with the most current long-term fiscal
information in mind. The study’s findings provide updated context regarding operating cost pressures,
projected revenue patterns, and the need for careful evaluation of initiatives that may carry substantial
ongoing financial commitments.

As Council prepares for goal setting, it may be helpful to revisit how the planned 2025 recreation center
feasibility RFP aligns with the findings of the Financial Sustainability Study. The study offers important
context that can inform expectations for the feasibility review, including long-term operating cost
considerations, fiscal sustainability, and the appropriate timing of new initiatives relative to expected



changes in the City’s revenue environment. A recreation facility could advance community priorities and
improve quality of life, but it typically brings substantial ongoing operating costs such as staffing, utilities,
maintenance, programming, and long-term replacement needs. The study advises caution in expanding
recurring operational expenses during this temporary period of elevated revenue.

The study identifies several areas where operating costs are rising significantly and are expected to
continue increasing over time. Fire and Rescue operations have experienced substantial cost growth due
to higher call volumes, staffing needs, and increased equipment and capital demands. Cemetery
maintenance has also seen notable cost escalation associated with expansion of the cemetery and
changes in available labor resources after the cancellation of the inmate SWAP program. Street
maintenance represents another major pressure point, with construction-related inflation and higher
material costs placing additional strain on General Fund transfers. As Council enters goal setting, these
cost pressures, spanning public safety, facility and grounds maintenance, and core infrastructure,
underscore the importance of continued evaluation, prioritization, and alignment of any new initiatives
with the City’s long-term financial sustainability goals.

In addition to the general guidance already provided, the consultant offered a detailed set of questions to
support Council’s thinking about when bonding may be appropriate and when cash financing may be
preferable. These considerations may be useful during goal setting as Council reflects on long-term
capital priorities and the timing of major investments.

Key factors highlighted by the consultant include

* Whether the City has sufficient cash reserves to finance a project directly, or whether saving for
several years is feasible without negatively affecting operations.

e The cost of delaying investment, including the impact of inflation and the possibility that
postponement could shift a project from repair or improvement to full asset replacement.

* The opportunity cost of dedicating cash to a single project, such as foregone operational
improvements, unmet non-capital needs, or loss of opportunities to match outside grant funding.

* How project costs might be allocated between governmental and utility funds, which could improve
feasibility and reduce pressure on the General Fund.

¢ The expected useful life of the asset. Shorter-life assets (fewer than ten years) generally favor
cash financing, whereas longer horizons make debt more appropriate.

« Community interest and the potential for voter approval of either a temporary capital levy or a debt
levy.

* Whether annual debt service could be supported through existing revenues without increases in
taxes or reductions in services, with financial modeling used to assess feasibility.

¢ Dedicated funding sources (i.e. TIF Financing) could be used to offset debt payments.

¢ Opportunities to strategically time the issuance of debt so that new payments coincide with the
retirement of existing obligations, maintaining consistent expenditure levels.

¢ Unique financial circumstances that could make bonding more advantageous. In Zeeland’s case,
the projected 10 to 15 years of unusually high tax collections from ZGS and Mead Johnson may
support shorter-term bonding strategies paid entirely within this temporary revenue window

These considerations, drawn from the consultant’s correspondence, provide a framework for evaluating
when debt or cash financing may best align with the City’s long-term fiscal position and capital priorities.

The consultant’s bonding guidance outlines questions that may be helpful during goal setting,



including the useful life of proposed projects, cost of delaying improvements, opportunities for cash
funding, and whether the temporary revenue environment presents windows for
strategically timed borrowing.

To support meaningful direction setting, Council may find it helpful to consider the following
questions as part of the goal-setting process:

* Capital investment priorities for the next several years and which categories should be
explored in more detail

¢ Recreation center feasibility and how this fits within the overall findings of the financial
sustainability study.

* Preferences regarding bonding, cash financing, or blended approaches tied to long-term
fiscal sustainability.

¢ Operational cost pressures and evaluation, prioritization and alignment of initiatives
with long-term financial sustainability goals.

Following goal setting, staff will incorporate Council’s priorities into the 2026 Strategic Action plan
and prepare for long-term strategy development. We look forward to engaging Council in these
conversations both during goal setting and in the years ahead. We appreciate Council’s thoughtful
involvement in this study and the work you have done over many years to place the City in a
strong, financially sustainable position. That foundation provides an excellent framework for the
decisions and priorities that will guide Zeeland'’s future.

Lawrence Park Preliminary Design Contract Award

Assistant City Manager/Finance Director Kevin Plockmeyer shared that following discussion at the
Cemetery and Parks most recent meeting, the Commission reviewed potential scope adjustments
to reduce costs of upcoming capital park projects. However, the Commission indicated that ideally,
they would like to maintain the project scope as envisioned in the 2022 Community Parks and
Recreation Plan. The adopted Plan identifies the Vande Luyster Square Gazebo replacement and
the Lawrence Park playground reconstruction as the next major park projects, and notes that these
improvements were ideally intended to occur at roughly the same time.

Given the higher-than-expected gazebo cost estimate, the Commission discussed the condition of
the Lawrence Park playground equipment, which is also in need of an upgrade. In order to make a
more informed recommendation to City Council regarding the sequencing and prioritization of
upcoming park projects, the Commission recommends proceeding with preliminary design
development and cost estimates for the Lawrence Park playground.

Completion of preliminary design and updated cost estimates for Lawrence Park would allow the
Commission to evaluate overall project scale, timing, and funding impacts before making a
recommendation on the appropriate order of future park capital investments. This approach is
consistent with the guidance outlined in the Financial Sustainability Study follow-up memo, which
encourages the City to focus on one-time capital investments that reinvest in existing community
assets while carefully evaluating scope, timing, and affordability relative to other General Fund
capital priorities.



To assist with this effort, staff is recommending the use of MCSA Group, Inc., the City's Landscape
Architect for park improvement projects. A proposal from MCSA Group in the amount of $9,440 for
Lawrence Park Playground Design Development has been received. This scope includes
preliminary design options and an updated order of magnitude cost estimate, which would be
presented to the Cemetery and Parks Commission for review and used to support future Council
discussions regarding park capital improvements and long-term financial sustainability. Staff is
seeking City Council approval of the agreement at tonight’s meeting.

Architectural Service Contract Award and Budget Amendment

Kevin Plockmeyer shared that as part of the City’s ongoing work to evaluate and plan for long term
facility investments, Council previously authorized completion of a Facilities Condition Audit and
Space Use Analysis to better understand the condition, functionality, and future needs of City
owned buildings. That work identified a series of potential reinvestment projects across multiple
facilities intended to extend useful life, improve efficiency, and address operational constraints.

The City is facing estimates of more than $20 million in potential building improvement needs over
time. The Financial Sustainability Report, the review of it earlier this evening, provided additional
context for Council’s consideration of future capital priorities during goal setting. The study and
memo emphasizes the importance of focusing on largely one-time capital investments that reinvest
in existing assets, while carefully evaluating timing, scope, and affordability in light of long-term
fiscal conditions. The study specifically encourages thoughtful planning and prioritization of facility
improvements prior to committing to major capital expenditures.

Staff issued a request for professional services to support prioritization, conceptual refinement, and
capital planning for the facility improvements identified in the studies. Three proposals were
received with fees ranging from $24,000 to $86,000. A proposal was received from Tower Pinkster,
the firm that completed both the Facilities Condition Audit and Space Use Analysis.

Tower Pinkster’s proposal builds directly on their prior work and provides continuity from
assessment through implementation planning. Because the firm already has a detailed
understanding of City facilities, operations, and identified needs, this approach avoids duplication
of effort and allows the City to efficiently refine priorities, develop concept level scopes, and
prepare cost informed implementation strategies. The proposed work is consistent with the
guidance in the Financial Sustainability Study, as it focuses on planning and evaluation rather than
committing to construction, and supports informed decision-making regarding timing and funding of
future one-time capital investments. The proposal from Tower Pinkster is in the amount of $24,000
and includes scope elements such as priority refinement, conceptual design and cost validation,
and development of a coordinated capital improvement planning framework. This work will provide
Council with clearer information regarding project sequencing, potential phasing, and alignment
with the City’s long term financial capacity before any future construction decisions are considered.

Funding for this work was not included in the adopted Fiscal Year 2026 budget. However, staff
believes it is important to complete this implementation planning as Council begins to refine
priorities for future facility improvements and capital investments. Consistent with the guidance
outlined in the Financial Sustainability Study, this work will support informed decision making



before larger capital commitments are considered. Staff therefore recommends a budget
amendment within the City Building Fund to support this effort. In addition to the proposed contract
amount of $24,000, staff recommend establishing a total project budget of $30,000 to account for
potential additional expenses or scope refinements that may be identified during the course of the
project.

Snowmelt System Operation and Maintenance Special Assessment Resolution No. 1

Kevin Plockmeyer shared it has been two years since the City began specially assessing
properties for the operation and maintenance of the downtown snowmelt system. As the initial
assessment period comes to an end, it’s time to renew the snowmelt special assessment to
continue the established funding approach. The snowmelt system provides a direct and
measurable benefit to properties within the downtown district by improving pedestrian safety,
accessibility, and overall functionality during winter conditions, and staff continue to feel that
sharing the cost to operate the system with those who receive that direct benefit is appropriate and
equitable. This shared cost approach is consistent with the practice of neighboring communities
that operate snowmelt systems in their downtown districts. At this stage, staff is seeking City
Council affirmation that this remains the preferred funding model moving forward.

In 2023, City Council adopted a snowmelt operation and maintenance special assessment that was
structured to recover both the annual cost to operate the system and to plan for long term
maintenance and future replacement. The assessment was calculated on a per square foot basis
and included two components. The first was a commaodity or heating charge of $.92 per square
foot, intended to recover the cost of natural gas used to operate the system during an average
winter. The second was a readiness to serve or capital charge of $1.19 per square foot, intended to
fund ongoing maintenance and future replacement of system components such as boilers, pumps,
piping, valves, and controls.

When adopting the special assessment in 2023, City Council elected not to levy a special
assessment for the capital portion of the costs. Instead, the City set aside approximately

$600,000 as an endowment with the intent of covering the capital charge for the first several years
of the special assessment. As a result, the special assessment levied on benefiting properties was
limited to the operation and maintenance portion of the costs, and property owners were charged
$.92 per square foot annually. The City at large covered a portion of the

overall cost for exempt properties, public areas, and non-assessable parcels.

The action being requested at this stage is approval of Resolution No. 1. This resolution formally
initiates the special assessment process and instructs the City Manager to prepare a report for City
Council. That report includes the necessary plans, descriptions, and detailed cost estimates related
to the operation, maintenance, and future replacement of the snowmelt system, an estimate of the
life of the improvements, a description of the proposed assessment district, and recommendations
regarding the portion of costs to be borne by the special assessment district and the portion, if any,
to be borne by the City at large. Upon completion, the report is filed with the City Clerk for
presentation to City Council.

Approval of Resolution No. 1 represents the first step in a multi-step statutory process. The
adoption of a special assessment requires a total of five resolutions and two public hearings before
the assessment may be finalized. Future resolutions will consider the report, establish the



assessment district, set a public hearing on the proposed assessment roll, and ultimately confirm
the special assessment. It is staff’s intention to complete this process in time for the special
assessment to be placed on the summer tax bills, which would be consistent with past practice.

Police Officers Labor Council Collective Bargaining Agreement Amendment

The Police Officer Labor Council (POLC) and the City of Zeeland

entered into a Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) effective July 1, 2025. This agreement
established contractual guidelines for the Zeeland Police Department.

Article 1, Section 1 of the CBA states:

“The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining representative for all full-time and
regular part-time nonsupervisory officers and Sergeant(s) of the City of Zeeland; but excluding
special officers, reserve officers, Lieutenant(s), Chief of Police, and all other employees of the City
of Zeeland.”

Following some confusion regarding the inclusion of “regular part-time nonsupervisory officers” the
Union held a vote December 16, 2025, and approved removing part-time officers from from the
CBA. The language, if approved by City Council, will read:

“‘ARTICLE 1, Section 1. Recognition. The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive
bargaining representative for all full-time nonsupervisory officers and Sergeant(s) of the City of
Zeeland; but excluding part-time officers, special officers, reserve officers, Lieutenant(s), Chief of
Police, and all other employees of the City of Zeeland”.

This LOA does not alter any other terms of the CBA, all of which will remain in full force and effect.
Our City team does recommend that City Council consider approval of this letter of agreement at
tonight’s meeting.

Closed Session

Motion was made by Mayor Pro-Tem Gruppen and supported by Councilmember Timmer to enter
into Closed Session at 6:23 P.M. for purposes of reviewing pending litigation and a review of a City
Attorney’s opinion. Motion carried by all voting aye.

City Council reconvened from Closed Session at 7:01 p.m.

There being no further items to discuss, Work study was adjourned at 7:01 P.M.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk



MEMORANDUM OF MEETING
Shopping Area Redevelopment Board (SARB)
Thursday, January 8, 2026 at 9:00 A.M.

PRESENT: Board members, Vos, Barnes, Bult, Dick, Gentry, VanKampen

ABSENT: VanHoven
Staff: Marketing Director deRoo, City Clerk DeVerney
Guest: none

The meeting was opened at 9:00 A.M. by Board Member Vos.

APPROVE MEETING MINUTES

A motion was made by Gentry and supported by Dick to approve the December 11,
2025 meeting minutes. All present voting aye, Motion Carried.

INTRODUCTION

deRoo introduced Zeeland’s new City Council member, Andrew Bult, to the board.
Andrew joins us from Hulst Jepsen Physical Therapy and will be the City Council
representative on SARB.

PARKING

deRoo updated the board that the 4-hour timed limit parking (in the North and South
parking lot) is going well. Apartment tenants’ overnight parking signs are going up
soon to hopefully eliminate any confusion on the snow parking schedule. deRoo
shared an updated map of the North Municipal Parking Lot which shows parking areas
that have been allocated for construction staging during the 123 E. Main / Koele
Godfrey Investment Group project. Board members indicated that vehicles (especially
business owners) continue to park illegally along the curb in the South Parking Lot
which includes handicap accessible ramps. The City is continuing to work with North
Street CRC to determine if updates to that agreement need to occur.

deRoo noted that a Downtown Parking Working Group will meet on Monday, January
12 to put together information for the group to review before their meeting with the
parking consultant.

DOWNTOWN PROJECTS

Koele Godfrey project’s fence (at 123 E Main) is going up with power and electricity
already shut off. Demolition is expected to start the week of February 2-6. We are
aware that this project will create parking lot disruptions in the North Municipal
Parking Lot, but this will be short term.



Church Street construction has begun in the cemetery. Members suggested that
they should notify the Post Office of the construction time frame as they will be
affected.

OTHER

17 E Main (El Rancho) will have a salon in the northwest corner of the building.

deRoo proposed a scenario where 156 E Main, (corner of Main & Church) currently
has a vacant main floor. The property owner has been hesitant to sign a lease with a
retailer because they do not want to lose their office exemption that has been
grandfathered to them via the First Floor Ordinance.

The intention of the First Floor Ordinance was:

- If the ground floor was used for retail or personal service at the time of
ordinance adoption, and the tenant moves out, that space was intended to be
saved for another retail or personal service tenant in the future.

- If it was office space, at the time the ordinance was adopted, and that tenant
moves out, that space could remain office space in the future.

Members discussed that perhaps the ordinance is prohibiting property owners of
office space from taking a chance on a retailer because they do not want to be
penalized if that retail tenant does not stay. Members brainstormed that perhaps a
provision could be included that if an office space transitions to retail/personal service
but lasts less than two years, the space can revert to office. However, if the
retail/personal service business is successful, then the use would be permanently
changed. There were concerns about how this would be monitored.

Sunday alcohol license is ready to issue to Gritzmaker after a glitch at the State.
Tripel Root has also applied for a Sunday alcohol license.

Saturday, February 215, is Plaiderday Chili Crawl.

A motion was made by Barnes and supported by Gentry to close the meeting at 9:50
A.M. All present voting aye, Motion Carried.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk



Regular Meeting
Board of Public Works
Water Warehouse
January 13, 2026

The regular meeting of the Board of Public Works Commission was held at the BPW Water Warehouse, 330 E. Washington,
Tuesday, January 13, 2026. Chairperson Boerman called the meeting to order at 3:30 p.m.

PRESENT: Commissioners — Chairperson Boerman, Vice Chair Cooney, Query, VanAst, Walters

ABSENT: Commissioners — None

Staff Present: BPW General Manager Boatright; Electric Power Supply & Market Operations Manager
Mulder; Electric, Transmission and Distribution Manager Coots; Water Operations
Manager Postma, City of Zeeland ACM/Finance Director Plockmeyer, IT Manager
Maloney, City of Zeeland City Clerk DeVerney

Guest Present Eric VanDop, Brickley DeLong

Motion was made by Commissioner Cooney and seconded by Commissioner Query to approve the minutes of the December
9, 2025, Regular Meeting. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Public Comment
None.

Safety Minute
Don’t be in a hurry.

25.070 Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Annual Compensation Financial Report

Eric VanDop (from Brickley DeLong) presented the audit findings for the fiscal year that ended June 30, 2025. The Zeeland
BPW had another sound fiscal year. As such, the City/BPW received an unqualified opinion which is the best opinion an
audit can receive.

Motion by Commissioner Query and seconded by Commissioner Cooney to accept the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Annual
Compensation Financial Report as presented. Motion carried. All voting aye.

25.071 Approve Cash Disbursements and Regular Monthly Transfers

Motion was made by Commissioner Walters and seconded by Commissioner VanAst to approve the November 2025 cash
disbursements and the regular monthly transfers for the month of November 2025 as follows:

Cash and Investments as of: November 30, 2025

Electric Water
Receiving $ 4,382,257 $ 537,211
Accumulated Debt Service (in Receiving Fund) - -
Plant Improvements and Contingencies 13,038,319 13,826,817
Bond and Interest Payment Reserve* - -
Totals $ 17,420,575 $ 14,364,028

* Reserve required per electric and water revenue bond ordinances.



Recommended Transfers for the Month: November-25

Electric Water
Receiving (639,945) (65,000)
Accumulated Debt Service - -
Plant Improvements and Contingency 582,300 65,000
General Fund (per charter provision) 57,645 -

Motion carried. All voting aye.

Accounting, Finance & Customer Service Report

ACM/Finance Director Plockmeyer updated the Board on current operations status, activities and projects which include:
- Sprypoint Billing Software transition
- Budgets
- December meeting follow-up

Water Department Report
Water Operations Manager Postma updated the Board on activities, current operations status, and projects which include:
- Meter replacement program
- Galvanized Service Line Replacement Program
- Water Administration projects
- Other work projects

25.072 O&M Pumping Expense

Manager Postma is requesting approval for Kennedy Industries to rebuild a spare pump for Carlton Pump Station in the
total amount of $23,495.00.

During a routine inspection the Water Department staff found a leaking seal on pump 1 at Carlton Pump. Representatives
from Kennedy made a recommendation to install the spare pump. After completing the installation, they performed an
inspection of the pump and found several parts needing replacement. The department keeps a spare pump on hand for
emergencies purposes. This helps limit down time in case of failure.

Motion by Commissioner Query and seconded by Commissioner Walters to approve Kennedy Industries for spare pump
rebuild. Motion carried. All voting aye.

25.073 Purchase Three (3) 2026 Ford F150s

For FY2026, the Water and Electric T&D Departments Capital Improvement Plan include allocations of $92,000 for the
Water Dept and $52,000 for Electric T&D vehicle acquisitions. Included is a budget amendment for the Water Department
in the amount of $6,500 and Electric T&D is seeking $3,000. This is due to higher than anticipated vehicle cost.

If approved, Water Department staff intend to replace BPW #551 (2019 Ford F-150) and #553 (2020 Chevy Silverado
1500), which will be retired from service in accordance with BPW and City policies. Electric T&D Department staff intend
to pass BPW #550 (2018 F150) down to Plant truck #1 which will replace BPW #545 (2015 Ford F150). Online blue-book
estimates put the cash value of #551 at $15,000 - $18,000, 553 at $17,000 - $20,000, and #545 at $14,000 - $18,000 yielding
a combined recovery value of $46,000 - $56,000. Vehicle delivery and market pricing are too uncertain to request a firm
trade-in allowance at this time, but cash-purchase values will be requested when the new vehicles arrive.



The need to purchase and professionally install accessories such as vehicle safety warning lights and storage boxes will be
required to outfit the vehicles for service. Vehicle accessories will be transferred from the vehicles being retired to the extent
practical.

Motion by Commissioner Walters and seconded by Commissioner VanAst to approve a vehicle purchase contract totaling
$147,235.00 ($47,240.00 each) for Water Dept and ($52,755) for T&D be awarded to Barber Ford Inc. for the purchase of
three (3) 2026 Ford F150s as quoted with the 5.0L V8 engine, and a multi-vehicle purchase discount. Staff recommend
budget amendments in the amounts of $6,500 for Water and $3,000 for Electric T&D. Furthermore, staff recommend a total
purchase budget of $98,080 for Water and $54,555 for Electric T&D. For the trucks being surplussed, staff recommend that
trucks #545, #551 and #553 be submitted to a local auction with a reserve bid, in accordance with BPW and City policies.
Delivery of the new vehicles is expected in spring of 2026.

Transmission and Distribution Operations Report
Manager Coots updated the Board on current activities including:
- New residential developments installation of electric power distribution infrastructure in Prairie Winds West, Eagle
Meadows, and Trailside East
- North Parking Lot Upgrades
- Electrical infrastructure outlook
- Outage Statistics

Electric Power Supply & Market Operations Report
Manager Mulder updated the Board on current operations status, activities, projects and buildings & grounds which include:
- Operations & Power supply — November 2025
- Renewable Energy Credits (RECS) — November 2025
- Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) Update & Stakeholder Engagement
- Unit #7 Voltage Regulator Replacement
- Riley Unit #5 Repair
- Washington Avenue Generation facility — Title V ROP renewal
- Washington Avenue Generation Facility — Gas Main Replacement
- BPW Office remodel & expansion project
- General Facilities work
- MPPA PY2026/27 Capacity Sale Transaction
- Long-Term Capacity Forecast & Position Report (20-Years)

25.074 Approve Yellow Lime Creative LLC Budget Amendment

The Zeeland Board of Public Works (BPW) entered into a one-year digital and print marketing services agreement with
Yellow Lime Creative LLC for the period of June 1, 2025, through May 31, 2026, with a total contract amount not to exceed
$60,000. Under this agreement, Yellow Lime Creative serves as BPW’s external marketing partner, providing ongoing
strategy, design, content development, web support, public relations, and project management services. As outlined in the
original proposal, the agreement allows for additional scope items to be addressed as operational needs arise, subject to
BPW approval.

The proposed budget amendment reflects additional services that were outside the original scope of work but have been
necessary to support evolving operational, customer communication, and technology initiatives.

The requested amendment will increase the total authorized spending with Yellow Lime Creative LLC by $16,517.25.
Funding for these services is available within existing departmental budgets.

Motion was made by Commissioner Query and seconded by Commissioner Walters to approve the proposed budget
amendment in the amount of $16,517.25 for professional marketing and communications services provided by Yellow Lime
Creative LLC. Motion carried. All voting aye.



25.075 Approve Lead 24/7 Leadership Development Training — Brian Coots

BPW Manager Andy Boatright has discussed this opportunity with Brian Coots, and he has confirmed both his interest in
and availability for the year-long program, which begins on March 24, 2026.

To date, three members of the BPW Leadership Team have either completed or are currently participating in LEAD 24/7
cohorts, and each has found this leadership development opportunity to be of tremendous value.

As outlined in the proposal (included under this tab), the LEAD 24/7 program offered by Leading by DESIGN is a
comprehensive leadership journey that includes monthly cohort sessions, one-on-one coaching, 360 and DISC assessments,
an overnight off-site retreat, and structured homework designed to drive practical application of leadership principles. The
program aligns well with our strategic objective of developing strong internal leaders and building long-term organizational

capacity.
The cost of the program is $12,000 for the full year.

Motion was made by Commissioner Cooney and seconded by Commissioner Query to approve Lead 24/7 Leadership
Development Training for Brian Coots. Motion carried. All voting aye.

25.076 Approve Leadership Coaching Proposal from Discover Coaching Services, LLC

Motion was made by Commissioner Query and seconded by Commissioner Cooney to approve Leadership Coaching
Proposal from Discover Coaching Services, LLC. Motion carried. All voting aye.

25.077 Approve Utilities Manager Employment Agreement

BPW Chair Boerman asked Robert Mulder, General Manager candidate, to step out (of the room at 4:44 P.M.) while the
members discussed his Employment Agreement. He was asked to return at 4:49 P.M. to hear that his Employment
Agreement was approved.

Motion was made by Commissioner Walters and seconded by Commissioner Cooney to approve the Utilities Manager.
Employment Agreement for Robert Mulder and forward it to City Council for consideration at its regular meeting on January
20, 2026. Motion carried. All voting aye.

BPW Manager Boatright updated the Board on current activities including:
- Thank You Notes

- Upcoming Events

Motion was made and supported that the regular meeting adjourns at 4:52 p.m. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk



4

&
A

21 South Elm Street « Zeeland, Michigan 49464 « (616) 772-6400 « FAX (616) 772-5352

CITY COUNCIL MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor Van Dorp and City Councilmembers
FROM: Tim Klunder, City Manager

SUBJECT:  City Manager’s Report

DATE: January 16, 2026

CC: January 20" Council Agenda

Fire/Rescue Chief Search — This past week our Search Committee interviewed three
candidates for our open Fire/Rescue Chief position. We have one additional interview
scheduled for next week. Following that interview, the committee will determine the next
step which may include additional 2" round interviews.

Council Goal Setting — Our departments continue to compile information to share with City
Council about their department’s accomplishments, challenges, opportunities, capital
needs, etc. Our administrative team will share that information with City Council on
January 26 following a review of our 2025 Strategic Action Plan Assessment at the
beginning of that evening. On Tuesday, January 27, Council and the administrative team
will then consider the strategic action steps for 2026.

Economic Outlook — On Tuesday of this week the Chamber held their annual economic
outlook presentation by hosting Dr. Paul Isely from Grand Valley State University. While
things were slow in 2025, there is slight optimism for 2026 (particularly the 2" half) in our
area. If you would like his full presentation slides, please let me know and | can forward
them to you.

Representative Slagh — On Friday of this week Representative Slagh took some time to
meet with some of our administrative team to hear about potential projects the city may
soon have and the possibility/process of pursuing State funding support. While we have
some projects in mind, the Council goal setting session will be a nice opportunity to identify
which project(s) Council particularly desires to pursue. In addition to this discussion, we

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

<&
/']E(I

also had the opportunity to share other updates that Representative Slagh may be able to
help with at some point in time. We appreciate Representative Slagh’s willingness to meet
with us.

Personnel Committee — The committee set Wednesday, January 28 at noon as their next
meeting date. The primary item on their agenda will be consideration of Employee
Handbook amendments.

City Manager Schedule — | will be out of the office on Wednesday, January 21 attending
the Michigan Municipal Executives Conference in Traverse City.

Should you have any questions or concerns regarding any of the material contained
herein, or any other city related matter, please do not hesitate to call upon me. A reminder
that we will be meeting on Tuesday, January 20 as city offices will be closed on Monday,
January 19 in recognition of the Martin Luther King Jr. Holiday.

(
/{?7 A Efea
Timothy R. Klunder, City Manager

FEEL THE ZEEL



ZEELAND
TO: Mayor Van Dorp and City Council 0 Board of pub|iclv:r!,rks

FROM: Linda Boerman, Board Chair
SUBJECT: Utilities Manager Employment Agreement Recommendation

DATE: January 16, 2026

With the current General Manager having announced his intent to retire in September 2026, the Board of
Public Works has undertaken a deliberate succession planning and selection process to ensure continuity of
leadership for the Zeeland Board of Public Works.

Following a competitive internal selection process that included highly qualified internal candidates, the Board
of Commissioners has voted to offer the position of Utilities Manager to Robert Mulder, currently serving as
BPW Power Supply and Market Operations Manager. This offer reflects the Board’s confidence in Mr. Mulder’s
leadership, institutional knowledge, and demonstrated ability to manage complex utility operations.

Mr. Mulder brings a strong combination of technical expertise, utility operations experience, and organizational
leadership, including the following highlights from his résumé (attached):

e Over seven years of leadership experience in electric utility power supply, generation, procurement,
transmission, and delivery, along with more than twenty years of engineering and project management
experience

e Currently responsible for managing BPW’s power supply portfolio, serving more than 7,000 customers,
with annual energy requirements of approximately 470,000 MWh, a system peak of 91 MW, and a $30
million power supply budget

o Proven experience in strategic planning, capital project management, budget development, regulatory
compliance, and risk management

e Active leadership and representation roles with the Michigan Municipal Electric Association (MMEA)
and the Michigan Public Power Agency (MPPA)

e Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering, earned Summa Cum Laude, with continued professional
development in leadership and coaching.

Pursuant to the City of Zeeland Charter, the Board is authorized, subject to City Council approval, to appoint a
Utilities Manager and establish the terms and conditions of employment. To facilitate an orderly transition, the
proposed Employment Agreement (attached) provides for Mr. Mulder to serve initially as Utilities Manager
Designee, followed by appointment as Utilities Manager upon the retirement of the current General Manager.

Key terms of the agreement include:

e Utilities Manager Designee Period: Annual base salary of $172,000, with eligibility for standard non-
union wage adjustments.

¢ Upon Appointment as Utilities Manager on or about September 18, 2026: Annual base salary of
$203,000, subject to annual performance review and adjustment consistent with other BPW non-union
employees.

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



e Participation in all benefits provided under the City of Zeeland Employee Handbook, including health,
dental, life, disability, retirement, and leave benefits.

e $500 per month automobile allowance upon appointment as Utilities Manager.

o Payment of professional dues, subscriptions, travel, training, and continuing education expenses
necessary for effective performance of duties and professional growth.

o Five (5) weeks of vacation beginning March 19, 2027, increasing to six (6) weeks effective March 19,
2032.

e Residence within 20 miles of the nearest Zeeland city boundary as a condition of employment.
e Annual reappointment by City Council each May is required.

e Severance provisions provide nine (9) months of base salary and continuation of certain benefits in the
event of termination without cause or non-reappointment, as detailed in the agreement.

The proposed agreement is consistent with prior BPW executive employment structures, reflects market-
competitive compensation, and is intended to support leadership continuity and organizational stability during
this planned transition period. City Attorney Donkersloot has reviewed and approved the proposed agreement
for execution. During their regular meeting held on January 13, 2026, the Board of Commissioners voted
unanimously to forward the Utilities Manager Employment Agreement to City Council for consideration.

RECOMMENDATION

The Zeeland BPW Board of Commissioners respectfully request City Council approval of the Utilities Manager
Employment Agreement for Robert Mulder.

Attachments: Robert Mulder Resume
Proposed Utilities Manager Employment Agreement

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



ROBERT W. MULDER
7231 M1 (616) 836-5484 | robertwmulder@gmail.com | linkedin.com/in/robert-w-mulder]

UTILITY PROFESSIONAL & LEADER | DESIGN ENGINEER & PROJECT MANAGER | TEAM BUILDER

PROFESSIONAL SUMMARY

Accomplished electric utility leader with over 7 years’ experience in the generation, procurement, transmission
and delivery of electric capacity and energy to retail customers, and over 20 years of engineering and project
management experience. Extensive experience in developing and managing budgets, identifying strategic capital
improvements, managing large multi-disciplinary projects, regulatory compliance, evaluating and managing
contracts, power supply portfolio planning and risk management. Committed to maintaining a culture of safety,
teamwork, service, integrity and continuous improvement across the organization.

KEY SKILLS
e Leadership, Coaching & Mentoring e Experience with Cost of Service & Rate Design
e Strategic Planning & Implementation e Prepare & Present Reports & Recommendations
e Power Supply Planning to Governing Bodies
e Utility Operations & Budgeting e Employee Development & Succession Planning
¢ Bidding, Award & Project Management e Public & Media Communication
e Contract Negotiations and Administration ¢ Engineering & Technical Evaluation
e Regulatory & Environmental Compliance e Problem Solving

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

Power Supply & Market Operations Manager March 2018 - Present

Zeeland Board of Public Works, Zeeland, MI

Manage the power supply portfolio and behind-the-meter generation resources for a municipal electric
utility serving over 7,000 retail customers with annual energy requirements of 470,000 MWh, a peak load of
91 MW, and a power supply budget of $30 million.

Member of the Leadership Team responsible for collaboratively developing strategic organizational
objectives and policies.

Manage a team of five Electric System Operators, two Mechanic Relief Operators, and three Buildings
& Grounds employees.

Budget, evaluate, and manage a diverse power supply portfolio comprised of owned assets, bilateral
contracts and power purchase agreements in addition to transmission costs.

Manage on-system generation availability, dispatch costs, and fuel supply.

Develop and administer operations, maintenance, and capital improvement budgets for the Power
Production department, including wages, generation equipment, fuel, supplies, and contractual services.
Ensure regulatory, environmental, and reporting compliance requirements are satisfied, including
management of renewable energy resources.

Plan and lead a strategic initiative to update the organization’s Integrated Resource Plan (IRP),
including evaluation of new on-system generation resources. This initiative is in process and includes a
stakeholder engagement component with representatives from a cross-section of the community.
Managed several significant facilities upgrade and expansion projects ranging in scope from $250,000 —
$2,750,000, involving team members from departments throughout the organization.


Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


e Oversaw numerous generation capital improvement projects including the replacement of above ground
storage tanks, engine mufflers, comprehensive updates to the Power Plant control room, and various
technology related upgrades. Each of these projects involved numerous stakeholders, contractors, and

staff to ensure successful completion.

Participated in the 2025 Electric Cost of Service and Rate Design process from data collection through review.
Served as a member of the Leadership Team in UWUA labor contract negotiations (2022 & 2025)

Michigan Municipal Electric Association (MMEA) — Designated Alternate Representative (2018 — Present)
Michigan Public Power Agency (MPPA) — Alternate Member Authorized Representative (2022 — Present)
Michigan Public Power Agency (MPPA) — Internal Risk Committee Member (2019 — Present)

Control Systems Engineer / Project Manager June 2001 — March 2018
Parkway Electric & Communications LLC, Holland MI (Formerly PEC Technologies, Inc.)

Responsible for the design, implementation, and support of electrical control and industrial automation
systems in a variety of industries ranging from food and chemical processing to automotive component

assembly.
e Managed full project lifecycle from scope definition through commissioning, operator training, and
documentation.

e Engineered electrical control panels including panel design, electrical schematics, one-line diagrams,
and layout drawings using AutoCAD.

o Knowledge of electrical standards for UL listed control panels (NEC, NFPA79, UL508A, UL698).
Configured and programmed PLC’s, HMI/SCADA, VFD’s, motion, and vision systems.

e Experienced in Ethernet networking principles and protocols as well as legacy automation networks.

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering June 2001
Kettering University, Flint MI (Formerly GMI Engineering & Management Institute)
e Summa Cum Laude
e President’s Medal - Professional & Academic Achievements
e Honor Societies: Tau Beta Pi, Eta Kappa Nu, Kappa Mu Epsilon

CERTIFICATIONS

Master Discovery Coach — Leadership Coaching June 2025
Discovery Coaching Services LLC

Lead 24/7 Program Graduate — Leadership Coaching March 2024
Leading by Design, Zeeland MI



ZEELAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS
UTILITIES MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ___ day of
January, 2026, by and between the Zeeland Board of Public Works, a department of the City
of Zeeland, Michigan (“Board”}, the City of Zeeland (“City”), and Robert Mulder
{(“Employee”).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of Zeeland aunthorizes the Board, subject to approvat of
the City Council, to appoeint a Utilities Manager and to establish terms and conditions of
employment; and

WHEREAS, the Board and City desire to enter into an Employment Agreement with
Employee to provide services as Utilities Manager Designee with limited authority during
an interim period, and thereafter as Utilities Manager;

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Board and City Council to provide certain benefits,
establish conditions of employment and to set working conditions of said Employee;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutuai covenants herein contained, the parties
agree as foliows: '

1. DUTIES.
A, Utilities Manager Designee Period. Employee shall serve as Power Supply

and Market Operations Manager/Utilities Manager Designee (“Designee”)
with limited authority from the effective date of this Agreement through the
retirement of the current Utilities Manager on or about September 18, 2026
(“Designee Period”). During this pertod, Employee shall perform duties as
assigned by the Board and the Utilities Manager and shall serve as Acting
Utilities Manager in the absence of the current Utilities Manager.

B. Appointment as Utilities Manager. Upon retirement of the current Utilities
Manager on or about September 18, 2026, the Board hereby agrees to
employ Robert Mulder as Utilities Manager of the Zeeland Board of Public
Works to perform the functions and duties of such position as described in
Section 13.11 of the Charter of the City of Zeeland and such other duties as
may be prescribed by the Board from time to time. Employee agrees to
perform the duties of Utilities Manager throughout the duration of this
Agreement, in a competent and professicnal manner at the direction of the
Board of Public Works Commissioners and in accordance with policies and
regulations established by the Board, City of Zeeland, and other state and
federal laws and regulations as may be in place governing municipal utility
organizations.

2. SALARY.
A Utilities Manager Designee Period Compensation. During the Designee

Period, Employee shall receive an annual base salary equivalent to One
Hundred Seventy-Two Thousand Dollars ($172,000), or Eighty-Two Dollars

-1-



ZEELAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS
UTILITIES MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

and Seventy Cents ($82.70} per hour, payable in installments at the same
time as other City employees are paid. Employee’s performance shall be
reviewed in the normal course, and any annual wage adjustment
customarily provided to similarly situated non-union employees shall be
effective July 1, 2026, notwithstanding Employee’s status as General
Manager Designee during the Designee Period.

B. Utilities Manager Compensation. Upon appeintment as Utilities Manager,
Employee shall receive an annual base salary of Two Hundred Three
Thousand Dollars ($203,000), as may be adjusted based upon Employee’s
annual performance review, payable in installments consistent with City
payroll practices.

(D Such base salary may be increased annually with adjustment. Annual
cost increases in Employee’s base salary shall be at a percentage rate
no less than the average rate used to adjust other Board of Public
Works non-union salaries.

(2) Board and Employee may also mutually agree to increase
established salary over the duration of the Employee Agreement as
deemed appropriate based on changes in the job requirements or
level of responsibilities.

3. BENEFITS.
Employee shall receive all benefits in accordance with the City of Zeeland Employee
Handbook, as may be amended from time to time.

4. AUTOMOBILE ALLOWANCE.

Upon appointment as Utilities Manager, Employee shall be paid an automobile allowance at
the rate of five hundred dollars ($500} per month. Such allowance shall be payable at the
same time as the base salary. In return, Employee is expected to furnish the Employee’s own
vehicle for Board business and Employee shall be lable for all necessary maintenance,
operation, and insurance costs for such vehicle. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee
may submit mileage reimbursement requests, in accordance with City policy, for Board
business travel occurring outside a fifty (50} mile radius from the City of Zeeland. The
monthly automobile allowance shall be subject to periodic review by the Board and may be
adjusted prospectively by Board action,.

5. DUES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS.

The Board agrees to budget and to pay the professional dues and subscriptions of Employee
for their continuation and full participation in national, regional, state and local
associations, and organizations necessary and desirable for their continued professional
participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Beard. The Employee will
also serve as the Board's primary representative in the Michigan Public Power Agency, the
Michigan Municipal Electric Association, and as one of Zeeland's representatives for the
Michigan Professional Insurance Authority.



ZEELAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS
UTILITIES MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

6. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND EXPENSES.
A The Board hereby agrees to pay the travel and subsistence expenses of

Employee for professional and official travel, meetings, and cccasions
adeqguate to continue professional development of Employee and to
adequately pursue necessary official and other functions for the Board.

B. The Board also agrees to pay for the travel and subsistence expenses of
Employee for short courses, institutes, and seminars that are necessary for
their professional development and for the good of the Board.

C. Employee shall be eligible for tuition reimbursement in accordance with the
City of Zeeland’s Tuition Reimbursement Program as set forth in the City of
Zeeland Employee Handbook, as may be amended from time to time;
provided, however, that the maximum annual tuition reimbursement
amount shall be $10,000, subject to budgetary appropriation and applicable
program requirements.

7. GENERAL EXPENSES.
The Board recognizes that certain expenses of a non-perscnal and job-affiliated nature are

incurred by Employee and hereby agrees to reimburse or to pay said general expenses,
subject to Board approval. it is hereby further acknowledged that Board shall furnish
Employee, at Board's expense, office facilities, equipment, supplies, and other materials as
may be reasonably required in the performance of such duties. In addition, the Board shall
permit the reasonable annual purchase of Board- or City-branded apparel items bearing the
official logo, for professional and job-related use. It is hereby acknowledged that a mobile
phone stipend or City-provided mobile phone shall be provided in accordance with City
policies.

8. VACATION, HOLIDAY, AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE.
Employee shall be granted five (5) weeks of vacation leave per year effective March 19,

2027, and six (6) weeks of vacation leave per year effective March 19, 2032, Employee may
carry over up to one hundred and twenty (120) hours of unused vacation leave annually, or
such greater amount as may be permitted under the City of Zeeland Empioyee Handbook, as
amended from time to time. Employee shall also be entitled to all other forms of leave as
provided under the personnel policies of the City of Zeeland.

Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14 of this Agreement, upon resignation or retirement
Employee shall be paid for all accrued and unused vacation and other forms of leave as
permitted under the City of Zeeland Employee Handbools, as amended from time to time.

8. HEALTH, LIFE, DISABILITY, AND LIABILITY INSURANCE.
A. The Beard agrees te put into force and to make premium payment of

Employee and dependents for health and dental insurance coverage in
accordance with the same poliicy as for other employees of the City.



ZEELAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS
UTILITIES MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

B. The Board agrees to purchase and pay for the required premiums on a life
insurance policy with the same policy as for other employees of the City.

C. The Board agrees to purchase and/or provide a short- and long-term
disability income plan equivalent to other employees of the City.

D. The Board agrees to purchase and provide professional liability insurance
for Employee equivalent to other employees of the City.

10. RETIREMENT,
The Board shall pay a defined contribution percentage of Employee’s base salary per year in

accordance with the Defined Contribution Plan of the City. Employee may make additional
voluntary empioyee contributions to the City’s 457 Plan.

11. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION.
The Board or a Board Committee shall review and evaluate the performance of Employee at
least once annually.

12. RESIDENCY. :
Employee acknowledges that a condition of employment is maintaining of a residence no
greater than twenty (20) miles from the nearest boundary of the City of Zeeland.

13. TERM.
A This Agreement shall become effective as of its effective date.

B. This Agreement shall automatically be renewed for one (1} year terms
commencing May 4, 2027, unless the City of Zeeland, the Board, or Employee
gives notice, in writing, that this Agreement is to be terminated pursuant to
Section 14 of this Agreement.

C. Nothing in the Agreement shall prevent, limit, or otherwise interfere with
the right of the Board and/or City Council, to terminate the services of
Employee at any time, subject to the provisions set forth in Section 14 of this
Agreement.

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit, or otherwise interfere with
the right of the Employee to resign at any time from their position with the
City, subject only to the provisions set forth in Paragraphs 14.B. and 14.C. of
this Agreement.

E. In accordance with the Zeeland City Charter, Employee must be reappdinted
by the City Council each May in order to continue employment.

14. TERMINATION AND SEVERANCE PAY.
A In the event Employee is terminated by the Board and/or City Council or is
not reappointed by the City Council, and during such time that Employee is
willing and able to perform the duties of the position, the Board agrees to

-4 -



ZEELAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS
UTILITIES MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

pay Employee a lump sum cash payment equal to nine (9) months of base
salary, less required withholdings; provided, however, that in the event
Employee is terminated because of conviction of any illegal act involving
personal gain or a crime of moral turpitude, the Board and City shall have no
obligation to pay severance.

In addition, in the event of termination, the Board agrees to continue
Employee’s and Employee’s dependents’ life, health, and dental insurance
coverage for nine (9) months or until such time as Employee begins working
in a full-time or part-time employment position, whichever is less. This
continuation shall not apply in the event of termination for illegal acts or
crimes of moral turpitude.

B. In the event Employee voluntarily resigns, Employee shall provide at least
ninety (90) days’ written notice prior to the effective date of resignation.

G No severance pay or insurance continuation shall be required in the event of
retirement or resignation.

15. CONFIDENTIALITY.

Employee acknowledges that during employment Employee will have access to confidential
or proprietary information related to the Board’s business and agrees not to disclose such
information except as required by law. These obligations shall survive termination of this
Agreement for a period of five (5) years.

16. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

A. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties.

B. This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties and upon their successors
and assigns.

(; If any provision, or any portion thereof, contained in the Agreement is held

unconstitutional, invalid, or unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement,
or portion thereof, shall be deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall
remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Board of Public Works and the City of Zeeland have caused this
Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by its Board Chair, Mayor, and its City
Clerk, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement on his behalf, effective as
of the day and year first written above.

ZEELAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS

EMPLOYE
By: i)/@ﬁ;ﬁ. 5@0‘0’?’(@/{ By: %M\

Linda Boerman, Board Chair Robert Mulder




ZEELAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS
UTILITIES MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

CITY OF ZEELAND

By:

Richard Van Dorp 111, Mayor

By:

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk



4

&
A

21 South Elm Street « Zeeland, Michigan 49464 « (616) 772-6400 « FAX (616) 772-5352

CITY COUNCIL MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor Van Dorp and City Councilmembers
FROM: Tim Klunder, City Manager

SUBJECT: Class C, DDA/Redevelopment and SDM Licenses for EI Rancho, Inc. #8,
and Operations Contract with El Rancho, Inc. #8

DATE: January 16, 2026

CC: January 20" Council Agenda

BACKGROUND: On December 17, 2025, the City of Zeeland received a Class “C”
DDA/Redevelopment and SDM liquor license application from El Rancho, Inc. #8 to serve
on-premises and off-premises alcohol at 17 East Main Avenue. The application is
attached (Attachment #1) for Council’s review. The application itself covers a great deal
of our requirements found in the ordinance and you will find the applicant’s answers to our
questions within the application. We recommend that each City Councilmember review
the application materials attached hereto in detail. (Certain personal and tax information
on finances has been removed from the application for confidentiality purposes. If a
member of Council would like to see the application in its totality, please let me know.) Per
the City’s Alcoholic Liquors Ordinance, our city team investigated the applicant and the
proposed use of the license. In addition to the application itself, there are some sections
of our ordinance we like to bring specific attention to Council’s attention. Those are noted
below. Additionally, for your information, you will find attached a copy of the City’s
Alcoholic Liquors Ordinance in its entirety as Attachment #2.

Section 4-8 Location where prohibited and Section 4.10 Compliance with Zoning

As noted in Community Development Director Tim Maday’s report (Attachment #3), the
property is properly zoned for alcohol sales. Under our Zoning Ordinance, restaurants are
allowed in the C-2 Zoning District. This property also has the necessary secondary zoning
designation of being in the Alcohol Sales Overlay District. The applicant has obtained the

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

<&
/']V<<I

necessary special land use and site plan approval from the Planning Commission (9.4.25)
as required by the Alcoholic Sales Overlay District.

The proposed location is not more than 500’ from a church or school. In this instance the
proposed location is within 500’ of North Street CRC (see Attachment #4). Under the city’s
ordinance the sale of alcoholic liquors for consumption on the premises shall be prohibited
within 500 feet of a church. However, the ordinance does provide that this provision may
be waived by City Council where it is deemed to be in the best interests of the city. Our
city team does believe it is in the best interest of the city for City Council to consider waving
the 500’ requirement. This recommendation is based on several factors. (1) The properties
zoned within the Alcohol Sales Overlay District were established by the Planning
Commission and City Council after careful consideration was given to only zone properties
that did not appear to have an immediate negative impact on a church or school. (2) Under
the city’s Alcoholic Liquors Ordinance, Section 4-16 lists the priorities to be considered by
City Council in license approval. Priority #2 is for a restaurant in the C-2 District
(downtown) with a seating capacity of 100 or more people. The City Resolution to be
considered by City Council in support of the MLCC issuing a liquor license does waive the
500’ requirement as the City Council has done in other instances of liquor license requests
in Downtown Zeeland.

Section 4-9 Seating Capacity

Our ordinance requires a dining seat minimum of 25. Per the restaurants special use
submittal to the Planning Commission on 9.4.25, they do exceed this requirement by
providing a capacity of 132 seats.

Section 4-11 Application fee and payment of obligations to the City

The applicant did pay the $400 application fee, and they do not have any outstanding
taxes, utility bills, etc. owed to the city. (See Attachment #5.)

Section 4-13 Inspection of premises prior to license issuance

The construction plans for the project have been reviewed and approved by the
Community Development Department (Attachment #3). Appropriate permits have been
obtained and inspections are being conducted. A certificate of occupancy will not be
granted until all work is complete and compliant with codes/ordinances.

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

<&
/']V<<I

Section 4-14 Mandatory grounds for license denial

Mandatory grounds for license denial include such things as the applicant had a previous
license revoked, the applicant does not own the premises or does not have a lease; the
applicant has been convicted of a violation of any federal or state law concerning the
manufacture or sale of liquor, or violations of appropriate building codes. At this time, staff
have not identified grounds for mandatory license denial as outlined in our ordinance.
Please note, our Police Department is awaiting final verification of information (we do not
suspect anything negative) that we plan to have completed by Tuesday’s hearing.

Section 4-15 Discretionary grounds for license denial

Discretionary grounds for license denial includes such things as alcohol sales would not
be incidental or subordinate to other permitted uses on the premises; the location is
inappropriate due to such things as inadequate parking*, traffic concerns, etc.; the
applicant does not appear to have the appropriate financial capability to run an
establishment; they have made false representations on their application; or they have
been convicted of misdemeanor alcohol possession and/or alcohol driving offenses. For
this establishment, they are required to have at least fifty percent of the gross revenue
derived from food and non-alcoholic beverage sales.

*As City Council is aware, concerns about inadequate parking availability for the
restaurant have been expressed at recent Planning Commission and City Council
meetings. In both cases we have determined that there is adequate parking in our
immediate downtown parking area, in addition to on-site parking, to serve the restaurant.
Nevertheless, anticipating that there may be additional expressions on a lack of parking
for the facility, and to address the matter of parking under the discretionary grounds for
license denial, we did perform additional analysis that identifies there is adequate on-
site/city-owned parking to service the facility. Please refer to Attachment #6 for this
analysis.

Section 4-16 Priorities to be considered by City Council in license approval
It has been previously noted in this report that the proposed establishment meets priority
#2 of license considerations by City Council.

Section 4-17 Term of licenses; license approval granted subject to certain conditions

License term will coincide with the State. Our ordinance does provide that City Council
may provide for certain conditions with the approval of a license. Please note however
that these conditions are with the applicant as the LCC will not allow the city to approve a

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

<&
/']V<<I

license with conditions other than such things as compliance with final building, health,
and local law enforcement inspections. As such, you will note on your agenda that the city
is proposing an Alcohol License and Business Operations Contract with El Rancho, Inc.
#8. That contract is included within your packet, and it covers such things as timely
payment of obligations to the city, compliance with ordinances of the city, etc.

Section 4-19 Dancing and Entertainment on Licenses Premises
According to the applicant’s city application, they do not intend to have dancing and/or
entertainment on the site. However, should they desire to do so, under our ordinance they
must obtain the appropriate permits from the State ( and Police Chief) and there are
various facility requirements in our ordinance that must be met.

Section 4-22 Hours of Sale
The applicant does propose Sunday hours from 11 a.m. — 9 p.m. Per the city’s recent
ordinance change, alcohol sales are allowed on Sundays after 12 p.m. (noon).

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. Our leadership team recommends that City Council move to approve the
attached City Resolution that supports the El Rancho, Inc. #8 liquor licenses
and approves the attached operating contract with EI Rancho, Inc. #8.

2. Our leadership team recommends that City Council moves to approve the
attached Michigan Liquor Control Commission (MLCC) Resolution
recommending the El Rancho, Inc. #8 Class C, DDA/Redevelopment and SDM
licenses “above all others”.

(
/gf A Etea
Timothy R. Klunder, City Manager

FEEL THE ZEEL



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
CITY OF ZEELAND

ON LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION
OF
EL RANCHO, INC. #8

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the City Council of the City of Zeeland, whose chambers are in the
Zeetand City Hall at 21 South Elm Street, Zeeland, Michigan, and whose telephone number is (616) 772-
6400, will hold a public hearing on and at:

Tuesday, January 20, 2026
7:10 p.m.
Council Room of City Hall

For the purpose of hearing the public and all interested persons concerning the application of El Rancho, Inc.
#8 for a Class C License, a DDA/Redevelopment License, for Sunday Sales AM and PM Permits, and for an
SDM License so as to permit the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises at 17 E. Main
Avenue, Zeeland, Michigan, and so as to permit the sale of alcohol for off-premises consumption. These
licenses would permit the sale of beer, wine, mixed spirit drinks and spirits. 1n addition, the applicant is
seeking an outdoor service permit, a dance permit, and an entertainment permit.

During the public hearing, the applicant may be asked to review and provide information as to its
plans, policies, days and hours for the serving of alcohol. The applicant may attend the public hearing to
present evidence and testimony, has the right to confront adverse witnesses, and has the right to present
evidence and arguments as to why it shouid be granted on-premises liquor licenses.

Likewise, the public or any other interested person may attend the public hearing to present evidence
and testimony, has the right to raise questions in regard to the applicant, and has the right to present evidence
and arguments as to why on-premises liquor license should not be granted to the applicant.

In addition, oral or written comments may be submitted at the said hearing, or written comments may
be filed in the City Clerk’s Office in the Zeeland City Hall up to the date of the public hearing.

The Council and/or the public may review the applicant’s application prior to the public hearing in
the City Clerk's Office in the Zeeland City Hall on any day not a holiday, Monday through Friday, from 8:30
a.m. to 12:00 noon and from 1:00 p.n. to 4:30 p.m. from the date of this notice to the date of the hearing.

The City of Zeeland will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and services, such as
signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being considered at the
meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting/hearing with a need for an
accommodation, upon being provided with a notice to the City of Zeeland three days prior to
the public hearing. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should
contact the City of Zeeland by writing or calling the City Clerk’ Office (616) 772-6400,

Dated: January 7, 2026

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk




RESOLUTION

(Contract Approval and Recommendation for Approval
of a Class C License, a DDA/Redevelopment License and an SDM License for of El Rancho, Inc. #8)

City of Zeeland
County of Ottawa, Michigan

Portions of minutes of a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of
Ottawa, Michigan, held in the Zeeland City Hall in said City on January 20, 2026, at 7:00 o'clock p.m.,
Local Time.

PRESENT: Council Members

ABSENT: Council Members

The following preamble and resolution were offered by Council Member

and supported by Council Member

WHEREAS, El Rancho, Inc. #8 has filed an application with the Michigan Liquor Control
Commission which requests a Class C License and a DDA/Redevelopment License so as to permit the
sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises at 17 E. Main Avenue, Zeeland, Michigan
and also an SDM License which would permit take-out sales of alcohol from such location;

AND WHEREAS, a Class C and a DDA/Redevelopment License permit the sale of beer, wine,
mixed spirit drinks and spirits;

AND WHEREAS, the City of Zeeland has held a public hearing in regard to the issuance of a
DDA/Redevelopment License and an SDM License to El Rancho, Inc. #8;

AND WHEREAS, El Rancho, Inc. #8 is willing to sign a contract regarding the conducting of its

business and the use of a Class C and a DDA/Redevelopment License, and El Rancho, Inc. #8 will

-1-



therefore meet the guidelines of the City of Zeeland for the issuance of a license to sell alcoholic
beverages;

AND WHEREAS, the Zeeland City Council is willing to waive the requirement of Section 4-8 of

the Zeeland City Code that the proposed restaurant must be more than 500" from a church because the

City Council deems the presence of the proposed restaurant which will serve meals if it is granted a Class

C and a DDA/Redevelopment License to be in the best interests of the City of Zeeland, and by approval
of this Resolution, the City of Zeeland will have waived the said 500’ regulatory requirement, and such

waiver is permitted by the Zeeland City Code.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

1. The Zeeland City Council hereby approves the attached contract with E1 Rancho, Inc. #8
and authorizes the Mayor and the Clerk to sign such contract on behalf of the City of Zeeland.

2. The City of Zeeland hereby supports the request of El Rancho, Inc. #8 that it be granted a
Class C and a DDA/Redevelopment License for a restaurant to be located at 17 E. Main Avenue, Zeeland,
Ottawa County, Michigan, and finds that such application should be considered for approval “above all
others”. In addition, the City of Zeeland approves that granting of an SDM License to El Rancho, Inc. #8.

3. It is hereby noted that the City of Zeeland does not permit the sale of alcohol on Sundays
before 12:00 noon, and a Sunday AM license should not be granted by the Liquor Control Commission to
El Rancho, Inc. #8.

4. It is therefore the consensus of this legislative body that the application of El Rancho,
Inc. #8 to the Michigan Liquor Control Commission be recommended for approval.

5. All resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they conflict with the provisions of this

Resolution be and the same hereby are rescinded.



AYES: Council Members

NAYS: Council Members

ABSENT: Council Members

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk

CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of a Resolution adopted
by the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of Ottawa, Michigan, at a Regular Meeting held on
January 20, 2026, and that said meeting was conducted and public notice of said meeting was given
pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public Acts of Michigan,
1976, as amended, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or have been made
available as required by said Act.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk



Class C and SDM Licenses

CITY OF ZEELAND

Alcohol License and Business Operations Conlract

NOW COMES, the City of Zeeland, a Michigan municipal corporation, whose address is 21 S,
Elm Street, Zeeland, Michigan 49464, and El Rancho, Inc, #8, a Michigan corporation, hereinafter
referred to as the “Applicant”, whose proposed business address is 17 E. Main Avenue, Zeeland,
Michigan 49464, and state:

Recitals

WHEREAS, the City of Zceland is willing to recommend to the Michigan Liquor Control
Commission (the “LCC”) that a Class C License and an SDM License be issued to the Applicant;

AND WHEREAS, the City of Zeeland has established certain terms and conditions for holders of
afcohol licenses;

AND WHEREAS, the Applicant is willing to accept and be bound by such ierms and conditions
in order 1o receive a local recommendation to the Liquor Control Commission for the approval of alcohel
licenses.

NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Zeeland and the Applicant agree as follows:

1. Class C License and SDM License. The City of Zeeland hereby agrees to recommend the

approval and granting of a Class C License and an SDM License by the LCC for the Applicant provided
that the Applicant complies with the terms and conditions of this agreement.

2. Terms and Conditions. The Applicant hereby agrees that in eoxchange for the

recommendation by the City of Zeeland to approve the issuance of alcohol licenses by the Liguor Control

Commission that it shall be bound by all of the following terms and conditions:



Class C License and Catering Permit

That the Applicant operates a full-service restaurant at 17 E. Main Avenue,
Zeeland, Michigan;

That the Applicant and its successors and assigns will maintain the said Class C
and SDM Licenses only for use by a full-service restaurant within the City
Zeeland;

That ail utility biils to the City of Zeeland are paid within thirty (30) days of
billing;

That all property tax bills ave paid prior to such dates after which interest would
accrue;

That all assessments, fees, and/or charges which may be incurred or levied are
paid without protest or challenge;

That the Applicant complies with all ordinances and regulations of the City of
Zeeland, including but not limited to, regulations governing the use of the public
right-of-way, the use of municipal garbage containers, setback requirements, site
plan review restrictions, and other Zoning Ordinance and alcohol regulations,
subject however, to such exceptions as may be granted by the Board of Zoning
Appeals or by a public body of the City of Zeeland which is empowered to grant

a legal exception to an ordinance or regulation of the City of Zeeland.

Revocation Reservation. The City of Zeeland hereby reserves the right to revoke its

approval of the Class C License and SDM License and to recommend the revocation, suspension, or
denial or transfer of the Applicant’s aleohol licenses upon the filing of any property tax appeal by the
applicant with the Michigan Tax Tribunal, with any other court of law, or with any other administrative

agency, board, or commission other than the Zeeland Board of Review, or for any violation of the State of

e



Class C and SDM Licenses

Michigan’s or the City of Zeeland’ alcohol regulations. The fulfillment of the conditions of this
agreement is a purpose for which the recommendation for the approvai of the granting of the said Class C
License and the SDM License was given by the City of Zeeland. Failure to uphold these conditions will
be considered to be operating the said restaurant in bad faith.

4, Other Approvals. This agreement shal} not affect the right of the City to not recommend

the approval of a license if the Applicant does not meet the standards which are necessary for approvai of
a Class C License or SDM License, nor shall this agreement result in the waiver of the Zeeland Zoning
Ordinance or of the building and safety codes of the City of Zeeland.

5. Effect. This agreement shall be binding upon the City and the Applicant, and upon its
successors and assigns. This agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of
Michigan. Upon defauit, the other party shall be lable to the nondefaulting party for the reasonable
attorney fees and court costs which may be incurred in enforcing a term or condition of this agreement.
This agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties, and replaces any prior oral, wrilten, or
implied agreement of the parties. This agreement may only be amended upon the mutual written

agreement of the parties.

(The remainder of this page is intentionally [efl blank.)

3.




Class C License and Catering Permit

In witness thereof on the dates hereafier indicated:

Applicant:
El Rancho, Inc. #8

Dated: January , 2026 By: ;
Alfredo Melendez, Its President

By:

Victor Manuei Bernal de la Paz, Its Secretary

City of Zeeland

Dated: January __ , 2026 By:

Richard }. Van Dorp 111, Its Mayor

By:

Kristi DeVerney, Its City Clerk



Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Bustness D:
Liguor Control Commission {MI.CC) .
Toll Free: 866-813-0011 « www.michigan.gev/icg Request 10:

{For MLCC use only}

Local Govarnment Approval
{Authorlzed by MCL. 436.1501)

tnstructions for Appilcants:

+ You must obtain a recommendation from the local legislative body for a new on-premises license application, certain types of license
classiftcation transfers, and/or a new banguet facllity permit.

Instructions for Local Legislative Body:

+ Complete this resolution or provide a resolution, along with certification from the clerk or adopted minutes from the meeting at
which thils reqjuest was considered,

Ata reguiar meeting of the City of Zeeland councll/agand
{regutar o1 special) {nama of taswnship, city, viliage)
called to order by the Mayor of the City of Zeeland on  January 20, 2026 at 7:00 pan.
the following resolution was offered: (date) (time)
Moved by and supported by
that the application from El Rancho, Inc. #8
tname of applicant - if & corporation or finted Habllily company, please state the company name)
for the following license(s): Class C DDA & SDM Licénses MCL 436.1521a(1)(b)
{iist specific licenses requested)
to be located at: 17 E. Main Avenue, Zeeland, Ml 49464

and the following permit, if applied for:
[[1 Banquet Facllity Permit  Address of Banquet Facility:

it Is the consensus of this body thatit  recommends this application be considered for

(recommends/does not recommend)
approval by the Michlgan Liguor Control Commission,

If disapproved, the reasons for disapprovat are

Vote

Yeas:

Nays:
Absent:

thereby certify that the foregoing Is true and is a complete copy of the resolution offered and adopted by the  Zeeand City

{name of township,
council/kazsd at a regular meeling heldon  January 20, 2026 clty, village)

{regular or spedatl) {date)

Kristi DeVerney January 20, 2026

LEC 105 (08124}

Print Name of Clerk Stgnature of Clerk Date

Under Article IV, Section 49, of the Constitution of Michigan {1963), the Cominlssion shall exerclse complete control of the alcoholic beverage traffic
within this state, Including the retail sales thereof, subject to statutory limitations, Further, the Commmission shall have the sole right, power, and duty to
controi the alcoholic beverage trafflc and traffic in other alcoholic Hguor within this state, Including the Heensure of businesses and individuals.

Please retum this completed form along with any corresponding documents to:
Michigan Liquor Control Commission
Malling address: P.O, Box 30005, Lansing, Mi 48909
Overnight packages: 2407 N, Grand River, Lansing, Ml 46906
Fax to: 517-763-0059

LARA T5 an equal apportunity employes/program Auxifary alds, services and other reasenable accommodations ace availahile upon sequest to individuals with disablbies.



City of Zeeland

- | ¢ -
DEC 19 2025
[}
Catlin Edwards Brown Grobbel Receivad
&l Bellanca PLLC
Attorneys & Counselors at Law
6017 West 5t. Joe Hwy., Suite 202 Mitro Detroit/Ogkland County

John B. Catlin, Jr, (1939-2018) Lansing, Michigan 48917 45’;{3 N. Il\g)“;‘ ?&if{igﬂ

Scott D. Edwards (Retired) P. (517) 3214817 (3?24;) 81 6-5000

Michael J. Brown E. (517) 3214642 F. (248) 8165115

Steven J. Grobbel www.cebhlaw.com I\brﬂ:rgﬂl\fﬁdn;@

145 North Ofsego Avenue
I ames V. Bellanca, )1l Gaylord, Michigan 49735
Baileigh M.S. Bradley P. (989) 251.1041
F. (989) 688-5901
December 16, 2025

Ms. Kristt DeVerney
Zeeland City Clerk
21 South Elm Street
Zeeland, MI 49464

RE: Application for NEW Class C IDevelopment District License and SDM License

Applicant; El Rancho, Inc. #8
Address: 17 E. Main Ave., Zeeland, M1 49464 (City of Zeeland/Ottawa Co.)

Dear Ms. DeVerney:

This firm represents El Rancho, Inc. #8 ("Applicant”) in this application for NEW Class C
Development District and SDM Licenses for use at the address of 17 E. Main Ave., Zeeland, Ml
49464 (City of Zeeland/Ottawa Co.).

Enclosed are the following documents:

e Zeeland City Liquor License Application

e Zeeland City application fee
o Please note that the check is from El Rancho, Inc. #4, a sister corporation to

the Applicant.
MLCC form LCC-106 — Local Governmental Approval Resolution
MLCC form LCC 100a — On-Premises Retailer License & Permit Application
Articles of Organization
Bylaws
Lease
Three (3) Letters of Recommendation
Applicant’s History of Business Activity Memo
Server Training Certification
Proposed Menu

e o ® @ o & 8

VAT R 1 4 e b s - T R

H
i
i




Ms. K., DeVerney
December 16, 2025

Page 2

o City of Zecland Building Permit
e Floor Plans

The application fces of $400.00 have been paid via check included in this application.

Please process this application at your earliest convenience. Thank you for your assistance.

Very truly yours,

CARLIN EDWARDS BROWN GROBBEL
& BELLANCA PLLC

Baileigh M.S. Bradley
Direct Dial: (517) 580-4761
E-Mail: BBradley@cebhlawlaw,com

BMSB
Enclosures
cc w/o enc: Client

R A L IETRI b St e et B et TR P RINEE B

I AT S



ATTACHMENT #1

City o‘_f Zeeland
DEC 17 2025

’
!

*l

CITY OF ZEELAND
LIGUOR LICENSE APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS

. Please read all questions carefully, and answer all questions completely and
truthfully.

. Any material omission or material misstatement of fact may constitute grounds
for denial of the Liquor License Application.

. The City Council may wish to have a hearing on the Liquor License Application.
If so, the City Clerk will notify you of the date, time and place of the hearing.

. An application fee in the amount of $400.00 for an On-Premise License and
$250.00 for SDM or SDD Licenses must be paid at the time the Application is
submitted to the City Clerk., The application fee shall not be refunded to the
applicant for any reason.

. A copy of the Zeeland City Alcohol Beverages Ordinance is attached. Any
questions which you have may be directed to the City Clerk or City Manager at
21 South Elm, Zeeland, Michigan or by calling 616-772-6400 on any day of the
week, except Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays, between the hours of 8:00 a.m.
and 12:00 p.m. and 1:00 p.m. and 5:00 p.m.

. A duplicate of the application which was filed with the Liguor Control
Commission must be provided with the completed City application.

. To prepare this application, it is also recommended that the Applicant
review the Zeeland City Code and the Zeeland Zoning Ordinance regarding
the alcohol regutations of the City of Zeeland.

Recejved



Tim Klunder
Highlight


I'

LY

LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION
City of Zeeland, Michigan

(Type or print all information except for signatures)

APPLICANT INFORMATION

Applicant Name_ El Rancho, Inc. #8 Age _N/A

\
|
k
L
(
E
i
‘
)

Home Address _ N/A

Business Address 17 East Main Avenue, Zeeland, Ml 49464

Type of application:
X New License Class of license requested _Class C DDA & SDM

3 Transfer ftom persen to person Present holder

(1 Transfer from place to place New location
O Upgrade classification Present classification
Requested classification

1. If applicant is a corporation or limited liability company, provide the full legal
names, ages, and addresses of all directors, officers and shareholders or members :
owning a 5% interest or more therein along with the percentage of ownership.

Name Age Home Address " Ownership %
Alfredo Melendez Aguirre.  @— 4292 W. 186 St., Sheridan, [N 46069  40%

Martin Bernal De La Paz ~ @D 4976 144t Ave. Holland. M149424  _20%

Antonio Bernal Da La Paz .__ 2759 Jacklyn Ct., Helland, Ml 49424 20%

Victor Manuel Bernat De La Paz @) 1030 N. Brookridge Rd.. Ludington, M! 49431
20%



Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


2. If applicant is a partnership, provide the full legal names, ages, and home
addresses of each partner along with percentage of ownership.

Name Age Home Address Owmership %

3. Premises proposed for Liquor License:
Street Address: 17 East Main Avenue, Zeeland, M! 49464

Legal Description_Commerclaf Lease

A deed for the premises should also be atiached.

4. Proposed hours of Operation Mon.~-Thurs. 11:00 AM — 9:30 PM; Fri.- Sat. 11:00 AM
- 10;00 PM: Sun. 11:00 AM — 9:00 PM

5. Nature and character of food merchandise or service to be sold or offered for sale by
the applicant to members of the public_the Applicant will offer authentic Mexican cuisine,
along with alcoholic_beverages served in a_ dine-in restaurant setting to the general
public.

6. Applicant's experience, financial capability, history of experience as a liquor
licensee, proposed menus and other facts or proposals pertinent fo the applicant’s
business. Please attach con separate sheets.

E
;
:
:
;
[
i
&

L AR M A SR P AU dad s e gD Do e e,



7. All assumed, trade, or firm names under which the business will be conducted:

A. El Rancho, lne. #8
B. Ef Rancho S

8. Has Applicant ever made application to the Liguor Control Commission or 1o any
other local unit of government for a similar or other license at a location other than

described in this application, and the disposition of such application? Yes X No 3

If yes:

Date of
Bus/Lic Address/ Issuance  expiration, _
Name Unit of Gov't Date revagcation, Classification

non-renewal

El Rancho, inc. #7 770 E 16" St Ste A Holland, Ml 49423 4/23/14 4/30/26 Class C
Ei Rancho, Inc. 301 S. Maplewood St.. Ste E, Greenville, M| 48838  2/9/07 4/30/28 Class C: SDM

El Rancho, Inc. #4 12658 Riley St., Ste 40, Holland, M| 49424 7/27/09 _ 4/30/26 Clags C: SDM
El Ranche. inc. #3 4870 W. US Highway 10, Ludington, MI 49431  1/56/23_ _4/30/26 Class C: SDM

8. On an attached sheet, give an explanation of when or how such interests were

disposed,

10. Has the applicant ever been denied approval from a local unit of government, from
the Michigan Liguor Control Comimission, or from any other state for a new license, or

transfer, or upgrading of an existing license? Yes @ No X

11.1f the answer o question 10 is "yes’, state the name of the governmental unit, the

date of application, the type of application, and the reasons for denial

12. Has the applicant or person conducting or managing the applicant's business ever
been convicted of a felony or non-raffic misdemeanor, inciuding but not limited to
drinking and/or driving offenses? Yes 0 NoX

If yes, describe in full

,%.
;

i
H
£
H
3
El
1
k]
H




13. If applicant is a corporation, limited liability company, or a partnership, have any of
the directors, officers, shareholders, members or partners owning a 5% interest or more,
ever been convicted of a felony or non-traffic misdemeanor, including but not limited o
drinking and/or driving offenses? Yes {0 No X

If yes, describe in full

14. List a minimum of three (3) individuals, -and provide their contact information, who-
will provide character endorsements for the applicant and/or its officers. These
endorsers must not be related either personaily or financially to the applicant or to the

principals of the applicant, Please aitach letiers of recommendation from such

individuals.

1) Eleg;g, See Leters @E /\)\egommfgdgﬁteﬂ airaened.
Name Address Phone Number

2)
Name Address Phone Number

3)
Name Address Phone Mumber

15, Provide satisfactory evidence to show that the applicant has the financial ability fo
complete its project according to #s plans within a reasonable period of time, plus
evidence that all personal and real property taxes for the proposed premises shall be
paid in full. Please attach on separate sheets.

16. Provide a written statement showing the Applicant’s history of business activity, if

any. Please attach on separate sheets.

17. Provide inspection reports from certified inspectors to show that the establishment
will conform to current standards of existing building, plumbing, sanitary, fire and health
ordinances, and ali other municipal laws and regulations, or if an existing building wili

E
H
;
i
i

:



not be utilized, please provide a notarized statement that all new buildings will conform

to the current ordinances. Please attach on separate sheets.

18. Please provide evidence of having established or heing prepared to establish
procedures fo prevent alcohol abuse on its premises or refated to its premises. Explain
whether the applicant will use a program such as Training for Intervention Procedures
{T..P.S.), Techniques of Alcoho! Management (T.A.M.), or ancther program deemed to
he acceptable by the City. Please atiach on separate sheels.

19. i the business of the applicant is to be operated or conducted by a manager or

agent, the name, date of birth and address of the manager is as foitows:

Jorge Alberio Bernal De La Paz
Name Date of Birth

4976 144™ Ave,

Address
Holiand M1 45424
City Stale Zip

20. What is the estimated cost of establishing your business for your building

_ imprqvementé, site plan, furnishings, and inventory? $ 800,000

" 31, On an attached page, give the names of ail persans other than applicant who either
directly or indirectiy wiil have any financial interest in your business {include mortgagees

and vendors under title retaining contracts (if any).

22. If the application Is approved, the hame of the owner of record of the property on
which license is to be located is: _17 East Main, LLC
Attach a copy of the lease for the premises if the premises will be leased.

23. If the applicant is a corporation, attach copies of the applicant's Articles of
incorporation and bylaws. If the applicant is a limited liability company, attach copies of
the applicant's Articles of Organization and Operating Agreement. If the applicant is a

;
4
:
g

[Erp——

BT vz,


Tim Klunder
Highlight


parinership, attach & Certificate of Co-Parinership and a copy of its Partnership

Agreement.

24. Will there be dancing and/or entertainment provided on the premises to be
licensed? Yes O NoX
If yes, describe in full

P g VL SF LA L. TR P ST M . ) 6 LI .- |
D’Q009000009009’6000-60000# 0#O’00#60009‘§60@0090Q°69°‘@°°Q’0°°°°’°°QGG.GQOOQQQQOOQ‘,G ¢°°B°°0°00¢9°0

Additional Information

Additional information may be required by the City Council or the City Manager.

Also, this application must include building and site plans showing the entire structure
and premises where the license is to be utilized. Building plans shall show floor plans,
the kitchen layout, seating arrangements, planned building alterations and other
pertinent physical features. A site plan shall demonstrate adequate off-street parking,
lighting, refuse disposat facilities, and where appropriate, adequate plans for screening
and noise control,

Attached:

X Building plan
X Site plan

NOTE: Applicant wilt be given 80 days if its application is deemed incomplete to provide
the additional information which is required. If the requested information is not received
within 60 days, the application will automatically be denied without further consideration.
The filing of an application and the required information is NOT a guarantee of
acceptance. The application fee will not be refunded after the application has been
filed.

By filing this application, the Applicant is hereby granting permission to the
City of Zeeland and to its staff members and agents to enter the premises as deemed
necessary by the City of Zeeland to inspect the proposed business location and fo take
pictures which may be viewed by the City Council and the public.

The Applicant hereby irrevocably agrees that it shall not use its license for a
location ocutside of the City of Zeeland or seli its license to any person or entity which
may seek to use the license for a location outside of the City of Zeeland.

D ] T Rt T EE e e v e e m e et e



NOTARY

Applicant agrees that if it fails to comply with all of its representations and
assurances contained in this application, and which may be made either by it or ifs
representative at any public hearing, including, without limitation, the starting or opening
date, or if the applicant fails to complete the construction, building and site
improvements which are described and shown in the attached plans, that such failure(s)
shall serve as grounds for a license revocation or non-renewal of a license pursuant to
the Zeeland City Code.

| hereby certify and swear that | have read and understand this application
and that | have truthfully answered all questions and that alf of the information which has
been attached to this application is true and accurate. | further understand that falsifying
any information will be grounds for denial of this application.

Dated: |} | 0[S El Ranche, Inc. #8; Martin Bernat De La Paz, Member
Applicant Name

By: MArtzin/ R712med Member
Signature Title

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
}ss
COUNTY OF bttt )

The foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn to before me in
Ozuse  County, Michigan on this 26 day of _AJovenrn~-ex- .

NNALUEVANO .
IBISESC - STATE OF MICHIGAN

COUNTY OF OTTAWA
My Commission Expifes Sep
Acting inthe County of

20775 by o vv Pecnal , on behalf of 1\ Rovnting lne #5 -

as its _ Y "\e yrn D& :
{/Q*
I\/tary Public, ¢ervon County, Michigan

Acting in O Ao e County
My Commission expires;_ CF1— 23~ 22 (¢

tember 23, 2030
&\_‘-

e



AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE INFORMATION
AND SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATIONS

A signed Authorization to Release Informatiot and Supplemental Declarations fornt is required from the
applicant and from each of its officers, shareholders, members, partners and equity owners who owit an
interest of §% or mare in the applicant, and from its manager.

As part of a Liquor License Application to the City of Zeeland, 1 am required to
furnish information for use in determining my background. In this connection, { authorize
release of any and all information that you may have concerning me, including
information of a confidential or priviieged nature.

| hereby certify that the following fnformétion is true and accurate:

My full name is: Alfredo Melendez Aquirre

My home address is: _4292 W. 186 Street, Sheridan, IN 46089

My driver's license number is: _(—
My date of birth is: _-

My day time phone numberis: _317-

| hereby release you, your organization or others from liabilily or damage
which may result from furnishing the information requested. it is hereby agreed that a
photocopy of this form shall be treated the same as an original document.

Have you paid, promised to pay, or given any money, material, service or consideration
e ——to-any-persen; directly-or-indirectly; for-any-recommendation or influence-promised--- -
toward procuring a Liquor License? Yes O MNof#d

If yes, describe in full

Are you now engaged in any business as a sitent owner or silent pariner?

Yes O No@

if yes, describe in full

Have you paid, promised to pay, or given any meney, material, service or consideration
to any political candidate for local, state or federal office?

-9.

k
3
4
§
:
4

f
:
¥
£


Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


Yes (3 No &2

if yes, describe in full

| hereby certify and swear that | have read and understand this document and that |
have truthfully answered all questions and that all of the information which has been
provided is frire and accurate.

pated: W\ |70l oS @”M@% (@MMZ’?

Sigrfature

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
. }ss
COUNTY OF Obeuwaen. )
The foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn to before me in oo County,
Michigan on this _{ 4" day of __ A Jeas2maiQer 2015 by

A RA L2 B (Y%

/v
-

ofary Public, OHew County, Michigan
NA LUEVANG Actingin ___colternuro County
Co-ljauc- STATE OF MICHIGAN My Commission expires:_O4—23 -~z 35
My Comma 1Y OF OTTAWA
y Commission Expjy,

Acling in the Countyiff Sepi Ember 23, 2030

-10 -

E
?
a_
E

!
!



AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE INFORMATION
AND SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATIONS

A signed Atrthorization to Release Informatlon and Supplemental Declarations form is required from the
applicant and from each of its officers, shareholders, members, partners and equity owners who own an
interest of 5% ar more in the applicant, and from ks manager.

As part of a Liguor License Application to the Gity of Zeeland, 1 am required to
furnish information for use in determining my background. In this connection, | authorize
release of any and all information that you may have concerning me, including
information of a confidential or privileged nature.

:
| hereby certify that the following information is true and accurate; %
|

_ My full name is: _Martin Bernal De La Paz \ . . ?

My home address is: _4976 144" Ave,, Hoftand, Ml 48424 s

My drivers license number is: (- .-

My date of birth is: __. (D

My day time phone number is: _889-

| hereby release you, your organization or others from liability or damage
which may result from furnishing the information requested. 1t is hereby agreed that a
photocopy of this form shall be treated the same as an original document.

Have you paid, promised to pay, or given any money, material, service or consideration
——to-any persen,-directly. or-indirectly; far-any-recommendation orinfluence promised
toward procuring a Liguor License?  Yes 00 No

i yes, describe in full

Are you now engaged in any business as a silent owner or silent partner?

Yes 1 No®

If yes, describe in full

Have you paid, promised to pay, or given any money, materiaf, service or consideration
to any political candidate for local, state or federal office?

-11 -


Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


Yes O Nof@

If yes, describe in full

| hereby certify and swear that ) have read and understand this document and that |
have truthfully answered all questions and that ali of the information which has been
provided is true and accurate.

Datea: 11 [ 201762 Maran/ _Bremdc

{Signature)

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
) ss
COUNTY OF OMtrusen )

The foregoing instrument was subscribed and swom to before me in()_H_@gf_ﬁ_Cou.ntQ, '
Michigan on this “2¢%day of _A)Gu@now | 2025 by
ek (Desinod : |

sz

Ngt's:ypublic, ol County, Michigan
o

Actingin __ ¢ County
PR s . e~y o f H
YT My Commission expires:__ 13- 7¢3
NOTARY PUBLIC - STATE OF MICHIGAN- .
COUNTY OF OTTAWA

My Commission Expires September 23, 2030
Acting in the County of O HAwen_

~12 -

i
H
1
¢
E
14
!



AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE INFORMATION
AND SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATIONS

A signed Authorization fo Release Information and Supplemental Decfarations form is required from the
applicant and from each of its officers, shareholders, members, partnaeis and equity owners who own an
interest of 8% or more in the applicant, and from ite manager.

As part of a Liquor License Application to the City of Zeeland, | am required to
furnish information for use in determining my background. 1n this connection, | authorize

release of any and all information that you may have concerning me, including
information of a confidential or priviteged nature.,

[ hereby certify that the following infoermation is true and accurate:

My full name.is; _Antonio Bernai De La Paz

My home address is: 2759 Jacklyn Ci., Holland, M| 49424

My driver's license number is:- .
My date of birth is: __ (.

My day time phone number is:

| hereby release you, your organization or others from liability or damage
which may result from furnishing the information requested. It is hereby agreed that a
phatocopy of this form shall be treated the same as an orlgmaf document.

Have vou paid, promised to pay, or given any money, material, service or consideration

- to.any person, direcliy-orindirectly, for any-recommendation. or-influence-promised - - - - - -

toward procuring a Liquer License?  Yes [ No

If yes, describe in fuli

Are you now engaged in any business as a silent owner or silent pariner?

Yes 0 No

If yas, describe in fuli

Have you paid, promised te pay, or given any money, material, service or consideration
to any political candidate for jocal, state or federal office?

-13-

e o AT, e T R e e e s e,

BRI W Tar T e et e sen e e de


Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


Yes 3. No®

If yes, describe in full

| hereby certify and swear that | have read and understand this document and that | %
have truthfully answered all questions and that ali of the information which has heen ;
provided is true and accurate.

Dated: ]]’20!7/5 " T | |
| {Signature) ;

STATE OF MICHIGAN )

}ss . ) :
COUNTY OF gﬂa_@gg ) oL :

The foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn to before me in (‘}|~!9w5 County,

Michigan on this L&Y day of A\JCu grniner 20Z5 by
A/\hw\m Bervow o n a3, . :
W |

:

Nbtary Public, o ttee~ County, Michigan

Acting in __z) Houwsrer County
My Commission expires;_ 05~ 23-2c3c

JOHANNA LUEVANO
NOTARYC,%UIJ%‘!F?' 0 SFTgTE OF MICHIGAN
My Commission Expir iy

A €5 Sg
Acling in the County of éwo

e MR PRI LT e S AR e tu -

-14 -



AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE iNFORMATION
AND SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATIONS

A signed Authorization to Release information and Supplemental Declarations form is required from the
applicant and from each of its officers, shareholders, memhbers, pariners and equity owners who own an
interest of 5% or mare In the applicant, and from its manager.

As part of a Liguor License Application to the City of Zeeland, | am reguired to
furnish information for use in determining my background. In this connection, | authorize ;
release of any and afl information that you may have concerning me, including
information of a confidential or privileged nature.

! hereby ceriify that the following information is frue and accurate:

My full name is: _Victor Manuel Bernal De La Paz

My home address is; __1030 N. Brookridge Rd., Ludington, Ml 48431

e S PRI EE R o R me e o E e e e

My driver's license number is: ([

My date of birthis: _ (P

My day time phone number is: 765-

| hereby release you, your organization or others from liability or damage :
which may result from furnishing the information requested. it is hereby agreed that a 1
photocopy of this form shali be treated the same as an original document. g

Have you paid, premised to pay, or given any money, material, service or consideration
.. to any person,.directly orindirectly, for any recommendation.or influence promised -
toward procuring a Liquor License? Yes O No

If yes, describe in full

Are you now engaged in any business as a silent owner or silent partner?

SO —

Yes O NoHA

If yes, describe in full

Have you paid, pramised to pay, or given any money, material, service or consideration
to any poiitical candidate for local, state or federal office? ’

15

;
:
i
:tl
:
;
:
:
;
;


Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


Yes 3 Nol#

If yes, describe in full

| hereby cerlify and swear that | have read and understand this document and that |
have truthfully answered all questions and that all of the infermation which has been
provided is true and accurate,

Dated: ||}20‘ 2025 | \chlfm _%C‘k' N 4 \
(Signatura}

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
) s8
COUNTY OF OW )

The foregoing instrument was subscribed and sworn t.o‘ befare me in ﬁw:« County,
Michigan on this /CF* ~day of Adoper~ie™ 2025 by
LSt Mane ] Bega e e paz- ,

g 7

T
Notary Public, o Hetws County, Michigan
JOHANNA LUEVANO Actingin__ 0 Yereven County
NOTARY PUBLIC - STATE OF MicHicAN | My Commission expires;__ &% 2.3~ 230

My C‘OliJNTY OF OTTAWA
y Lomrmission Expires Saptamb
Acting In the County of Op& e;rfag};oao

- 16 -

e LT AR AT PP AANTA I i, or A % * e e Fatta et e o e

§




ity of Zeeland

EI Rancho #7

16th St

Suite &
] 49423

¥

196

reet
2

~ Holland
Phone

616

710 k.

1200




Super fancho Sampler:

vo faquites, five mozzqre!ia sticks, sbx wings,

hree skirt sfeuk tacos servad with corn
of dlour torh”as 216, A5

“Tacos de Carnitas
~Three’ pork tacos with rice and beans - 16.75

Single Taco

: "._"_-:_-Cholce of chicken, steck, carnitas or ol pastor - 4,25

Yace salad

Ranche 'ﬂam Sallmi
This special salad is topped with
steak, chicken and shrimp, cooked
with peppets, onions and temataes.
Served with lettuce, shredded cheese
and sour cream - 17.50

Shrimp Faiita Tace Salad

A erisp tortilla shell filled with lettuce,
jopped with grilled shrimp with
ohions, tomatoes and peppers.
Finished with shredded cheese,

guacamole and scur eream - 17.99

Cascada Salad

Letfuce, grilled chicken, California
blend vegetables fopped

with shredded cheese - 17.50

Toro Salad

Your choice of grilled chicken
or steak® with romaine lettuce,
guacamole, sour cream and

pico de gallo - 16.50
Taco Salad

Our clussic salad of lettuce in a flour
torfilla shell with tamatoes, cheese,
sour cream and guacamele, Topped
with your choice of ground beef or

chicken - 1499

Taco Salad Fajifas

Steak® or chicken with hol peppers,
onions and tomatoes. Served with
lettuce, tomato, guacamole and
sour cream - 17.50

Tossed Salad - 250

rancho

)
!

5
&
E:
i




:
E
E
r







12-02. House
Hargarita - 5.50 fany flaver)

25% DBFF Mouse Mardarita
» Mexican Beer - 4.00
Domestic Beer - 3.50

Lunei Combo #6 - 9.50 S i
Lumch Combo #8 - 9.50 TR R 22-0z. House
Lunch Cambe #% - 9.50 EEE‘EEE@EH Riargatita - 9.99 ooy fover

_ Lunch Combo #10 - 950
» Lunch Combio #12 - 9.50

Lupch Combo %2 -9.50
Lunch Combo #3 - 9.50

Y. Lunch Combe #4 -9.50
o Luich Combs #5 - 9.50

34-pz. House
Mardarita - 12.50 tany flavor

Lunch Fajitas - 11.50
Steak or Chicken

Pitcher Hotse
Mardari{a - 1699 oy flaver

5% OFF House Mardarita

Burrites Deluxe - 1399
= Polle jalisco - 1550
Combo #2- 1250

Chimichanga - 14.50
Chicken or Beef

2" Polln Toluca - 15.50
- Combo #2- 1250

Bachos al Carbon - 1499
Chile Yerde - 1550
*"Ching Special - 1599

- Hot & Spicy Burrile - 1450
:.ﬁcapulm 11499
allg Pramavem- 1499

Polip Sliprem_o - 15.50
= Duesadilla Rancha - 1550
Ea Fﬁemr Eiumm 1359

Pami!ada 2899 -
= Pla Eam 1599 .
ummg 'ﬂ”lmws 1425

R






- 899

Paloma.

tos

Hotn

7

ja

i

&
=
=2
=B
el
=
Sl
&

899

{

equ
(]

House 1
- Cantar}




L ﬁ%&?ﬂﬂ:ﬂﬁ} i]E.'EE‘%EAﬁ’ MARGARITA

_esrsl Jose Cuervo 1800 Tequila,

99

34 TRE, - 1749

Sopapiflas Flan

A classic dessert of {ried An avthentic Mexican
flour tortillas drizzled with dessert made fresh in our
honey and butier, sprinkled kitchen zach day - 6,49
with cinamon - 7.49 sried Joe Coeam
{hareos - 7.49 Coaaol and creamy inside,

crispy oufside - 7,49

Tamale (1375 (31999
Chile Refeno (1)4.50 (3) 11.50
Fuchifadas (1) 3.50 (3)999

Your chotce of cheese, chicken or beef

Burritas (1) 7.50 (2) 1299
Chaose fried beef, beef & bean or beef & nacho cheese

Beef Burritos (11525 (2) 999
Chichen Burcites (1) 5.25 (2999

Defuxe Burtito
Beef or chicken with lettuce & sour cream (1) 8,25

Hard Shell Beef ar Chicken Taco (1) 299 (31899
Sofi Chichien or Beef Taco (1) 3.75 (3) 1099
Tostaduac

CHICKEN & BEANS (1)499 (2)899

BEEF & BEANS (1)499 (2)899

BEEF (1499 (21899

French Fries - 3.50

Colie Products
Coke, Diet Coke, Cherry Coke, Ract Beer,
Sprite, Mello Yello and Mx. Pibb - 3.80

Iced Tea - 3.80 _
Brewed Coifee - 3.80 el
Pink Lemonade - 3.0 *

Agua Freseas E
320z - 599 220z. - 499

Al - 3.25
Drande juice.- 3.25

3
7
:
i
s
§
E




T man;ﬁ Hﬁimﬁ vlﬂﬁgﬁﬂjﬂ Eﬁi?ﬁ‘f
Two ro]ied Howr. }om!las f||Ied with Scallops, shrimp and tilapia filete
- covered in cheese dip and served
d cheese Ser\.red with with rice, lettuce, pico de gallo
cI vice. qnd loecms 18,49 and sour cream - 22.99

Arapuice
_ Steak or chicken grilled with onions
spindich, and fopped with cheese wrapped in a flour tortilla and
. Served topped with melted cheese.
Served with solad and rice - 15.49

ﬁasgaﬂuws Hexicangs

Four crisp fried corn tortillas, fwe
beef and two chicken, garmshed
with shredded leftuce, guacamoale,
tomatees and saur cream - 16.49

_péci with |c.-HuE_e Quucamcﬂe, _ Plat; gﬁ@@
d sou gream = 17 -.9 A tasteful combination plate of one
RIMAP - . chile poblane, one steak or chicken

BY- Ot SH
-HifﬁﬂCHﬂN@A ]8 25 S quesadilla and fried shrimp.
Served with rice - 19.49

artilla filled  Rencho Bewi
k Served in a bowl with your chaice
of grilled chieken, steak or perk
carnitas. Served with black beans,
lettuce, fresh avecado, white rice,
corn, quese, sour cream and pico de

gullo 17.49 WITH SHRIMP - 19.49

'FP@EE@ ﬁuanaguam
" Grilted chicken breast lopped with a salsa
marinade. Served with rice, black beans,
fettuce, tomatoes and gua:amale -19.49

Chay Special

Grilled chicken strips served over a bed
of Mexican rice, white cheese and

three flour tortillas - 17.99

Add Chorize - 2099

Polln jalisco

Spinach and mushraoms afop grifled
chicken strips, covered with melted
cheese and offered with guacamole

salad, rice and beuns - 19.49

Healih Advisory:
"Consuming raw or undercecked meats, pouliry, seafood, shellfish
or egys may increase your risk of foodbarne illness.










'.
;
E




fl||ed WIH‘I shrlmp 18,25

- Cottel de Camaron
* Mlmost too pretty to eat]
hilled shrimp swimming in
per 22-oz, g|=:(ss of our

dp .ode ga"c 20.49

- Grilted Shrimp

s A bountiful plateful of grilled

'.'.'_Sh!'_lmP topped with chease
-+ ‘emd served with rice - 19.49

- Burrito Marino
- “Burrito filed with shrimp,
~grifled onions, peppers
and tomatees. Offered with
a crisp faco shelf stuffed
with lettuce, guacamole

-'_"and pico de gallo - 18.4%

-Majaire Frita
" Grifled fish served with
tice, letiuce, tometa

ar_ad qvocddo 19.49

ay incredse \,.mur rtsk of foodborne illnass,

" Al items Include cheese. Served wifh rice and beans .

DELUXE: Includes letfuce, sour cream ond temate - 1.30 extra

Combo #§ Combe #2
Choose one item - 12.99 Choose two items - 15.50

iems B
EMCHILADA | TAMALE | BURRITO | CHILE POBLANO

TOSTADA | CHALUPA | OUESADILLA | TACO

EEAR BURRITO, CHEESE 5?‘&5@5"3&&@& & G'\!E CHALRIPA - 1399
ONE CHALUPA, ONE CHEESE BNCHILADA AND RICE- 1399
REAN BURRITO, ONE QUESADILA & ORE CHALUPA - 1399
ONE CHALUPA, OME SEAN BURRITO AND RICE- 1399
OME BEAN BURRITO WITH NACTHD 5AUCE
ONE ENCHILADA AND ONE GUZSADILA - 1399
CHEESE & PAUSHROOM GUESADILA, SALAD & RICE - 1399

. CHIE PORLANG, SPINACH GUESADILA & RICE- 1399

WEGETARIE FANITAS

A healthy mix of mushrooms, bell peppers, green
onions, tematees, carrots, broceoli and couliflowsr,
Served with beans and thres warm tortillas - 1599

THE EXTRAS

Pice de Gallo-1.25  Rice - 299
Beivied Beans - 299 Tomaises - 1.25

Three Cotrn ot Leftuce - 99
Flaur Tortllias - 125 ganacate - 299

Ehi[l’. Tﬂl’ﬁaﬂﬂs - 1.99 ﬂiﬂ:e & E]eans - 5.50
Sour Creamt - 1.25




1700 am. to 3:00 p..

CHQ?BZE QE’ RICE OR BEAMS - 11.49
CH?!.&DA £HAL EIPEA & A QUESADILA - 11.49

0, CROUND BEE? OF CHICKEN QUSSADILLA,
£ AND BEANS - 1149

Bumm Marino
Burrito fifted wsth shrimp, grifled
anfons, peppers and tomatoes.
Offered with o crisp tace shell
stuffed with letfuce, guacamole

and p.i_co. de gg"o - 1399

Lunch Sheimp Fajitas
Sizzled with bell peppers, green
"‘enions, tomatees, satad, beans

. and flour fortillas - 15.99

Eia:apuiw

_Steak® or chicken grifled with
- “onions wrapped in a flour

" torlilia and topped with
melted cheese. Served with
”sdiaa and rice - 12.99

Buiro la Rogueta
Tender pork and our green

" tomatillo sauee gives this hurrifo
its great taste. Topped with
cheese, served with rice - 12.75

Huevos Rancheios™

Tweo farm fresh eggs drizzled
with ranchero sauce and
served with rice, beans and
corn tortilles - 11.75

' Hueves con Cherize®
A flaverful dish of twe eggs
serambled with chorizo
and plated with beans
and three tortiffas - 11.75

_ easf cooked in chlie_
and o anien, covered in

Deligh(

Ci shnmp served )

g raw or undercooked meats, poultry, seafood, shelifish or
mcrease your risk of foadbarne illness.

Served Munday thre Friday

Setturcleny 11:30 qun. o 3:00 p.m.

spRely yonzalez

SPEEDY GONIALEZ

Taco, enchilada & choice of rice or beans - 1099

. HGT & SPITY BURRITS
Flour tortilla filled with ehicken, beef, beans
and rice, then covered with salsc
ranchera, cheese and sour cream -

SHREDDID BEEF BURRITO, CHICKEN ZRCHILADA
' 5 3 A REEF TACO - 11.49
1 RV
S Bﬂﬁﬁzfg.’ Ei;;f;izii ;‘ig‘?;m H A9 13, TWO TACODS, RICE AME BEARS - 11.49 STEAK - 1399
“ 14, GUESADILLA GRAMDE
Beaf or chicken, bell peppers, onions & tomatoes - 1399
15. TAQUITO MEICAND
Twao taquitos with rice, beans, lettuee,
sour cream, guacamele and pico de galle

13.25

Lunch Chimichanda

Shredded beef or shredded chicken
and refried beans rolled into « flour
tortilla, served soft or deep fried.
Topped with letiuce, guacamoale,
tomatees and sour cream - 12.49

Chuy Speciat

Grilled chicken strips served over
a bed of Mexican rice. Served
with white cheese and three
flour tortillas - 14.9%

Add Chorizb + 3.00

Tortilia Soup

Chicken, rice, pico de gallo, torfilla chtps - 899

For our .'.'er guesfs under 12 years

Kids™ Brink - 299
Mexican Pizza - 8.75

Sincronizada
Ham & cheese quesadilla
with French fries - 8.75

Chicken Tepders & Fries-8.75

fuesadilia
With rice & beans - 8.75

Taco
With rice & beans - 8.75

- 13.50

Gurrito Supreme®
Choice of one beef or
chicken burrite toppe
with lettuce, tomatoe:

sour cream. Served wi'ih‘ '
rice and beans - 11.7

Hueves Mexicanos
Two fresh eggs scrambls

tomatoes, onions and
Served with rice, bea

and tortitias - 11.75

Taco & Enchilad

Enchilada
With rice and beans -

Beef Tosiada

& Bean Enchilada . &

e

?ﬁS -F1 6—-‘] 81 ?




City of Zeeland

Letter of DEC 17 2029
Recomimendstion acaived
October 8%, 2025

It is my pleasure to write this letter of recommendation for Mr. Martin Bernal. | have had
the apportunity to know him for several years and have witnessed his professionalism,
dedication, and passion for business,

Mr. Bernal is an accomplished entrepreneur with extensive experience in the restaurant
industry, Over the years, he has successfully opened and managéd mulftiple
establishments, all of which have achieved great success. His understanding of business
operations, financial planning, and customer satisfaction is exceptional, and he
consistently demonstrates the ability to lead with vision and integrity.

Beyond his professional achievements, Mr. Bernal is a person of strong character and
values. He treats his employees and customers with respect and falrness, and his
leadership has made a positive impact on many people around him.

| am confident that Mr. Bernal will continue to excel in any future endeavors. He is a
hardworking, trustworthy, and highly capable individual who contributes positively to his

community and to the business environment wherever he goes.

Sincerely,

Sincerely,

CHaria CHHargues <

* ek TR T

B TR T Y £ L e e e a2


Tim Klunder
Highlight


City of Zeeland
DEC 177 2025

Laiter of Received
Recommengdation

October 168, 2025

To Whom It May Congern,

It is my pleasure to write this letter of recommendation for Mr. Martin Bernal. | have had
the opportunity to know and work with Mr. Bernal for several years and have consistently
been impressed by his professionalism, Integrity, and strong business acumen.

Mr. Bernal has built a successful career in the restaurant industry, opening and managing
muitiple establishments that have become local favorites, His ability to plan, execute, and
sustain profitable operations demonstrates not only his experience but also his dedication
and long-term vision. He has a deep understanding of what it takes to build and grow a
business—from financial planning and team management to delivering excellent customer
service,

In addition to his entrepreneurial skilis, Mr, Bernal is a community-oriented individual who
treats his employees and customers with respect and fairness. He embodies the qualities
of a responsible and ethical business owner.

I have no doubt that Mr, Bernal will continue to demonstrate the same level of excellence

and responsibility with every new venture,

Crrests Lapey g

Broker/CEQ

UBeHome Real Estate 12659 Riley St. Suite 30, Holland, Mi
49424

{
;
i
H

%
§
f

?_
4
4


Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


City of Zeeland
DEC 1% 4025

: ) Received
Laetier of
Racommendstion

Cctober 168" 2025

To Whom it May Concern,

My name is Renee Reyes, and | am a Realtor with UBeHome Real Estate. | am honored to
write this letter of recommendaticn for Mr. Martin Bernal, whom | have known as a
respected business owner and active member of our community.

Mr. Bernal is an experienced and dedicated entrepreneur with a remarkable record of

success in the restaurant industry, He understands every aspect of running a business-—
from planning and budgeting to leadership and customer service. His restaurants are not
only financially successful but also known for their welcoming atmosphere and strong i

community presenca,
What stands out most about Mr. Bernal is his professionalism and the respect he shows

toward his employees and clients. He leads by example, emphasizing teamwork,

H
i
H

consistency, and integrity in everything he does.
I am confident that Mr. Bernal will continue to achieve great success in any future

endeavors he pursues. He is a reliable, goal-driven professional whose work ethic and

vision inspire those around him.

«««««««« ’ﬁ__:':;."m— e |
o
Sincerely,

Realtor{ UBeHome Real Estate

Spuece Roges. O

() 12659 Rifey St. Suite 30, Holland, M
49424



Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


- City of Zeeland
Ms. Kristi DeVermey

Zeeland City Cletk DEC 17 2025
City Clerk’s Department .

21 South Elm Street Received
Zeeland, MI 49464

RE: Zeeland City Application — Applicant’s History of Business Activity
Applicant: El Rancho, Inc. #8
Address: 17 E. Main Ave., Zeeland, MI 49464 (City of Zeeland/Ottawa Co.)

Dear Ms. DeVerney:

This document serves as a supplement to the Zeeland City Application and is intended to
disclose to the City the Applicant’s, or its Members’, history of business activity.

Below are a list of Bl Rancho, Inc. #8 Members and their business and financial history:

e Alfredo Melendez Aguirre currently owns nine restaurants in the State of Michigan and
generates miflions of dollars in annual sales.

e Martin Bernal De La Paz currently owns sixteen restaurants in the State of Michigan and
generates millions of dollars in annual sales.

e Antonio Bernal De La Paz owns two restaurants in the State of Michigan and generates
hundreds of thousands of dollars in annual sales.

o Victor Manuel Bernal De La Paz owns four restaurants in the State of Michigan and generates
hundreds of thousands of dollars in annual sales.

Thaok you,
El Rancho, Inc. #8

T T it S E a e e g arme

i
1
¥
1
!
!




CITY OF ZEEFELAND BUILDING PERMIT PERMIT #: PR250103

Building Department Phone: (616) 772-0872  APPLIED:  ISSUED: EXPIRES: ;
218, Elm Si., Zeeland, Ml 40484 Fax: (616) 772-0880  (8/29/2025 10/16/2025 04/14/2026 g
~ [LOCATION OWNER |
70-17-18-356-059 17 EAST MAIN City of Zeeland '_
16 S ELM ST e & A

3 E MAIN AVE | DEC 19 7078
ZEELAND Ml 49464-1701 ZEELAND M 49464
APPLICANT : CONTRACTOR (
LYNNE BLONDELL : (618) 286 7954 || MIDWEST CONSTRUCTION GROUP, INC
PLEASE CALL (816) 772-0872 16 S ELM P (616) 286 7954
(BUILDING & ZONING DEPARTMENT) ZEELAND M! 49484 F (616) 772 6073
24 HOL_)'RS IN ADVANCE FOR AN INSPECTION C (616) 502 5300 }
DIRECTIONS: NE CORNER OF STATE AND MAIN . ZONING: C-2, ON, OFF
WORK DESCRIPTION:  APDITION ! §
BUILDING iS5 TO BE 0 'WIDE BY 0 'LONG 0 ‘HIGH :

AND SHALL CONFORM TO CONSTRUCTION TYPE:

USE GROUP:

PWELLING UNITS 0

REMARKS: :
: _ 1
3,755 5Q FT BUILD OUT OF RESTAURANT. INGLUDES NEW RESTROOMS, DINING AREA, AND KITCHEN

A S e e e e pniE

CONSTRUCTION VALUE: $300,000 CODE: MBC 2015/MRC 2015
This pe}mlt conveys no right fo occupy any street, alley or sidewalk or any part therof, either {emporarily or permanently. Enroachiments on public property, not

specificafly permitted under the bullding code, must be approved by the Jurisdiction. Street or allay grades as well as depth and locatier: of public sewers may
be chiained fram the deparment of public works, The [ssuance of this pernit does not release the applicant from the conditions of any applicabie subdivision

restrictions.

FOR INSPECTIONS Electrical - Gord Bosch - 616.772.0872

Work shall not procead untlf the inspector has approved the GALL: Buiiding - Ron Johnston - 616.772,0872
variols stages of construction. Inspections must be Mechanical - Randy Glass - §16.772,0872
arranged by phone or in persen, Plumbing - Randy Glass - 616.772.0872 : :

Seclion 23a of the State Consfruction Act of 1972, Act No 230 of the Public Acts of 1972, being Section125,1623a of the Michigan Complied Law's prohibits &
persor frem conspiting o cireumyent the licensing requirements of this state relating to parsons who are to perforim work on a residential structura. Violaflons of

Section 23a are subject to civil fines.

Fee Total: $2,558

e P i _
Clomey Sy {5 - " Dminpee Ve, $2,558

“ Buifding Official

e I TS B A e L e A



City of Zeeland

Michigai Departtment ofilcensing and Regulatory Affaies

Ea
Liquor Conirol Cormmission (MLCC) BEC l { ZGZ5
Constitution Hall-525 W. Allegan, Lansing, M1 48933 _
Maillng Address: PG Box 30005, Lansing, Ml 48909 Rece IVEd

Toli Free {856] 813-0041 » www.iichizan.gov/lce
Email: miccservertraining@michigan.gov
Fax: (517) 763-0056

SERVER TRAINING CERTIFICATION - |

An applicant for a new on-premises liconse or transfer of more than 50% interest in an exisfing otpremises
license must file with tha MLGC proof of server fraliing certification for at least supervisory personnel within 180
days of the issuance of the flicense if that is a condition imposed through the approvel order. As a continuing
requirement, the on-preimises ficensee must employ trained supervisory personnel on each shift and during all
hours In which alcohafic fiquor Is served who have been trained through an approved server fraling pragram
undsr MCL 436.1906. Fallure to provide Server Tralning Ceriification may result in fines, suspension, or
revocation of the fcense.

T AT T A L ot e e e e e

LICENSEE NAME AND BUSINESS ADDRESS: REQUEST iD: RQ-2111~19416 ' !
EL JINETE #1, LLC,
1023 E Pickard 5t - :
| Mount Pleasant, Mt 48858-1062

The undersigned certifies that the supervisory personne! listed below have successfully completed an approved :
server fralning pregram under MCL 438.1806,* ' :
| Name: Date of Birth: ] E
- - H

I MIGLIEL BERNAL- COBO | a

I JOSE BERNAL- COBO

ZAIRE GARGIA ‘ - - I

Aliach additional sheets If necessary,

el FE s B ML s st e e e RS

*Required Aftachments: A copy of the server training certification card Issuad by the authorized adminishator
of the server tralning program must be affached. Copies of current and unexplred training cerification cards for
those supervisory personnellisted above and any other supervisary. personnel. empioyed.after. the submissian

of this documentaion must be kept on the licensed premises at alf imes.

- -Hours alcoholic baverages are normally served [Example: 9:00 mm, t0 2:00 anm}
Bynday Monday | Tuesday | Wednesday | Thursday | Fiiday | Safurday

:
'
£
i

Ttam - Gpm [ 11am - 10pm ! 11am - 10pm

tfam - 10pm ’ 1tam - 10pm 11am-10:30pm11am-10:30pi}

The undersigned certifles this Server Training Dato: Telephone Mo.:
Certiflcation complies with the provisions of MCL
436.1501{1} and MCL 4£36,1905, 08/03/2022 %
Licensee Authorized Signafire: - Type or Print Licenses Name: 4
. MARTIN BERNAL
M7 B Ersa,
C-1866 (Rev. 0672014) ’ ' LARA Is an equal oppariunity employer/aregram.
UTHORITY: MGL 486,1501(1), 436,1906 Jruxiary afds, seqvices and other reasonable sccommadalons are

OMPLETION: Mandatary available ppon reduest to individuals with disatiliites.
ENALTY: Fines, suspanslon, ar revocation of ligense _J 4



Tim Klunder
Highlight

Tim Klunder
Highlight


BT

ey

3 0 A A

STATE OF MICHIGAN

G0 LGRS S

[ “Corporations Division Administrator

Rt

Bl

27301510

FILED

CECLICD- 500 ~ ARTICLES Gmﬁgf’g%kfgﬁjd

st DOMESTIC PROFIT CORPOR
pEC 17 2023

. |
. Received

Entity #: 900056399
Filed Date: 7/23/2025

Articles of Incorporation
Fursuant to the provisions of Act 284, Public Acts of 1972, the tindersigned exectifes the following Articles:

Article | - Michigan Profit Corporation Name

Michigan Profit Corporation Name EL RANCHO, INC #8

Article I T e :
The purpose or purposss for which the corporatmn is formed is to engage in any actrvlty within the purposes for which a
corporation may be formed under the Busmess Corpolatlon Act of Mrchlgan Fu!l Service estaurant

Articte Il

Common Shares ;
Preferred Shares
Totat Shares

Article IV

' '4876 144TH AVE
LT AND, M49424

11030 N BROOKRIDGE RD~
| LuBINGTON, MI29431 -

2759 JACRLYN CT.-
HOLLAND Ml 49424

4292 W. 186TH ST
-SI—LERIDAN IN 46069

MARTIN BERNAL -

VICTOR MANUEL BERNAL'DE.LA PAZ

ANTONIO BERNAL

ALFREDO MELENDEZ

Article Vi - (Optional, leave unchecked if not applicable)

[C] when a compromise or arrangement or plan of reorganization of this corporation is proposed between this corporation
and its creditars or any class of them or between this corporation and its shareholders or any class of them, a court of
equity jurisdiction within the state, on application of this corporatior or of a ereditor or sharehelder thereof, or an
application of a receiver appointed for the eorporation, may order a meeting of the creditors of class of creditors or of the
shareholders or class of shareholders to be affected by the proposed compromise or arrangement or reorganization, to he
summornied in such manner as the court directs, If & majority in number representing 3/4 in value of the creditors or class
of creditars, or of the shareholders or class of shareholders to be affected by the proposed compromise or arrangement or
a reorganization, agree ta a compromise or arrangement or a reorganization of this corporation as a consequence of the
compromise or arrangement, the compromise or arrangement of the reorganization, if sanctioned by the court to which
the application has been made, shall be binding on all the creditors or class of creditors, or on all the shareholders or
class of shareholders and also on this corporation,

0FSP-8T50D

UOTSTAT SuoTIeIodiod WEBTUOTW A DPSATEO®YM SEOZ/TZ/L0

i
k
:
\
¢

é
]
H
¥
:




City of Zeelang

BYLAWS OEC 17 2025

OF Received

EL RANCHO, INC #8

ARTICLE I
SHAREHOLDERS

1. Annual Meeting

A meeting of the sharcholders shall be held annually of the election of directors and the transaction of
other business on such date in cach year as many be determine by the board of directors, but in no event
later than 100 days after the anniversary of the date of incorporation of the Corporation.

2, Place of Meetings :
Meetings of the shareholders shall be held at the principal office of the Corporation. E

3. Notice of Meetings

Notice of meeting of the shareholders shall be giving in writing and shall state the place, date and hour of
the mecting and the purpose or purposes for which the mecting is called.

4. Inspectors of Election

The Board of Directors, in advance of any sharcholders meeting, may appoint one or more
inspectors to act at the meeting or any adjournment thereof. If inspectors are not so appointed,
the person presiding at a sharcholders meeting may, and on the request od any shareholder
entitled to vote thereat shall, appointment in advance of the meeting by the Board ot at the
meeting by the person presiding thereat. Each inspector, before entering upen the discharge of
his duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of such inspectors at
such meeting with strict impartiality and according to the best of his ability.

T YA PRI L ALY 01 L Laes e perst = PEE fREAT

R Ll T T N,

5. List of Shareholders at Meetings

A list of the shareholders shall be produce at any meeting of the shareholders upon the request
thereat or prior thereto of any shareholder. If the right to vote at any meeting is challenged, the
inspectors of election, or the person presiding thereat, shall require such list of the shareholders
to be produced as evidence of the right of the persons challenged to vote at such meeting, and all
persons who appear from such list to be shareholders entitled to vote thereat may vote at such
meeting.

i
:
!

6. Qualification of Voters ri

Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, every shareholder of record shall
be entitled at every meeting of the shareholders to one vote for every share standing in ifs name
on the record of the shareholders.

]

Doc ID: 15d4d58ai65acd2c320a8728c55d%ef57ect662




ARTICLE II

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Power of Board and Qualifications of Directors

The business of the Corporation shall be managed by the Board of Directors, Each dirccter shall be
at least eighteen years of age.

2. Resignations

Any director of the Corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Director
or to the President or to the Secretary of the Corporation.

3. Removal of Directors

Any onc or more of the Directors may be removed for cause by action of the Board of Directors. Any or
all of the directors may be removed with or without cause by vote of the shareholders,

ARTICLE I
OFFICERS

1. Election of Officers

The Board of Directors, as soon as many be practical after the annual election of directors, shall elect a
President, a Secretary, and Treasurer, and from the time to time may elect or appeint such other officers
as it may determine. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person. The Board of Directors
may also clect one or more Voce President, Assistant Secretary and Assistant Treasurers.

2. Compensation
The salaries of all officers and agents of the Corporation shall be fixed by the Board of Directors.
ARTICLE IV | | |
CERTIFICATES AND TRANSEFERS OF SHARES

1. Transfers of Shares

Shares of the Corporation shall be transferable on the record of shareholders upon presentment to the
Corporation of a fransfor agent of a cerlificate or certificates representing the shares requested to be
transferred, with proper endorsement on the certificate or on a separate accompanying document,
together with such evidence of the payment of transfer taxes and compliance with other provisions of
laws as the Corporation or ifs transfer agent may require.

Doc ID; 15d4d58af65acd2¢320a8798c55d9elf57ec1662

T e B e e e




ARTICLE V
OTHER MATTERS 2

1. Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the twelve months ending December 31%, or such other peried
as may be fixed by the Board of Directors.

2. Amendments

Bylaws of the Corporation may be adopted, amended, or replaced by vote of the holders of the shares at
the time entitled to vote in the election of any directors. Bylaws may also be adopted, amended, or
repealed by the Board of Directors, but any bylaws adepted by the Board may be amended or repealed
by the shareholders entitled fo vote as herein above provided.

Date:09/05/2025

) HAlfrecls Melendez
Signed

Alfredo Melendez

40% Owner- President

T
Signed KJLW

Martin Bernal

20% Qwner- Vice President

Antonio de Jesus Bernal de la Paz

20% Owner- Treasurer

Signed Vicdov BE’? %]

Victor Manuel Bernal de la Paz

20% Owner- Secretary

:

Dac ID: 15d4d58af6Sacd2c320a8798¢55d9e0f57ec1662



City of Zeelang
BEC 17 2005

Receivad
RETAIL LEASE - TRIPLE NET

THIS LEASE has been made and entered into as of July 1, 2025 (“Effective Date”), by and
between 17 EAST MAIN, LLC, a Michigan Limited Liability Company, ("Landlord") and El
Rancho, Inc. #8 ("Tenant").

WITNESSETH:

In consideration of the mutual undertakings herein contained, and intending to be legally
bound, Landlord and Tenant agree as follows:

ARTICIE 1
Definitions

1.1 Definitions. When used in this Lease, the following defined terms shall carry the
definitions which follow them, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary:

A. “Commencement Date” means the date on which Landlord delivers
possession of the Premises to Tenant in the condition required herein.

B. "Common Areas" means all portions of the Project available for
commen use and not intended to be leased, such as parking areas and sidewalls.

C. "Lease Year" means the 12-month period beginning on Commencemetit
Date of each year and ending each year on the day before the anniversary date of
the Commencement Date.

- D, - "Operating Costs" means the aggregate of all direct and indirect
costs of owning, operating, administering, maintaining, repairing, replacing, and
improving the Project; provided, however, that each of the following shall be
excluded from Operating Costs: (1) the original costs of constructing the building
in which the Premises are located (“Building”); (2) the cost of any capital
improvement, addition or replacement to the Building (or reserves therefor); (3)
expenses for which the Landlord is or will be reimbursed by another source
(excluding Tenant reimbursement for operating expenses), including but not
limited to repair or replacement of any item covered by warranty; (4) costs incurred
to benefit (or as a result of) a specific tenant or items and services selectively
supplied to any specific tenant; (5) depreciation and amortization of the Building
or financing costs, including interest and principal amortization of debts; (6) costs
of improving or renovating space for a tenant or space vacated by a tenant; (7) any
amounts expended by Landlord to comply with any environmental laws; (8) costs

B L e T L WU

G 4 e ¢ e



to correct original or latent defects in the design, consiruction or equipment of the
Building; (9) expenses paid directly by any tenant for any reason (such as excessive
wtility use); (10) any expenses incurred (i) to comply with any governmental
regulations and tules or any court order, decree or judgment including, without
limitation, the Americans with Disabilities Act; or (i) as a result of Landlord's
alleged violation of or failure to comply with any governmental regulations and
rules or any court order, decree or judgment; (11) leasing commissions, advertising
expenses and other costs incurred in leasing or procuring new tenants; (12) rental
on ground Jeases or other underlying leases; (13) attorneys' fees, accounting fees
and expenditures incurred in connection with tax contests or ne gotiations, disputes
and claims of other tenants or occupants of the Building or with other third parties
except as specifically provided in the Lease; {14) management fees in excess of 5%
of Base Rent for the Project over the same period of time; (15) amounts billed
(directly or indirectly) for Landlord’s employee salaries; (16) costs and expenses
which are expressly stated herein to be borne by Landlord.

E. "Premises” means that space in the Project shown outlined on
Exhibit A attached hercto and located at 3424 Chicago Drive, Suite 100,
Hudsonville MT 49426, The Premises contains approximately 4,170 gross square
feet, which includes 3,755 square fect of usable space and 415 square fest of

COEMINOn arca,

F. "Project" means the Property and all improvernents and installations
located or to be located thereon, as the same may be modified, altered, expanded or
reduced from time to time.

G. "Property” means the real estate described on Exhibit B hercto.

H. "Rent" means Base Rent, Additional Rent and all other amounts or
charges payable by Tenant under any provision of this Lease, all of which shall be
deemed payable by Tenant in consideration of the demise of the Premises.

L. “Rent Commencement Date” means the earlier of the date that is 90
days after the Commencement Date or the date that is 30 days after the date on
which Tenant opens for business.

IR "Taxes" means all real estate taxes and assessments (general or
special) of every kind and nature and other or similar charges levied or billed by
any governmental unit during the Term in respect of the Project or the Premises, or
both, or any part thereof; provided, however, that in the case of special agsessments
payable in instaliments, only current installments shall be included in the definition
of Taxes for any one calendar year, Landlord makes no representation as to whether
Taxes are paid in advance or in airears and, for the purposes of this Lease, only

i
:
:
i

AERAI Pl et Sl s g B e er® e o et e 4

R Ty Rt e e e eere et et

N I A RS IO LA o IR L e e A

;
;
i
H
¢
&
i
!



refers to levied or billed date. Taxes shall also include any governmental charge
levied in lieu of all or any part of the foregoing. A majority of tenants af the Project
may, at their sole cost and expense, contest Taxes with the assessing governmental :
authority. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, the term “Taxes” exptessiy -
excludes any income taxes of the Landlord and any penalties or fees resulting from <
the late payment of Taxes.

K. “Tenant's Pro Rata Share" means 44.13%, which has been calculated 9_
based on the tatio of square footage within the Premises to the square footage of
the first floor of the Project, Tenant’s pro rata share of the entire building is 14.71%.

1.2 Gender; Singular and Phural. Whenever in this Lease words, including pronouns, are
used in the masculine, they shall be read in the feminine ot neuter whenever they would so apply _'
and vice versa, and words in this Lease that are singular shall be read as plural whenever the Iatter ;

would so apply and vice versa. E_

ARTICLE 2

Demise of Premises; Possession ;

2.1 Demise of Premises; Term; Renewal

(a) Landlord leases the Premises to Tenant, and Tenant hires the Premises :

from Landlord, on the terms and subject to the conditions contained herein, for a i
term of ten (10) years, beginning on the Commencement Date and ending on !
October 15, 2035 (the "Termination Date"), unless sooner terminated as provided :
herein (the "Term").
i

(b) Provided that no un-cured defautt by the Tenant shall have occurred
hereunder, Tenant shall have the option to renew the Lease for three (3) additional
terms of five (5) years each (cach, a "Renewal Term"). Tenant shall exercise its
option by notifying Landlord in writing no more than 270 days and no less than 180
days prior to the expiration of the initial lease Term or then applicable Renewal
Term, as the case may be. The Base Rent for the first Lease Year of the first
Renewal Term shall be equal to the Base Rent for the last Lease Year of the initial
lease Term, increased by 2.5%. Thereafter, Base Rent for each subsequent Lease
Year shall be adjusted upward annually by two and a haif percent (2.5%). The other
terms and conditions of this lease that are in effect during the last month of the
initial lease Term shall remain in full force and effect during any such renewal term,
except that this lease shall not be further renewed except as set forth herein.

L
]
¢
i
E
:

(¢) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant’s
obligations herein are subject to and conditioned upon receipt of approval from the [
City of Zeeland (“City Approval”), receipt of approval from the State of Michigan ;
(“State Approval”), and written lifetime authorization from the North Street 5
Christian Reformed Church, located at 20 E Main Ave, Zeeland, Michigan 49464



(“Chuzch Approval™) (collectively, “Approval) of Tenant’s purchase of a Class C
liquor license at a price and on terms reasonably acceptable to Tenant {“Tenant
Contingency™). Tenant shall have a period of one undred eighty (180) days from
the Effective Date (“Contingency Period”) to secute Approval, At such time as
Tenant secures Approval, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a leiter releasing the
Tenant Contingency (“Tenant Contingency Release Letter”). Tenant shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain Approval within 90 days and will keep
Landlord fully informed as to the status of the License application approval process.
In the event the Tenant does not receive Approval on or before the expiration of the
Contingency Period, Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease or extend
the Contingency Period for an additional thirty (30) days (“Extension Period™) if
Tenant has a reasonable and good faith belief that Approval will be obtained duting
the Extension Period by delivering to Landlord, not less than five (5) business days
following the expiration of the Contingency Period, a written notice of the election
to terminate the Lease or extend the Contingency Period (“Termination Notice” or
“Extension Notice”, as applicable). Upon Landlord’s receipt of a Termination
Notice, Landlord shall retum to ‘Tenant the full amount of the Security Deposit and
this Lease shall texminate and be of no further force or effect. If the Contingency
Period is extended, Tenant shall have the same right to terminate at the end of the
Fxtension Period that was applicable to the initial Contingency Period in the event
that Approval has not been obtained during the Extension Period.

2.2 Use of Premiges.

(a) Tenant shall use and occupy the Premises for the following purpose, and

for no other purpose, except with Landlord's prior written consent {which may be

granted or withheld by Landlord in its sole discretion): restaurant with Liquor sales
and an outdoor patio area,

{b) Tenant shall not use the Premises, or permit the Premises to be used, for
the sale of any food or alcoholic beverages except as expressty permitted under the
purposes set forth herein. Tenant shall not use the Premises, or permit the Premises
{0 be used, in a manner that constitutes a violation of any applicable law, order,
ordinance, or regulation or that may be dangerous or creates a significant risk of
contaminating the Property or an adjoining property with a hazardous or toxic waste
or substance. Tenant shall not use the Premises, and shall not permit other persons
10 use the Premises, in 2 manner which would cause Landlord's fire and extended
coverage insurance premiums or other insurance premiums to be increased or which
would cause Landlord's fire and extended coverage insurance or other insurance to
be canceled. Any violation of the tetms of this Paragraph 2.2 shall constitute an
event of default under the terms of this Lease.

2.3 Possession,

(a) Possession of the Premises will be granted to Tenant on or before
September 1, 2025 (“l'arget Date”). If possession of the Premises shall for any

f
E

o e e £ R R EE TR AN, TN AP T8 At et



reason not be delivered to Tenant on the Target Date, this Leaso shall nevertheless
continue in foll force and effect, and no liability whatsocver shall arise against
Landlord out of any delay except in the case of delay not cansed by Tenant or its
Agents, employees, contractors, guests, or licensees there shall be an abatement of
rent, at the rate of one-thirtieth (1/30th} of the monthly installment of the Base Rent
for each day of delay, until possession of the Premises is delivered to Tendnt;
provided, however, that the Lease shall be voidable at the Tenant’s option if
possession of the Premu,e.s is not delivered to Tenant in the condition required
herein on or before De 025, If Tenant shall take possesswn of any part
of the Premises before the Commencement Date, such possession shall be governed
by the provisions of this Lease, except that Tenant shall pay Landlord, as rent, ore-
thirtieth (1/30th) of the monthly installment of the Base Rent for each day of the
period of such occupancy. Neither the Tetm nor any other provision of this Lease
shall be affected by Tehant's prior occupancy, which shall oceur only with the
written permission of the Landlord.

(b) Subject to the provisions in Paragraph 2.3(a), Tenant's obligation to pay
Rent shall commence on the date Tenant obtains the Class C liquor license, as
detailed in Section 2.1(c), and no liability, by abatement of Rent or otherwise; shall
arise against Landlord as a result of delays i occupaney caused by decoration or
oftier work on the Premises done by or at the request of Tenant.

2.4 Condition of Preniises; Representations. Tenant shall be entitled to inspect the
Premises prior to accepting delivery thereof, and any defective conditions or deviation from the
Landlord’s Work shall be addressed in a punch-list between Landlord and Tenant. Except as
Landlord and Tenant may otherwise agree in such punch-list, Tenant's cniry into possession shall
constitute conclusive evidence against Tenant that it has inspected the Premises and found them
to be in good order and satisfactory condition at the time of entry and that Tenant has accepied the

_Premises in theit then "as is" condition._Except as expressly.set forth herein, neither Landlord nor.._

Landlord's agents have made any representations or promises with respect to the physical condition
of the Premises or any other portion of the Project, Operating Costs or any other matter pertaining
to the Project or the Premises,

2.5 Quiet Enjoyment. Landlord covenants and agrees with Tenant that upon Tenant's
paying the Rent and observing and performing all the terms, covenarits and conditions to be
performed and observed, Tenant may peacsably and quietly enjoy the Premises hereby leased.

ARTICLE 3

Rent and Other Charges

3.1 Base Rent.

(a) Tenant shall pay to Iandlord, as rent for the first Lease Year of the Term,
the sum o (the "Base ¢ Rent"). The Base Rent shall be payable in equal
monthly installments of $ . ‘ each, commencing on the Rent Commencement

|
|

ot 1 A== E AR

H
i

Ry

AT A Y U e e

&
!
i
'
i
i



Tim Klunder
Highlight


Date of this Lease and due on or before the first of each month thereafier, unless
Section 2.3 above has become applicable, and except as provided for below in (b).
The Base Rent of § shall be adjusted annually upward by two and a half
percent (2.5%) of the Base Rent for the preceding lease year, which rent as adjusted
shall become the Base Rent.

(b) Bach monthly installment of Base Rent shall be payable in advance on
or before the fitst day of cach calendar month during the Term at such place as the
Landlord shall from time to time designate. If this Lease commences other than on
the fitst day of & calendar month, monthly instaliments of Base Rent for the first

and last months of the Term shall be prorated,

3.2 Taxes and Operating Costs.

(a) As Additional Rent, Tenant shall pay fo Landiord Tenant's Pro Rata
Share of all Operating Costs incurred and Taxes in accordance with paragraph
3.2(b). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs
and Taxes for the first Lease Year shall be capped at 8 per square foot, which
shall equate to § "} annually and $ per month. There will be an
annual true-up of Operating Costs and Taxes, which shall be subject to a cap equal
to the lesser of (i) two and a half percent (2.5%) or (ii) the annual percentage
increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPIL)

{b) Not later than December 15 of each year, Landlord shall furnish Tenant
- with a written estimate of Operating Costs and Taxes for the following calendar
year, together with an aunual and monthly breakdown of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share
of such Operating Costs and Taxes, The monthly amount of Tenant’s Pro Rata
- - Share of Operating Costs and Taxes shall be paid each month with Base Rent. Not
- later than February 1 of each year, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a statement,
with reasonable supporting documentation, detailing the actual Operating Costs and
"Taxes for the previous calendar year, the actual amount of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share
of Operating Costs and Taxes for the previous calendar year, and the amount Tenant
paid during the previous calendar year as Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating
Costs and Taxes. If the actual amount of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating
Costs and Taxes for the previous calendar year exceeds the amount Tenant paid as
Tenani’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs and Taxes for the previous calendar
year, Tenant shall pay the difference to Landlord within thirty (30) days of Tenant’s
receipt of the written statement. If the amount paid as Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of
Operating Costs and Taxes for the previous calendar year exceeds the actual
amount of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs and Taxes for the previous
calendar year, Landlord shall pay the difference to Tenant within thirty (30) days
of Tenant’s receipt of the written statement.

(c) Tenant shall pay, before any penalty or interest attaches, all personal
property taxes levied or assessed against Tenant's personal property and shall, upon
request, furnish to Landlord evidence of such payment.

‘
j
i

1
H
13
1
i
£
¥
i
H



(d) Landlord shall keep, at its offices, books and records of all Operating
Costs and Taxes. Such books and records will be available for Tenant’s inspection
at all reasonable times, during business hours, and at any time during the term of
this Lease. If any such inspection discloses that the amount paid by Tenant in any
calendar yeat was overstated, Landlord shall refund such excoss amount to Tenant
within thitty (30) days after receipt of Tenant’s demand therefore. In the event that
it is determined that Operating Costs and Taxes were overstated by five percent
(5%) or more, Landlord shall pay the reasonable cost of Ténant’s inspection.

3.3 Utilities. Tenant shall be responsible for the cost of all utilities used in the Premises.
Landlord, at ifs soh_a cost and expense, shall connect the Premises to and with all 1'§quj1‘ed utilities,
including without limitation, water, sewes, electric and gas, each of which shall be separately
metered. :

3.4 Security Deposit, Tenant shall pay one month’s rent | | af lease
signing.

3.5 Late Charges. In addition to any other rights Landlord might have, Landlord shall
charge and Tenant shall pay a late fee of five percent (5%) of any Rent which is ten (10) days or
more past due. Acceptance of any late charge shall not constitute a waiver of Tenant's default with
respect to the overdue amount. An additional fee of $25.00 shall be charged for each check

returned to Landlord unpaid.

3.6 Interest on Rent, Rent which is not paid when due shall bear interest from the date due
until paid at 7 rate equal fo seven percent (7%) per annum. The payment of such interest shall not
excuse or cure aity default by Tenant under this Lease, Such interest shall be in addition to, and
not in lieu of, any late charge imposed.

3.7 Setoff: Obligation to Survive; Ap{aiication of Payments.

(a) Except as expressly permitfed herein, any Rent due under this Lease
shall be paid by Tenant when due without any setotf] deduction, abatement,
reduction or counterclaim whatsoever. Tenant's obligation to pay Rent that is
accrned and unpaid hereunder shall survive the expiration or termination of the

Lease.

(b} Payments received from Tenant shall be applied by Landlord as follows:
First, fo any late charges due; then to accrued interest; then to other charges due
and unpaid; then to Additional Rent; then to Base Rent.

ARTICLE 4

Use of Common Arsas

:
i
;
i
£
§
;
;
:
!
i



4.1 Use of Common Areas. Landlord hereby grants fo Tenant the nenexclusive right to
nse the Common Areas solely for the purposes for which they were designed, subject to the

following conditions:

(a) The Common Areas may also be used by anyone else to whom Landlord
has or may hereafter in its sole discretion grant the right to use them;

(b) Tenant shall make no use of the Common Areas which would interfere
in any way with the use of the Common Areas by any other person; -

(¢) Landlord shall have the right from time to time in its sole discretion to |
close, repair and modify the Common Areas, to change the location or character of -
them, and to adopt reasonable rules and regulations pertaining to them (which rules
and regulations must be provided to Tenant in writing not less than 30 days before
the effective date of such rules and regulations); provided, however, that such
closures, repairs, modifications or changes to the Common Areas shall not interfere
with Tenant’s permitted use of or access to the Premises, or with the visibility of

the Premises.

(d) Tenant and its employees shall park their vehicles only in those portions u
of the parking area reasonably designated for that purpose by Landlord. Landlord
covenants that the number of parking spaces available to Tenant, its employees and
customers shall equal or exceed the minimum number of parking spaces required
under the applicable zoning ordinance. ;

(¢) Tenant and its employees, contractors, agents, invitees, and assigns shall
abide by reasonable rules and regulations pertaining to the Common Areas (again,
which must be provided to Tenant in writing not less than 30 days before the
effective date of such rules and regulations),

4.2 Maintenance and Control. Landlord shall maintain and have the authority to operate
and control the Common Areas.

ARTICLE S

Preparation of the Premises

5.1 Landlord’s Work and Tenant's Work.

(2) The work described in this subsection (a) shall be referred to as
“T andlord’s Work” and shall consist of delivering the Premises to Tenant in a white
box condition. All Landlord’s Work shall be provided by Landlord at its sole cost
and expense and to the reasonable satisfaction of Tenant. Upon execution of this
Lease, Landlord shall provide a scaled drawing of the Premises so the Tenant may
sketeh out its desired floor plan. Once an agreed upon layout is approved by both
partics, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed by Landlord,

ot i A s RO T WY L SRS i T PR T s a Lt e



plans and specs based on such approved layout shall be provided by the Landlord
at its cost. Landlord shall demise the premises per the mutually agreed upon floor
plan, which shall include at a minimum.: [one coat of primer paint, one simall office,
one kitchen area plumbed with water and gas for Tenant’s kitchen equipment (list
to be forthcoming), 2 x 4 standard t-bar grid drop ceiling with washable kitchen
rated tiles (in kitchen area only) and standard florescent light fixtures, ceiling in the
dining area to be open painted ceiling, sprinkler system to code, colored concrete
floors in bar, dining room and resirooms, kitchen floor to be quarry tiled, FRI walls
in kitchen, two ADA compliant restrooms meeting all applicable municipal codes.]
Men’s room to include a minimum of (1) water closet, (1)} urinal and (1) lavatory.
Women’s room o include a minimum of (2) water closets and (1) lavatory,
[Plumbing to be brought fo the bar area and kitchen area specifically, A mop sink
to be provided if required by code]. Landlord to provide HVAC adequate for a
4,000 square foot restaurant use per local code as well as 400 amp electrical service
within the Premises. Tenant to provide in its sketch drawing of Premises all
olectrical outlets needed and Landlord to provide for such. Landlord to obtain all
required building and occupancy permits. Landlord to install Tenant’s hood systein,
kitchen equipment and all lighting fixtures. Landlord to provide and install the
water heater for the restaurant, bathroom partitions in each bathroom, and lighting
for the dining room. Landlord to frame in the custom bar and host stand. Any
warranties associated with Landlord’s Work shall be assigned to Tenant upon the
Commencernent Date. Landlord’s Work shall be completed as shown on Schedule

5.1(a) to this Lease.

(b) The work described in this subsection (b) shail be referred to as
“Tenant’s Work.” Tenant shall be solely responsible for all intetior renovations,
including but not limited to providing all kifchen equipment, custom bar,
host/check out table, bar and dining area firniture and dining room lighting fixtures,
and theme custom painting at its sole cost and expenses. Tenant shall provide all
kitchen equipment, which shall be hooked up by Landiord’s licensed contractors.
Tevant shall provide and install tile and tops for the bar and host stand theme
custom painting. All Tenant’s Work shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written
approval, which shall not be unrsasonably withheld or delayed. Tenant’s Work
shall be completed as shown on Schedule 5.1(b) to this Lease.

5.2 Covenant Against Liens. Nothing in this Lease shall avthorize Tenant to, and Tenant
shall not, do any act which will in any way encumber the title of Landlord in and to the Premises,
nor shall the interest or estate of Landlord in the Premises be in any way subject to any claim
whatsoever by virtue of any act or omission of Tenant. Any claim to a lien upon the Premises
arising from any acl or omission of Tenant shall be valid only against Tenant and shall in all
respects be subordinate to the title and rights of Landlord, and any person claiming through
Landlord, in and to the Premises. Tenant shall remove any lien or encumbrance on its interest in
the Premises within 30 days after it has arisen; provided, however, that Tenant may in good faith
contest any such item if it notifies Landlord in writing thereof and posts a bond or other adequate

security with Landloxd.

;
j
z
:
;\.
:

e AT AT BT TR oo T P et 5t R B eoat e e

LomATer M T TR e



ARTICLE 6
Alterationg

6.1 Alterations by Tenant,

(a) Except as permitted by Article 5 or required by Section 7.1, Tenant shall
not, without the prior written consent of Landliord (which will not be umeasonably
withheld or delayed), make any alterations, improvements, additions or physical
changes (hereinafter referred to as "alterations") to the Premises,

(b) Unless Landlord otherwise directs in writing, all alterations made or
installed by Tenant (including moveable equipment and trade fixtures) shall be
removed by Tenant from the Premises at the termination of this Lease.

(¢} Approved Tenant alterations shall be subject to the provisions of Article
5 above, as if they were "Tenant's Work".

6.2 Signs.

(a) Tenant shall be granted signage rights on one side of the building as well as an
insert panel on the building marquee at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Signage must

conform to City of Zeeland’s regulations.

{b) Immediately following the Effective Date, the Landlord shall install a “[Sign
Language]” sign on the property.

6.3 Additional Construction by Landlord. Landlord reserves the right at any time to make
alterations, expansions or additions to the Project; provided, however, that such alterations,
expansions and additions, and the construction of the same, shall not interfere with Tenant’s
permitted use of or access to the Promises, or with the visibility of the Premises. Tenant shall be
responsible for one hundred percent (100%) of the constraction costs (“Consiruction Costs™), with
fifty percent (50%) of the Construction Costs to be paid directly to Midwest Construction Group,
LLC. Within forty-five (45) days from the commencement of construction, Tenant shall pay

toward the Construction Costs, with the balance of the amount due to Midwest
Construction Group, LLC to be paid upon the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy. The
remaining fifty percent (50%) of the Construction Costs shall be paid to Landlord in equal monthly
installments over the ten (10) year term of this Lease, with interest at a rate of seven percent (7%)
per annum, This amount may be prepaid in full or in part at any time without penalty.

ARTICLE 7

Repairs

7.1 Repait and Maintenance of Premises. Exceptas provided in _Section 7.2 below, Tenant
shall at its expense keep and maintain the Premises, and each component of the Premises, in a



Tim Klunder
Highlight


good, clean and safe operating condition. Tenant's obligations shall include, but not necessarily
be limited to, the replacement of broken glass and the cleaning, repair and maintenance (including
all necessary replacements) of all doors, windows and store-office fronts, the interior portions of
the Premises, and all mechanical, electrical, plumbing and sprinkler systems (collectively,
“Building Systems”) that exclusively serve the Premises, any building security system that
exclusively services the Premises and all other interior components of the Premises. During the
first T.ease Year, Landlord shall be responsible for any required maintenance, repair and/or
replacement with rospect to any HVAC system that exclusively services the Premises, and
thoreafter Tenant shali be respansible for 100% of the cost of repairs/maintenance/replacement of
such HVAC system, except to the extent such repairs/maintenance/replacement is necessary
because the HVAC sysiem is inadequate for the Premises or because of the negligent acts or
omissions of the Landlord, its agents or employees, Commencing on the first anniversary of the
Effective Date, Tenant shall be responsibie for the first $500 of repairs and maintenance to all
mechanicals. In the event the Premises or the Project is damaged due to the negligent acts or
omissions of the Tenant or its employees, agents, contractors or invitees, the cost of repairing such
damage shall be the responsibility of the Tenant. Tenant shall be responsible for its own garbage
and trash removal. All garbage and trash dumpsters shall be located in areas designated by
Landlord, and Landlord shall have the right to approve of any parbage or trash hauler used by
Tenant. The Tenant shall be responsible for all snow and ice removal from the walk area adjacent

to the Premises.

7.2 Structural Repairs. Landlord shall at its expense keep the foundation, exterior walls,
the roof, the Common Areas, all Building Systems that are not exclusive to the Premises, and all
load-bearing portions of the Project, in a good, clean and safe operating condition throughout the
Term. Landlord shall be responsible for snow and ice removal from the parking areas and
sidewalks within the Project, and for all lawn care and landscaping, the cost of which ghall be
included within Operating Costs. However, Landlord may recover from Tenant the cost of any
such repairs occasioned by the tortious acts or gross negligence of Tenant, its agents, employees,
invitces, guests or licensees, except fo the extent that Landlord is reimbursed therefore under any
policy of insurance. Except where caused by the tortious acts or gross negligence of Landlord, its
agents or employees, Landlord shall be neither liable nor responsible for any loss that may accrue
to Tenant or Tenant's business by reason of Landlord's actions in fulfiiling its obligations
hereunder. Landlord shall not be required to make any other improvements or repairs of any kind

upon the Premises.

ARTICLE 8
Tenant's Covenants; Landlord's Lien

8.1 Laws, Ordinances and General Conditions.

(a) Landlord shall deliver the Premises to Tenant in full compliance with ail
laws, ordinances, orders and regulations affecting the Premises. Thereafter,
Tenant, at its expense, shall comply promptly with (i) ali laws, ordinances, orders
and regulations affecting its usc or occapancy of the Premises or any alterations it

;
.{
s
?




has made to the Project or the Premises; and (ii) the recommendations of any
insurance company, inspection bureau or similar agency with respect thereto.

(b) Tenant shall pay as Additional Rent any increase in the cost of insurance
on the Project as a result of any unauthorized use of the Premises by Tenant, but
such payment shall not constitute in any manner a waiver by Landlord of its right
to enforce all of the covenants and provisions of this Lease.

8.2 Landlord’s Lien.

(2) To secure the payment of all moneys due under this Lease, Landlord is
hereby granted a security interest in any and all rents from Tenant's subtenants or
agsignees, if any, and in all Tenant's equipment, inventory, merchandise, fixtures,
trade fixtures and other personal property, and all proceeds thereof, which may at
any time be upon or affixed to the Premises. Contemporaneous with the execution
of this Lease, and at such other times as Landlord may request, Tenant agrees to
execute and deliver to Landlord financing statements and such other documents as
may be required to perfect the security interest of Landlord granted herein.

(b) The security interests granted Landlord hereby are and shall be
subordinate to any bona fide perfected purchase money security interest that Tenant
may wish to create. Tenant shall not remove any of its trade fixtures or other
property encusibered by this Section 8.2 from the Premises without the prior
written consent of Landloxd.

ARTICLE 9

Damage to Premises; Eminent Domain; Indemniiy, Insurance

9.1 Destruction--Fire or Other Cause.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Subsection 9.1(b) below, if the Premises
shall be rendered untenantable by fire or other casualty, Landlord shail (to the
extent of available insurance proceeds) restore them and make them tenantable as
soon as possible.. Except in the case of damage caused by Tenant or its agents,
employees, contractors, guests or licensees, Rent shall abate during the period of
untenantability in proportion to the area of the Premises rendered untenantable. All
such restoration shall be completed within 90 days of seftlement with Landlord's
insurance carriers or Tenant shafl, as its sole remedy, be entitled to terminate this

FLease.

(b) If the Premises or Project shall be so damaged by fire or other casualty
that demolition or substantial reconstruction (more than 40% of their initial cost) is
required, or if the reconstructions is likely to take longer than 130 days, then
Landlord or Tenant may terminate this Lease by notifying the other of such

E
i
&
.i
b
§
g




texmination within thirty (30) days after the date of such damage. Rent shail be
prorated to the date Tenant actually vacates the Premises.

(c) Tenant shall immediately notify Landlord of the occurrence of a fire or
other casnalty at the Premises and shall at its expense restore or replace its personal
property, fixtures and tenant improvements. There shall be no abatement of Rent
during any delay caused by the failure of Tenant to complete its restoration and

repair work,

9.2 Fminent Domain. If ail or any material part of the Premises shall be taken or
condemned by any competent authority for any public use or purpose, the Term shall, at the option
of Landlord, end as of the date of the actual taking. If the Premises may not reascnabty be used
for the purpose contemplated by the Jease following any taking, Tenant may terminate this Lease
by written notice to Landlord within 60 days after receiving notice of the taking. In either case,
there shall be no apportionment to Tenant of any portion of the award or damages for such taking;
provided, howevet, that Tenant shall be entitled to any funds awarded it for moving expenses or
business interruption. This Lease shail otherwise remain in full force and effect without
apportionment to Tenant of any portion of the award or damages.

Tn the event of a termination pursuant to this Section 9.2, Rent shall be apportioned
to the date of such termination.

9.3 Indemnification; Tenant's Property.

(2) Tenant shall indemnify Landlord and their respective employees and
agents against and hold it harmless from any and all liabilities, obligations,
damages, penalties, claims, costs and expenses, including reasonable actual
attorney's fees, paid ot incurred as a result of or in connection with (i) Tenant's use
or occupancy of the Premises, (i) any breach by Tenant, any subtenant, or any of
thoir agents, contractors, employees, customers, invitees, ar licensees, of any
covenant or condition of this Lease, or (iii) any negligent act or omission of the
Tenant, any subtenant, or any of their agents, contractors, employees, customers,
invitees, or licensees. If any action or proceeding is brought against Landlord by
reason of any such claim, Tenant, upon written notice from Landlord will, at
Tenant's expense, resist or defend such action ox proceeding by counsel approved

by Landlord in writing.

(b) Tenant shall bring or keep property upon the Premises solely at its own
risk, and Landlord shall under any circumstances be liable for any damages theteto
or any destruction or theft thereof, Tenant shall be required, on or before the
Occupancy Date, to purchase and maintain an All-Risk Contents/Personal Property
Insurance policy on improvements, merchandise, inventory, confents, furniture,
fixtures, equipment, all plate glass upon or appurtenani to the Premises, and other
properly located in the Premises, protecting Tenant from damage or other loss
caused by fire or other ingurable peril, including without limitation vandalism and
malicious mischief, perils covered by extended coverage, theft, sprinkler leakage,

I
§
;
;
;
;
I
s
E



water damage, explosion, malfunction or failure of heating and cooling ot sirnilax
appazatus, and other similar risks, in amounts to cover 100% of the replacement
cost of such property. The insurance policy shall contain a clanse or endorsement
under which the insurer waives, or permits the waiver by Tenant of ali right of
subrogation against Landiord and their respective agents, employees, customers,
invitees, guests, or licenses, with respect to losses payable under the policy. Tenant
hereby waives all right of recovery which it might otherwise have against Landlozd,
and its agents, employees, customiers, invitees, guesis, or licensees for any damage
to Tenant's property which is {or by the terms of this Lease is required to be)
covered by a policy of insurance, notwithstanding that such damage may result
from the negligence or fault of Landlord, or its agents, employees, customers,
invitees, guests, or licensees. Any deductible amount included in such policy shall
be treated as though it were recoverable under the policy. .

9.4 Tnsurance. By this section, and by the applicable portions of Section 9.3 above, _
Landlord, and Tenant intend that the risk of loss or damages as described shall be borne by

responsible insurance carriers to the extent provided.

(a) Landlord shail insure the Project against loss or damage under a policy
ot policies of casualty insurance for the full replacement value of the Project. Such
policies shall include a waiver of subrogation clause or endorsement similar fo that
required of Tenant in Section 9.3(b) above. Further, Landlord shall maintain a _
policy of commercial general lability insurance on the Common Areas of the ©
Project in an amount at least equal to $1,000,000 per occurrence for property
damage, bodily injury or death. The commercial general liability insurance policy
shall name Tenant as an additional insured at no cost to it.

(b) Tenant shall be required on or before the Commencement Date fo
purchase and maintain workers' compensation insurance covering all of its
cmployees to at least the statotory limit set forth under Michigan law, employet's
liability insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000, and a policy of commercial
general liability insurance in an amount at least equal to $1,000,000 per cccurrence
for property damage, bodily injury or death. The commercial general liabilily
instrance policy shall name Landlord as additional insureds at no cost to them, ghall
state that the insurance is primary insuratice as regards any other insurance carried
by Landlord, and shall be underwritten by a carrier and on such other terms and
conditions as Landlord shall approve. It shall provide by endorsement or otherwise
that such insurance may not be canceled, terminated, amended, or modified for any
reason whatsocver, except upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Landlord.
Prior to the time such workers' compensation and general public liability insurance
is first required to be carried by Tenant, and thereafter at least fiftecn (15) days prior
to the expiration of any such policy, Tenant shall deliver to Landiord either D
duplicate originals of the aforesaid policies or a certificate evidencing such -
insurance coverage, together with evidence of payment for the policies. ifa :
certificate is provided, it shall contain a statement substantially in the form of the " ‘

undcrlined portion of this paragraph.

T AR AR i e

T g R R A 1 LT R~ PR A PR P 519 A A3 VT S AT et o g B LY T Pt e




ARTICLE 10

10.1 Landlord’s Remedies. If Tenant shall fail to make any payment of any Rent due
hereunder within ten (10) days following written receipt of notice of such failure, or if default shall
continue in the performance of any of the other covenants or conditions which Tenant is required
to observe and perform under this Lease for a period of thirty (30) days following written notice
of such failure, or if the interest of Tenant in this Lease shali be levied upon under the execution
or other legal process, ot if any petition shall be filed by or against Tenant in a court of bankruptey,
or if Tenant shall be declared insolvent according to law, or make an assignment for the benefit of
creditors or petition for or enter into an arrangement, or if Tenant shall abandon or vacate the
Premises during the Term of this Lease without paying the required rent and fees, or if Tenant
shall dissolve, die or become legally incompetent, or if Tenant shall cease to entirely own all
business operations being carried on upon the Premises, then Landlord may, but need not, treat the
accutrence of any one or more of the foregoing events as a breach of this Lease, and therenpon
may, at its option, without notice or demand of any kind to Tenant or any ofher person, have any
one or more of the following-described remedies in addition to all other rights and remedies

provided at law or in equity:

(a) Terminate this Lease, repossess the Premises in accordance with the
provisions of Section 10.2 hereof, and be entitled to recover immediately, as
liquidated agreed final damages, in lien of any further deficiencies, the total amount
due to be paid by Tenant during the balance of the Term of this Lease, less the fair
rental value of the Premises for said period, together with any other sum of money
owed by Tenant to Landtord.

(b} Terminate Tenant's right of possession and repossess the Premises
through process of law and without terminating this Lease, in which case Landlord
may, but need not, relet all or any part of the Premises for such rent and upon such
terms as shall be satisfactory to Landlord. If Landiord fails to relet the Premises
despite using commercially reasonable efforts, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord
as damages the total amount due to be paid by Tenant during the balance of the
Term of this Lease less the fair rental value of the Premises for said period. if the
Premises are relet and a sufficient sum shall not be realized from the reletting, after
*  payment of all reasonable and necessary costs and expenses of such reletting, to
satisfy the Rent herein provided to be paid during the remainder of the Term, Tenant
shall satisfy and pay any such deficiency upon demand. Tenant agrees that
Landlord may file suit to recover any sums falling due under the terms of this
paragraph from time fo time and that any suit or recovery of any portion due
Landlord hereunder shall be no defense to any subsequent action brought for any
amount theretofore reduced to judgment in favor of Landtord.

10.2 Termination, Surrender of Possession,




(a) Upon the expiration or termination of this Lease, whether by lapse of
time, operation of law or pursuant to the provisions of this Lease, Tenant shall:

() Restore the Premises, at Tenant's sole cost, to their condi-
ton at the beginning of the Term (othet than as contemplated by
Section 6.1 above), ordinary wear and tear excepted, remove all of
its petsonal property and trade fixtures from the Premises and the
Project and repair any damage caused by such removal;

(ii) Surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord in a
broom-clean condition;

(iif) Upon the request of Landlord, at Tenant's cost and
expense, remove from the exterior and interior of the Premises and
the Project all signs, symbols and trademarks which are connected
with or associated specifically with Tenant's business and repair any
damages to the Project or the Premises caused by such removal.

(b} If Tenant shall fail or refuse to restore the Premises as hereinabove
provided, Landlord may do so and recover its cost for so doing. If Tenant shall fail
or refuse to comply with Tenant's duty to remove all personal property and frade
fixtures from the Premises upon the expiration or termination of this Lease, the
parties hereto agrce and stipulate that Landlord may, at its election: (1) freat such
failure o refusal as an offer by Tenant to transfer title to such property to Landlord,
in which event the title thereto shall thereupon pass under this Lease as a bill of
sate; or (if) treat such failure or refusal as conclusive evidence, on which Landlord
shall be entitled to rely absolutely, that Tenant has forever abandoned such
property. In either event, Landlord may, with or without accepting title thereto,
keep or remove, store, destroy, discard, ot otherwise dispose of all or any part of
such propesty in any manner that Landlord shall choose without incurring liability
1o Tenant ot to any other person. In no event shall Landlord ever become or be
charged with the duties of a bailee of any propertly of Tenant. The failure of Tenant
to remove any property from the Premises shall forever bar Tenant from bringing
any action or asserting any lability against Landlord with respect to any property
which Tenant fails to remove.

(c) This Lease shall cease at the end of the Term, or at the end of the
Renewal Term, if applicable, without the necessity of notice from either Landlord
or Tenant to terminate. If Tenant shall fail to or refuse to surrender possession of
the Premises to Landlord upon termination or expiration of this Lease, Landlord
may immediately, without notice, reenter the Premises and dispossess all persons
and effects therefrom through process of law. Landlord shall also be entitled to
such other remedies as may be provided it by law or in equity.

E
H
1



10.3 Holding Over. Tenant acknowledges that its holding over beyond the time of the
termination or expiration of this Lease will canse Landlord additional expense. [f Tenant shall
vemain in possession of the Premises, or any part thereof, after the termination or expiration of this
Lease, Tenant shall acquire no rights with respect to the Prenvises, Tenant shall, however, pay
Landlotrd, as liquidated damages, 125% of the amount of Rent which would have been due for a
like period of occupancy during the Term hercof. The provisions of this clause shall not operate
as 2 waiver by Landlord of any right it may otherwise have.

10.4 Assignment and Subletting.

(a) Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, assigh
this Tease or any interest hereunder {(whether as sccurity for an obligation or
otherwise); permit any assighment hereof by operation of law; sublet the Premises
or any part thereof; or permit the use of the Premises by any party other than Tenant

and its employees.

(b) Landlord snay withhold such consent at ifs discretion, and no consent by
Landlord to an assighment or subletting shall be construed to relieve Tenant from
its obligations hereunder or from obtaining Landlord's written consent to any
further assignment or subletting. Landlord's consent shall not be unreasonably

withheld.

10.5 Bankruptey.

(a) If following the filing of a petition by or against Tenant in a bankruptcy
court, Landlord shall not be permitted to terminate this Lease as hereinabove
provided because of the provisions of Title 11 of the United States Code relating to
Barkruptey, as amended (the "Bankruptcy Code"), then Tenant (including Tenant
as Debtor-in-Possessior) or any trustee for Tenant agrees to promptly, but no later
than thirty (30) days after petition by Landlord to the bankruptey court, assume or
reject this Lease, and Tenant agrees not to seck or request any extension or
adjournment of any petition to assume or reject this Lease by Landlord with such
court, Tenant's, or the trustec's, faiture to assume this Lease within said 30-day
period shall be deemed a rejection. Landlord shall thereupon immediately be
entitled to possession of the Premises without further obligation to Tenant or the
trustes, and this Lease shall be texminated, except that Landlord's right to damages
for Tenant's default shall survive such termination.

(b} Tenant or any trustee for Tenant may only assume this Lease if (i) it
cures or provides adequate assurance that the trustee will promptly cure any default
hereunder, (ii) it compensates or provides adequate assurance that the Tenant will
promptly compensate Landlord for any actual pecuniary loss to Landlord resulting
from Tenant's default, and (ifi) it provides adequate assurance of future
performance under this Lease by Tenant, Inne event after the assumption of this
Lease by Tenant or any trustee for Tenant shall any then-existing default remain
uncured for a period in excess of thirty (30) days. Adequate assurance of future

A Ay T 1A P PR AR EoRm L g = et gt Rt e o

g e AR TRLAL Y st FE e et e et e



performance of this Lease shall include, without limitation, adequate assurance (A)
of the source of Rent required to be paid by tenant hereunder, and (B) that
assumption or permitted assignment of this Lease will not breach any provision

hereunder.

10.6 Remedies Cumulative.

(a) The failure of either party to enforce any covenant or condition of this
Lease shall not be deemed a waiver thereof or of the right of either party to enforce
each and every covenant and condition of this Leage. No provision of this Lease
shall be deemed to have been waived unless such waiver shall be in writing and
signed by the person against whom the waiver is claimed.

(b} All rights and remedies of Landiord under this Lease shall be
cumulative, and none shall exclude any other rights or remedies allowed by law.

10.7 Expenses of Enforcement; Performance by Landlord; Landlord Default.

(a) The losing party shall pay all reasonable actual attorney's fees and
expenses incurred by the winning party in enforcing any provision of this Lease,

(b) If Tenant shall fail to perform aty of its obligations hereunder and such
faiture continues for a period of thirty (30) days following writton notice of such
failure, Landlord may perform such obligations. Landlord’s acfual and reasonable
costs in connection therewith shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord upon demand as

Additional Rent,

(c) If Landlord shall fail to perform any of its obligations hereunder and
such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days following written notice of
such failure, Landlord shall be deemed to be in default hereunder. In the event of
such default, Tenant, in addition to any other rights and remedies available at law
or in equity, may perform such obligations on Landlord’s behalf. Tenant’s actual
and reasonable costs in connection therewith shall be paid by Landlord to Tenant
upon written demand and, if payment is not made within thirty (30) days of
Tenant’s written demand, Tenant may offset the amount of such costs against its
future rental obligations hercunder.

ARTICLE 11

Access to Premises

11.1 Access to Premises. Landiord shall have the right to enter upon the Premises at
reasonablie business hours with not less than 24 hours prior notice, or any time in the event of an
emergency, for the purpose of inspecting them, preventing waste, loss or destruction, enforcing
any of its rights or powers under this Lease, or making such repaits or alterations as it is obligated
to muke under the terms of this Lease or which Landlord may elect to perform, following Tenant's

E
E
;;
;
;

P BT AR |+ M A SN <8 g dy e e o e A



failure to do so. Landlord shall be neither liable nor responsible for any loss to Tenant or Tenant's
business which may occur by reason of such entry. Landlord shall usc its best efforts to make all
such inspections and perform all work related thereto so as to avoid unreasonable interference with
or interruption of the business operations of Tenant.

Throughott the Term, Landlord shall have the right to enter the Premises af reasonable
hours on 24 hours prior notice for the purpose of showing them to prospective purchasers or
mortgagees and, duting the last six months of the Term, unless Tenant has exercised the right to

renew the Lease, to prospective tenants.

Landlord reserves the right to install, maintain, use, repair and replace pipes, ductwork,
wites and the like through the Premises. Landlord shall use its best efforts to make ali such
installations and perform all work related thereto so as to avoid unreasonable interference with o

interruption of the business operations of Tenant.

An agent of Tenant shall be permitted to accompany Landlord during any Landlord
inspection of or visit to the Premises.

ARTICLE 12
Miscellaneous

12.1 Notices. All notices, bills or statements required hereunder shall be in writing and
shall be deemed to have been given if either delivered personally or mailed by certified or
registered mail to the parties at their addresses as set forth below. The addresses specified for
notices herein may from time to time be changed by the written notice of one party to the other.

Landlord: 17 East Main, LLC
16 S, Elm St.
Zeeland, M1 49464

Tenant:

12.2 Effect of Submission. The submission by Landlord of the within Lease for execution
by Tenant shall confer no rights nor impose any obligations, including brokerage obligations, on
any party unless both Landlord and Tenant shall have executed this Lease and duplicate originals
thereof shall have been delivered to the respective parties,

12.3 Litigation. Landlord and Tenant do hereby waive trial by jury in any action,
praceeding or counterclaim brought by either against the other opon any matters whatsoever
arising out of or in any way connected with this Lease, Tenant's use or occupancy of the Premises,
or any claim or injury or damage or both.

[
k
:
¥
;

E‘
['
E
.E
E
:
1




12.4 Governing Law; Invalidation. This Lease shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan that are applied to leases made and to be
performed in that state, The jnvalidation of one or more terms of this Lease shall not affect the

validity of the remaining terms.

12.5 Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience only and shall not be
used to define, explain, modify or aid in the interpretation or construction of the contents hereof.

12.6 Amendment. This Leasc represents the entire agreement between the parties. No oral
or written, prior or contemporancous agresments shall have any force or effect, and this Leass may
not be amended, altered or modified unloss done so by means of a written instrument signed by

both parties.

12.7 Subordination: Attornment; Estonpel Certificate.

(a) This Lease shall, at the option of Landlord or its lenders, be subject and
subordinate to the interest of the holders of any notes secured by mortgages on the
Project or the Premises, now or in the future, and to all ground or underlying leases
and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements and extensions
thereof, While the provisions of this section are self-executing, Tenant shall
execute such commercially reasonable documents as may be desired by Landlord
or any mortgagee to affirm or give notice of such subordination. In turn, Tenant
shall be entitled to receive the customary non-disturbance agreement from each
such lender whereby the lender agrees to recognize Tenant's rights under this Lease
following foreclosure so long as Tenant is not in default hereunder.

(b) Upon request of the holder of any note secured by a morigage on the
Project or the Premises, Tenant shall agree in writing that no action taken by such
holder to enforce said mortgage shall terminate this Lease or invalidate or constitute
a breach of any of its provisions, and Tenant shall attorn to such mortgagee, or to
any purchaser of the building or the Premises at any foreclosure sale, or sale in lien
of foreclosure, for the balance of the Term on all the terms and conditions hetein
contained. While the provisions of this section are self-executing, all persons
affected thereby shall execute such commercially reasonable documents necessary
to affirm or give notice of such attornment.

(c) At the request of Landlord, Tenant shall within ten (10) days deliver to
Tandlord, or anyone designated by Landlord, a certificate stating and certifying as
of its date (i) the date to which Rent and other charges under this Lease have been
paid, (ii) whether or not there are then existing any setoffs or defenses against the
enforcement of any of the agreements, terms, covenants or conditions hereof on the
part of Tenant to be performed or complied with (and, if so, specifying the samc);
(iii) if such be true, that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect and
that Landlord is not in default under any provision of this Lease (or if modified,
setting forth all modifications, and if Landlord is in default, setting forth the exact
nature of such default); and (iv) such other information as Landlord may reasonably

P
;
i
i
i
i
L
k
i
¢
!
E
i
i
i
:




request in connection with the Landlord-Tenant relationship established by this
Iease. Tenant acknowlsdges that any statement delivered pursuant to this section
may be relied upon by any purchaser or owner of the Project or Landlord's interest
in the Project, or by any holder of a mortgage, or by an assignee of any mortgagee
under any mortgage, or by anyone else to whom Landlord delivers it.

12.8 Third Parties. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge, and warrant and represent to each
other, that there are no third-party beneficiaries to this Lease.

12.9 Light or Air Rights. No rights to light or air over any propetty, whether belonging to
Landlord or any other person, are granted to Tenanl under this Lease.

12.10 Successors and Assigns. The covenants, conditions, and agreements contained in
this Lease shall bind and inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenent and, except to the extent
prohibited by Section 12.4 above, their respective successors and assigns. '

12.11 Covenants and Conditions. All covenants and conditions contained in this Lease are
independent of one another. All of the covenants of Tenant contained herein shall, at the option
of Landlord, be construed as both covenants and conditions.

12.12 Sale or Transfer of Project or Premises, Upon any sale or transfer, including any
transfer by operation of law, of the Project or the Premises, Landlord shall be relieved of all
subsequent obligations and liabilities under this Lease.

12.13 Limitation on Liability. If Landlord is in default of this Lease, and as a consequence
Tenant recovers a money judgment against Landlord, the judgment shall be satisfied only out of
the proceeds of sale received on execution of the judgment and levy against the right, title, and
interest of Landlord in the Project and out of rent or other income from the Project receivable by
Landlord or out of the consideration received by Landlord from the sale or other disposition of all
or any part of Landlord's right, title, and interest in the Project.

12.14 Accord and Satisfaction. No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser
amount than the monthly rent herein stipulated shall be deemed to be other than on account of the
carliest stipulated rent, nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or any fetter
accompanying any check or payment as rent be deemed in accord and satisfaction, and Landlord
shall accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord's right to recover the balance of
such rent or to pursue any other remedy in this Lease as provided.

12.15 Brokers. Landlord agrees to pay Facility Management Services a fee equal to 3.5%
of the aggregate base rent of due over the initial term of the Leas“

12.16 Liability Joint and Several. If Temant is morc than one person, each of their
obligations under this Lease shall be joint and several.

12.17 Hazardous Substances. Tenant shall not use the Premises for storing any material
which may be deemed a Hazardous Substance without the prior written consent of Landlord,



Tim Klunder
Highlight


provided, however, that Tenant may use and store amounts of commercial materials and products
used in connection with the Tenant's business on the Premises, which would otherwise be
considered & Hazardous Substance. Such storing shall take place in accordance with ail applicable
law and regulation. Except for the foregoing, Tenant shall not cause or permit any Hazardous
Substance to be used, stored, generated, or disposed of on or in the Premises by Tenant, Tenant's
agents, employees, contractors, or invitees without first obtaining Landlord's written consent.
Hazardous Substances are used, stored, generated, or disposed of on or in the Premises by Tenant,
or if the Premises become contaminated in any manner as a result of Tenant's use of the Premises,
Tenant shall indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord from any and all claims, damages, fines,
judgments, penaltics, costs, liabilities, or losses (including, without limitation, a decrease in value
of the Premises, damages caused by loss or restriction of rentable or usable space, or any damages
caused by adverse impact on marketing of the space, and any and all sums paid for settlement of
claims, attorneys' fees, consultant, and cxpert fees) arising during or after the Lease Term and
arising as a result of that contamination by Tenant, This indemmification includes, without
limitation, any and all costs incwred because of any investigation of the site or any cleanup,
removal, or restoration mandated by a federal, state, or local agency or political subdivision.
Without limitation of the foregoing, if Tenant causes the presence of any Hazardous Substance on
the Premises and that results in contamination, Tenant shall promptly, at its sole expense, take any
and all necessary actions to return the Premises to the condition existing prior to the presence of
any such Hazardous Substance on the Premises, Tenant shall first obtain Landlord's approval for

any such remedial action,

Landiord shall indemnify and hold harmless Tenant from any and all claims, damages,
fines, judgments, penalties, costs, liabilities (including attorneys' fees) arising out of or related to
Hazardous Substances which were created, handled, placed, stored, used, transported or disposed
of by Landlord, or its employees, agents or contractors.

As used herein, "Hazardous Substance” means any substance that is toxic, ignitable,
reactive, or corrosive and that is regulated by any local government, the State of Michigan, or the
United States Government. "Hazardous Substance” includes any and all material or substances
that are defined as "hazardous waste", "extremely hazardous wasie", or a "hazardous snbstance”
pursuant to state, foderal, or local governmental law. "Hazardous Substance” includes but is not
restricted to asbestos, polychlorobiphenyls ("PCBs"), and petroleum. -

Within ten (10} days after the Effective Date, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a
complete copy of Landlord’s most recent Phase I and, if applicable, Phase I and BEA, for the
Project. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the consent of its
environmental consultant to aflow Tenart, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, to rely on Landlord’s
Phase I and, if applicable, Phase II and BEA.

12.18 Exclusive. [During the Term of this Lease and any Renewal Term, Landlord shall
not permit any other restamant to locate within the Project or in any other project that is within
five (5) square miles of the Project and that is owned by Landlord or an affiliate thereotf.]

A = A TR P AT YT, 1 o 8 T



TN WITNESS WHEREQF, this Lease has been executed as of the day and year first
above written, and the Tenant by signing this Lease acknowledges they/it have/has read and
understand(s) all the terms of this Lease and/or have/has sought legal counsel,

WITNESSES: LANDLORD
' 17 BEAST MAIN, LL.C

By/,yf/% e
fwmm_/d 2,116"4#; _ Tts: Mgf/w%&ﬂ@ﬁ

TENANT
El Rancho, Inc. #8

1

%}Zgﬁ% sy MAR ) BERMNAL

Mariin Bernal |

R it _MEmEA

THIS LEASE IS PERSONALLY GUARANTEED BY:

"Wiiness" .
:

"Witness”

Exhibit A--Description of Premises
Exhibit B--Legal Description




EXHIBIT "A"

Description of Premises




EXHIBIT "B"

Legal Description




Schedule 5.1(a)
Landlord’s Work




Schedule 5.1(b)

Tenant’s Work




]

A

City of Zeeland
nEC 17 W

4
[H

Received

VE i RECKLEY ARCHITECTS

for]
|
SrabY rAnpcT
rateon
i uo LT
! PROJECT INFORMATION
B —vEm—
|
! PROJECT PERSONNEL ¢ CODE REVIEW —_—
| ancHTECT: DENKIG RECKLEY | COZE %,
i sﬂ.JnnR\wsnENanMu:WE: -
T EasromH STRECT [RLLL T ma P
PHIHE $10-454-Fars : CENITRICTIORTYPR (.53 )
EENTAASTSR w‘s_mecm"\u:ﬂm N ALLOWABLE APCA [.b3 ALWR ICF
ZUBLARS e [T — B3R 28R it FLD) I
[ : aroc:s:rmmaumuu
| o H AAEA S TENART g
il CINY 0P TEE AN H —
I Fy P Annwmco i UL REAUNED O LY CHELLIC
- ﬁummmmﬂ ] LNITE T0 R0 g PER
N BB TTRR [
. MR BRNENS o 1 KILR WAL hPQUACEAT SHAFT ENCLE AT —
p . o,
FIRE PANTTISN ‘el mhﬁm NGOUMEC DEYWEEN IWELIND
PLUMBING FIXTLIRE REVIEW =
! HooR!RODTAMECRR ST T 1 MO FLBCRL I AT ROCJIRCY
i () , DOTATEH BreLirag UkTe
TRy 1L doollmere IREILL | SReTHETHG o BT RBELINED WITKSARA, 13 Ar RKKLNG SYOTEN
LS G Hyo) NT O LT = | T2 WMEN
| PREAEEACTION i) PELINGE FOP A2 (RHE b J16 FLOGH Libma!
FHRIE e i o " MR DTHHE = PROTAILA PiA
TWE y R =
HOLELAWE 1075 HepulEs = Liv fsticyr e e
v = 2 LAT
RRE ALARNE LB FAECLIRED
WOMEAWE, Li4D IGIRgD n2RL, A AUTGUAATIC GECUNAST HaTFICATION AT LISHCE
TRQUIT - 2. ACTIATED I THL SAIriERWATDR ALY
WOMGALEY. {75 munup 1L ar
P 2L, AHAHUAL FRE ALATT SYSTER.
o Py Lo naa2 o
CUIREE a3 PTZUALT « 1 LEAUKSD 44K, Lr AREA aCToR SO0 CREPANCY b
FIENEET - 1 CERA BEALAbcanT 2grnae 1sn 1. oce 808
KITCHATS SRl "JW g
. @ g
TOTAL CTEPANTT = 43 PEDRLE = = I
= OGAEII WRITA 103, T z
GENERAL NOTES WTHERE Pt ot g ch 3
ﬁN'EDNF-E“KFCLNJIFTHHH—INUWST“WO'\YU 350 THE N n = o
ITELTINGLI LY FOR REDQLLIT B, GoHRICTE RESSLib By THE FLASER OF X okt 2B MR 2 PROLIEE i
ELNTRACTOR AR B MOT The REIPONSEILTY OF THE ARCHITET PO m =AY - CODHE DHALL SHPD B I
DRSS 0P AL, r ’
WIDTH w I3 ELEAA WM
HERHT » 88" Wirlara
CCOA THAESA Iun WeE.LT ZAALL T IXCERL 1
kﬂb;‘ﬂlLl‘{‘EqEWLEﬂWI"lAn i
KT YOATIEAL B TW0 UMD DA fal i
DEAN HARCAART QLLERE] unnmrmm OELsYtA R
LBYEN Trhl |
[ZNEE A a1 Extt CISHA AZOLREL 2t AlL T H i
WG REBLIVED WA BACH SABLL P UrT Sheet List
EAIF A ERS106TH oy TRANCL (CCTTANCE WITH FUNE PROTECTRIN
P FT=r
CORRRIOAS RLEL] HWEL WIOTH w48
ASIRSNELS ACUTE e ACCIFRI0LG AITEE AHALL NG AR o)
FACRA S[cL AHANVAL ACMTE TS BUr.AND
CETRY, T 13
UL EI4GLTE EACH AECTet T,
COREID Wi GENERRS IO PATY
N ALSOSINAE BMTRANGES o AT LEAT 837, BHALL GUPLY WTTH
H ACCCESOLE NOUTE PR DN

mpmaue o




]
RCT

u.. e BRI el L . e ooz
TBEE%«E.E@& i GAS tm _ ‘ _ g _ v OHONVH T3 _

@P
‘__ oy

RO

i
]

ARG, RREST NG W2 RN
A250 PIATEG =R KEW!

#3D DRIZK T MATCH

ALIACENE SRRAZE

TOCR. HEPAL[ sryps

1;(_
N

t

Ao
|

1 |A-_ b
7

3t

E

J
T2 BE i s

i 0R TYATEN

=, o -
AN FRakING Dol
FOR b8 TALL ATEW &1

; |
el & e

5

5

FRAHH BT
Aulhar
PREKECTHDL
24063
FLOT
EL RARCHO

ENT0N

At

LT S20Es

MAIN FLCOR PLAN




Tt Ay e g e i TrE ot L e R L T s A e N S e Y eSS S AT S B a LR e A g

DOOR FRAMES

' . v
ROOM FJN’SHjEEEDULE ,‘ e e _ DOCR & FRAME SCREDULE Bt
é : i L T I LT T T 7 M
3 L =i " I‘ i i | w z
! ANEE P "y fans oo ' . A E oz
| PRiE ' : | I l L T
UHNE . i [ : e lsple [2IE2]0] £
3 | Nl i Y i i IL § Ble |BElE]E 3 E @& -
E - i o 471 « Wl ¥ T e e : <
x Loy - : % ¥ [ 3 g 4 -3l = g e : e
pr= e S I 5 4_ “‘i-‘ i i . e w
e - (" X
_ | | [ 5
[eiie) [xi:a) Loin]
if i - Frd He g
=
£
=
w0

—
P
=
Tk
[ i
|
|

c : | i :
| : o i — ST | = T‘T‘ﬁg Mt
- ——— - % | .T_ ¥ 3 I__.-kI;_ 5T E START PRIKELT
FLODH S ) ! b e
GB"}%E-..Y [ by e E_.,._ =l =

¥ L ———— —_ —— e —— - 0o 3ET
DOOR TYPES

&) MENS TLT, ROOM

A - e
RERIE
1

T
e

T T T

\— Sulilesban AT v W K e :\\\
TLL GOEPR [ brGA P , I —T ( ‘: -

il A=l = e B

- e e I e

% WOMENS TLT. ROOM

QEETNAWIDTN
= /““ T R WETRL T
LR izr L

B OR 00, B
/_ TR

ST AL PRI
/_ 12 RERAN
USF G ACCLSTI
TLE el HEH|

S Y, 00, 0w 2
STUES

ESER=N

EL RANGHO

1064

PEFEND ROUR
T

BOLIFMEAT BrctaEng

¢wmncpw SECTION (& BAR COUNTER DETAIL e%wvm—;’— =

W2 @ [ FIErERH

T
Auythar

il
| |
—[—= -
| | ' FROCET N
! i 1 1 1 242573

| ; NORTI—|! ELEVIATION

[IEE

ey
DTrsnhes

A2

ECHELULES f




ol 1T

4 N

T = == £ = = T— 3
== _ = A = M ———— ﬂ‘?Jl |
T 1 1 [ - P s
e o M i ! H i _/
[ o | =
MR M s ] ;
T |
1 — il
SUIRENCED AEtbR1 T o . e e |
E CELD St ! Y Fﬁn&aﬁ!ﬂ:ﬁygrw“ ¥ [———
ey T = ] [ —
I ! T T ! )
il | I3 L T :
| 4 R 1 ! —
H I [ ¥ i
| v | iy - H :
i oot + & EY
; J sl 1 ; -]ﬂ
L : | i
: : : T M : H i 5
| ; i !
Pl T T T gy H M
l 1 GELIKD 12 I, : "
| - I o R | ALapEnmn peuens N
‘ - g e : ™~
» ] ¢ 3 \:
A [ % | N
= | N
] | I ! 19 T
I = T T H H i ;
[ ] 4 ! i
i1/ = [\ : ! ] 1
o | |4 :
= T . | |
||:i i i [
R e i 3 7 Lt :
! T T
* T— — 2t H H
LG N L 3 : i)
N mEEEmmEns §
e Pt el = [ B R

MAIN FLOOR CEILING
PLAN

BB m 1

BTN J

FLEAFIV SR 1L 3

SYB s RECHLEY ARCHITECTS

KR

EL RANCHC
FERLANOTYCHIGAN

[

VAN 0T
Aulhar
PRRCFETHD
292573
F.ar

C7NS2025

3 Patdey




From;

EL RANCHO, INC #4
12658 RILEY ST
SUITE 10
HOLLAND, MI49424

Memo:
EL RANCHO #8 APPLICATION FEE

From;

EL RANCHO, INC #4
12658 RILEY ST

- SUITE 10
HOLLAND, Mt 49424

Memo:
=L RANCHO #8 APPLICATION FEE

Check Date: 11/26/25
Check Number: 10513
Total Payment: 400.00

Year to Date Paid:

Check Date: 11/26/25
Check Number: 10513
Totai Payment: 400.00

Year to Date Paid:

BRI L 1 e


Tim Klunder
Highlight


ATTACHMENT #2

- CODE OF ORDINANCES
Chapter 4 ALCOHOLIC LIQUORS

Chapter 4 ALCOHOLIC LIQUORS?

Sec. 4-1. Definitions.

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings ascribed to
them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

Act means the Michigan liquor control code of 1998, Public Act No. 58 of 1998 (MCL 436.1101 et seq.).

Alcohol means the product of distillation of fermented liquid, whether or not rectified or diluted with water,
but does not mean ethyl or industrial alcohol, diluted or not, that has been denatured or otherwise rendered unfit
for beverage purposes.

Alcohol sales district means that area in which alcohol sales are permitted within the city's zoning ordinance.

Alcohol vapor device means any device that provides for the use of air or oxygen bubbled through alcoholic
liquor to produce a vapor or mist that allows the user to inhale this alcoholic vapor through the mouth or nose.

Alcoholic liquor means any spirituous, vinous, malt, or fermented liquor, liquids and compounds, whether or
not medicated, proprietary, patented, and by whatever name called, containing one-half of one percent or more of
alcohol by volume which are fit for use for beverage purposes as defined and classified by the commission
according to alcoholic content as belonging to one of the varieties defined in the Act.

Applicant means any person who seeks approval from the city council to sell alcoholic liquors.
Authorized distribution agent means a person approved by the commission to do one or more of the following:
(1) To store spirits owned by a supplier of spirits or the commission.
(2) To deliver spirits sold by the commission to retail licensees.

(3) To perform any function needed to store spirits owned by a supplier of spirits or by the
commission or to deliver spirits sold by the commission to retail licensees.

Bar means a barrier or counter at which alcoholic liquor is sold to, served to, or consumed by customers.

Beer means any beverage obtained by alcoholic fermentation of an infusion or decoction of barley, malt,
hops, or other cereal in potable water.

Brand means any word, name, group of letters, symbol, trademark, or combination thereof adopted and
used by a supplier to identify a specific beer, malt beverage, wine, mixed wine drink, or mixed spirit drink product
and to distinguish that product from another beer, malt beverage, wine, mixed wine drink, or mixed spirit drink
product that is produced or marketed by that or another supplier. As used in this section and notwithstanding
Sections 305(2)(j) and 403(2)(j) of the Act, the term "supplier" means a brewer, an outstate seller of beer, a wine
maker, a small wine maker, an outstate seller of wine, a manufacturer of mixed wine drink, an outstate seller of a
mixed wine drink, a mixed spirit drink manufacturer, or an outstate seller of mixed spirit drink.

Brand extension means any brand which incorporates all or a substantial part of the unique features of a
preexisting brand of the same supplier. As used in this section and notwithstanding Sections 305(2)(j) and 403(2)(j)
of the Act, the term "supplier" means a brewer, an outstate seller of beer, a wine maker, a small wine maker, an

IState law reference(s)—Michigan liquor control code of 1998, MCL 436.1101 et seq.

Zeeland, Michigan, Code of Ordinances Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]
(Supp. No. 25)

Page 1 of 20


Tim Klunder
Highlight


outstate seller of wine, a manufacturer of a mixed wine drink, an outstate seller of a mixed wine drink, a mixed
spirit drink manufacturer, or an outstate seller of a mixed spirit drink.

Brandy means an alcoholic liquor as defined in 27 CFR 5.22(d).

Brandy manufacturer means a person licensed under the Act to engage in the manufacturing, rectifying or
blending, or both, of brandy only and no other distilled spirit. Only a licensed wine maker or a small wine maker is
eligible to be a brandy manufacturer. The commission may approve a brandy manufacturer to sell at retail brandy
which it manufactures, blends or rectifies, or both, at its licensed premises or at other premises authorized in the
Act.

Brewer means a person located in the state that is licensed to manufacture and sell to licensed wholesalers
beer produced by it.

Brewpub means a license issued in conjunction with a Class C, tavern, Class A hotel, or Class B hotel license
that authorizes the person licensed with the Class C, tavern, Class A hotel, or Class B hotel to manufacture and
brew not more than 5,000 barrels of beer per calendar year in the state and sell at those licensed premises the
beer produced for consumption on or off the licensed brewery premises in the manner provided for in Sections
405 and 407 of the Act.

Cash means money in hand, bank notes, demand deposits at a bank, or legal tender, which a creditor must
accept according to law. The term "cash" does not include call loans, postdated checks, or promissory notes.

Church means an entire house or structure set apart primarily for use for purposes of public worship, and
which is tax exempt under the laws of the state, and in which religious services are held and with which a
clergyman is associated, and the entire structure of which is kept for that use and not put to any other use
inconsistent with that use.

Class C license means a place licensed to sell at retail beer, wine, mixed spirit drink, and spirits for
consumption on the premises.

Class G-1 license means a place licensed to sell at retail beer, wine, mixed spirit drink, and spirits for
consumption on the premises at a golf course having at least 18 holes that measure at least 5,000 yards and which
license is issued only to a facility which permits member access by means of payments that include annual paid
membership fees.

Class G-2 license means a place licensed to sell at retail beer and wine for consumption on the premises at a
golf course having at least 18 holes that measure at least 5,000 yards and which license is issued only to a facility
which permits member access by means of payments that include annual paid membership fees.

Club means a nonprofit association, whether incorporated or unincorporated, organized for the promotion
of some common purpose, the object of which is owning, hiring, or leasing a building, or space in a building, of an
extent and character as in the judgment of the commission may be suitable and adequate for the reasonable and
comfortable use and accommodation of its members and their guests, but does not include an association
organized for a commercial or business purpose.

Commission means the liquor control commission provided for and created in the Act.
Distiller means any person licensed to manufacture and sell spirits or alcohol, or both, of any kind.

Hotel means a building or group of buildings located on the same or adjoining pieces of real property, which
provide lodging to travelers and temporary residents and which may also provide food service and other goods
and services to registered guests and to the public.

Class A hotel means a hotel licensed by the commission to sell beer and wine for consumption on the
premises only, which provides for the rental of, and maintains the availability for rental of, not less than 25
bedrooms if located in a local governmental unit with a population of less than 175,000 or not less than 50
bedrooms if located in a local governmental unit with a population of 175,000 or more.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:29 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 2 of 20



Class B hotel means a hotel licensed by the commission to sell beer, wine, mixed spirit drink, and spirits
for consumption on the premises only, which provides for the rental of, and maintains the availability for
rental of, not less than 25 bedrooms if located in a local governmental unit with a population of less than
175,000 or not less than 50 bedrooms if located in a local governmental unit with a population of 175,000 or
more.

License means a contract between the commission and the licensee granting authority to that licensee to
manufacture and sell, or sell, or warehouse alcoholic liquor in the manner provided by the Act.

Licensee means any person who has been granted a license to sell alcoholic liquors in the city by the state
liguor control commission.

Manufacturer means a person engaged in the manufacture of alcoholic liquor, including, but not limited to, a
distiller, a rectifier, a wine maker, and a brewer.

Microbrewer means a brewer that produces in total less than 30,000 barrels of beer per year and that may
sell the beer produced to consumers at the licensed brewery premises for consumption on or off the licensed
brewery premises. In determining the 30,000-barrel threshold, all brands and labels of a brewer, whether brewed
in the state or outside the state, shall be combined and all facilities for the production of beer that are owned or
controlled by the same person shall be treated as a single facility.

Minor means a person less than 21 years of age.

Mixed spirit drink means a drink produced and packaged or sold by a mixed spirit drink manufacturer or an
outstate seller of mixed spirit drink which contains ten percent or less alcohol by volume consisting of distilled
spirits mixed with nonalcoholic beverages or flavoring or coloring materials and which may also contain one or
more of the following:

(1) Wwater.

(2)  Fruit juices.

(3)  Fruit adjuncts.
(4) Sugar.

(5) Carbon dioxide.
(6) Preservatives.

Mixed spirit drink manufacturer means any person licensed under the Act to manufacture mixed spirit drink
in the state and to sell mixed spirit drink to a wholesaler. For purposes of rules promulgated by the commission, a
mixed spirit drink manufacturer shall be treated as a wine manufacturer but is subject to the rules applicable to
spirits for purposes of manufacturing and labeling.

Mixed wine drink means a drink or similar product marketed as a wine cooler and containing less than seven
percent alcohol by volume, consisting of wine and plain, sparkling, or carbonated water, and containing any one or
more of the following:

(1) Nonalcoholic beverages.
(2) Flavoring.

(3) Coloring materials.

(4)  Fruit juices.

(5)  Fruit adjuncts.

(6) Sugar.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:29 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 3 of 20



(7) Carbon dioxide.
(8) Preservatives.

Occupancy rate means the number of patrons that can be accommodated within the licensed premises as
established by the state police, fire marshal division.

On-premises license means a license while allows alcoholic liquors to be sold, served and consumed on the
premises of the licensed business, for example, a Class C license, a club license, an A hotel license, a B hotel license,
a tavern license, a brewpub license, a microbrewer license, a special license, a report license, a Class G-1 license,
and a Class G-2 license. For further definitions of such licenses, see the Act.

Outstate seller of beer means a person licensed by the commission to sell beer which has not been
manufactured in the state to a wholesaler in the state in accordance with rules promulgated by the commission.

Outstate seller of mixed spirit drink means a person licensed by the commission to sell mixed spirit drink
which has not been manufactured in the state to a wholesaler in the state in accordance with rules promulgated
by the commission. For purposes of rules promulgated by the commission, an outstate seller of mixed spirit drink
shall be treated as an outstate seller of wine but is subject to the rules applicable to spirits for purposes of
manufacturing and labeling.

Outstate seller of wine means a person licensed by the commission to sell wine which has not been
manufactured in the state to a wholesaler in the state in accordance with rules promulgated by the commission
and to sell sacramental wine as provided in Section 301 of the Act.

Primary source of supply means, in the case of domestic spirits, the distiller, producer, owner of the
commodity at the time it becomes a marketable product, or bottler, or the exclusive agent of any such person and,
in the case of spirits imported into the United States, either the foreign distiller, producer, owner of the bottler, or
the prime importer for, or the exclusive agent in the United States of, the foreign distiller, producer, owner, or the
bottler.

Professional account means an account established for a person by a Class C licensee or tavern licensee
whose major business is the sale of food, by which the licensee extends credit to the person for not more than 30
days.

Residence means the premises in which a person resides permanently.

Retailer means a person licensed by the commission who sells to the consumer in accordance with rules
promulgated by the commission.

Sacramental wine means wine containing not more than 24 percent of alcohol by volume which is used for
sacramental purposes.

Sale includes the exchange, barter, traffic, furnishing, or giving away of alcoholic liquor. In the case of a sale
in which a shipment or delivery of alcoholic liquor is made by a common or other carrier, the sale of the alcoholic
liquor is considered to be made in the county within which the delivery of the alcoholic liquor is made by that
carrier to the consignee or his agent or employee, and venue for the prosecution for that sale may be in the county
or city where the seller resides or from which the shipment is made or at the place of delivery.

School includes buildings used for school purposes to provide instruction to children in grades kindergarten
through 12, when that instruction is provided by a public, private, denominational, or parochial school, except
those buildings used primarily for adult education or college extension courses. School does not include a
proprietary trade or occupational school.

Small wine maker means a wine maker manufacturing or bottling not more than 50,000 gallons of wine in
one calendar year.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:29 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 4 of 20



Special license means a contract between the commission and the special licensee granting authority to that
licensee to sell beer, wine, mixed spirit drink, or spirits. The license shall be granted only to such persons and such
organization and for such period of time as the commission shall determine so long as the person or organization is
able to demonstrate an existence separate from an affiliated umbrella organization. If such an existence is
demonstrated, the commission shall not deny a special license solely by the applicant's affiliation with an
organization that is also eligible for a special license.

Specially designated distributor means a person engaged in an established business licensed by the
commission to distribute spirits and mixed spirit drink in the original package for the commission for consumption
off the premises. (A specially designated distributor holds an SDD license.)

Specially designated merchant means a person to whom the commission grants a license to sell beer or wine,
or both, at retail for consumption off the licensed premises. (A specially designated merchant holds an SDM
license.)

Spirits means a beverage that contains alcohol obtained by distillation, mixed with potable water or other
substances, or both, in solution, and includes wine containing an alcoholic content of more than 21 percent by
volume, except sacramental wine and mixed spirit drink.

State liquor store means a store established by the commission under the Act for the sale of spirits in the
original package for consumption off the premises.

Supplier of spirits means a vendor of spirits, a manufacturer of spirits, or a primary source of supply.
Tavern means any place licensed to sell at retail beer and wine for consumption on the premises only.
Vehicle means any means of transportation by land, by water, or by air.

Vendor means a person licensed by the commission to sell alcoholic liquor.

Vendor of spirits means a person selling spirits to the commission.

Warehouse means a premises or place primarily constructed, used, or provided with facilities for the storage
in transit or other temporary storage of perishable goods or for the conduct of a warehousing business, or for
both.

Warehouser means a licensee authorized by the commission to store alcoholic liquors, but prohibited from
making sales or deliveries to retailers unless the licensee is also the holder of a wholesaler or manufacturer license
issued by the commission.

Wholesaler means a person who sells beer, wine, or mixed spirit drink only to retailers or other licensees,
and who sells sacramental wine as provided in Section 301 of the Act.

Wine means the product made by the normal alcoholic fermentation of the juice of sound, ripe grapes, or
any other fruit with the usual cellar treatment, and containing not more than 21 percent of alcohol by volume,
including fermented fruit juices other than grapes and mixed wine drinks.

Wine maker means any person licensed by the commission to manufacture wine and to sell that wine to a
wholesaler, to a consumer by direct shipment, at retail on the licensed winery premises, and as provided for in
Section 537 of the Act but not to sell wine to a retailer.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-1; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 850, § 1, 3-19-2007)

State law reference(s)—Similar provisions, MCL 436.1103 et seq.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:29 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 5 of 20



Sec. 4-2. Regulations governing sale by glass.

In addition to the rules and regulations of the state liquor control commission and state law, the sale of
alcoholic liquors by the glass shall be made in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-2; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-3. Number of authorized licenses.

The city is willing to permit all alcohol sales licenses which are issued pursuant to state law provided that the
granting of a license to sell alcohol is in conformance with the city's goals and objectives, and further provided that
the location for alcohol sales will only occur within in the alcohol sales overlay district as established pursuant to
the city zoning ordinance.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-3; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 1005, § 1, 12-20-2021)

State law reference(s)—Licensing, MCL 436.1501 et seq.

Sec. 4-4. Unissued licenses.

Notwithstanding the terms and conditions of this chapter, the city council is under no obligation to issue any
of the remaining unissued licenses available at any given time.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-4; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-5. Reservation of authority.

No applicant for a liquor license has the right to the issuance of such license to him, her, or it. The city council
reserves the right to exercise reasonable discretion to determine who, if anyone, shall be entitled to the issuance
of such license. Additionally, no applicant for a liquor license has the right to have such application processed and
the city council further reserves the right to take no action with respect to any application filed with the city
council. The city council further reserves the right to maintain a list of all applicants and to review the same when,
in its discretion, it determines that the issuance of an additional liquor license is in the best interest of the city at
large and for the needs and convenience of its citizens.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-5; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-6. License transfers.

No on-premises license and no transfer of location or existing licenses shall be approved unless the city
council shall find that it is in the city's best interests, and the petitioner or applicant demonstrates a public need
and convenience for the granting of such a request.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-6; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-7. Sales or gifts by unlicensed businesses.

No business or individual at a business location may sell, serve or give away within the city any alcoholic
liguor unless such business or business location has been licensed or otherwise permitted by the state to sell,
serve or give away such items.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 6 of 20



(Code 1974, § 15-2; Ord. No. 859, § 1, 11-5-2007)

Sec. 4-8. Locations where sale for consumption on premises prohibited.

(a) The sale of alcoholic liquors for consumption on the premises shall be prohibited:
(1)  Within 500 feet of a school building.
(2)  Within 500 feet of a church.

(3) Inthe R1 Single-Family Residential District, in the R2 Single- and Two-Family Residential District,
in the R3 Residential District, and in the R-4 Manufactured Home Park District.

(4) On astreet where, by virtue of density of traffic or other conditions, the proposed use would, in
the judgment of the city council, constitute a traffic hazard.

(5) Atany place where, by reason of insufficient lighting or lack of police patrol, or other conditions,
the proposed use would constitute a nuisance in the judgment of the city council.

(b)  Any of the subsections of this section may be waived by the city council where it is deemed to be in the best
interests of the city. The distance between the church or school building and the contemplated location shall
be measured along the centerline of the street of address between two fixed points on the centerline
determined by projecting straight lines, at right angles to the centerline, from the part of the church or
school building nearest to the contemplated location and from the part of the contemplated location nearest
to the church or school building.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-7; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

State law reference(s)—Licensees' proximity to church or school, MCL 436.1503.

Sec. 4-9. Required seating capacity of licensees.

Applicable holders of on-premises licenses shall have the following accommodations:

(1)  All motels and hotels selling alcoholic liquor for consumption on the premises which have 30 or more
guestrooms shall have a dining table capacity for 25 or more persons.

(2)  All other on-premises licensees which are restaurants selling alcoholic liquor for consumption on the
premises shall have a dining table capacity of 25 or more persons.

(3) Nolicensee or applicant for a license shall be considered to have the dining table capacity and seating
capacity as defined in Subsections (1) and (2) of this section unless the square footage of the dining
area shall provide for not less than 15 square feet of space per patron and unless such establishment
shall have combined kitchen and food storage facilities having a square footage equal to at least 50
percent of the square footage of the dining table area.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-8; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 1005, & 2, 12-20-2021)

Sec. 4-10. Compliance with zoning ordinance.

No license for the sale of alcoholic liquor shall be granted for an establishment unless permitted by the
zoning ordinance.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-9; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 7 of 20



Sec. 4-11. License application fee; payment of obligations to city prerequisite to license
issuance or transfer.

A person applying for an on-premises license within the city shall pay a nonrefundable fee of $400.00 at the
time the application for such license is filed and a nonrefundable fee of $250.00 at the time the application for a
renewal of such license is filed. All personal property taxes, all real property taxes and all other obligations due and
payable to the city which relate to premises for which a liquor license is sought, or to which or from which a liquor
license is sought to be transferred, shall be paid before the city council, shall approve the issuance or transfer of

such license.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-10; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-12. License application.

(a) Any person desiring an on-premises license requiring local governmental approval in the city shall file an
application, which is a duplicate to the application which was filed with the liquor control commission, with
the city clerk, requesting the approval of the city commission for such license.

(b) In addition, each applicant seeking any new license, or a reclassification or transfer of an existing license
must make an application to the city on forms that will be provided by the city clerk. Such forms shall at a
minimum call for statements and information as to all of the following:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

The full legal name, age, business address, and home address of the applicant. If the applicant is
a corporation or limited liability company, the full legal names and home addresses of all the
directors, officers and shareholders or members owning a five percent interest or more therein
shall be given along with their percentage of ownership. If the applicant is a partnership, the full
legal name and home address of each partner shall be given along with their percentage of
ownership.

The place or places at which the applicant's business or businesses will be located, and the
proposed hours of operation for each such business.

The nature and character of the food, merchandise or service to be sold or offered for sale by the
applicant to members of the public.

The applicant's experience, financial capability, history of experience as a liquor licensee,
proposed menus and other facts or proposals pertinent to the applicant's business.

A list of all assumed, trade or firm names under which the applicant intends to do business.

Whether the applicant has ever made application to the commission or any local unit of
government for a similar or other license at a location other than described in this application,
and the disposition of such application.

Whether or not the applicant or person conducting or managing the applicant's business has
been convicted of a felony or nontraffic misdemeanor, and if so, the full particulars in connection
therewith. If the applicant is a corporation or limited liability company, this information shall be
provided for all of the directors, officers, shareholders and members owning a five percent
interest or more therein. If the applicant is a partnership, the information shall be provided for
each partner.

A minimum of three character endorsements for the applicant and/or its officers from endorsers
who are not related either personally or financially to the applicant or to the principals of the
applicant.

(Supp. No. 25)

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

Page 8 of 20



(9) Satisfactory evidence to show the applicant has the financial ability to complete its project
according to plans and within a reasonable period of time and evidence that all personal and real
property taxes for the proposed premises shall be paid in full.

(10) A written statement showing history of business activity, if any.

(11) Proof that the establishment will conform to the current standards of existing building, plumbing,
sanitation, fire and health ordinances, and all other municipal laws and regulations, and that all
new applicants conform to the current zoning ordinance.

(12) Evidence of having established or being prepared to establish the implementation of procedures
to prevent alcohol abuse on its premises or related to its premises by instituting a program such
as Training for Intervention Procedures by Services of Alcohol (TIPS), Techniques of Alcohol
Management (TAM), or other program deemed to be acceptable by the city.

(13) Such other information as the city council or the city manager shall require.

(c) The application shall be accompanied by building and site plans showing the entire structure and premises
where the license is to be utilized. The building plans shall show floor plans, kitchen layout, seating
arrangements, planned building alterations and other pertinent physical features. The site plan shall
demonstrate adequate off-street parking, lighting, refuse disposal facilities and, where appropriate,
adequate plans for screening and noise control.

(d) If the information required in subsections (b) and (c) of this section is not received and the application is
determined to be incomplete, the applicant must correct and amend the application within 60 days. If the
requested information is not received within 60 days, the application will automatically be returned to the
applicant without further consideration. Receipt of said information, however, is not a guarantee of
acceptance. An application fee, once paid to the city, shall not be refunded to an applicant for any reason.

(e) The city clerk, after receiving such application, shall refer it to the police, fire and building departments for
their inspection and approval or disapproval.

(f)  After receiving reports from the departments listed in subsection (e) of this section, the city clerk shall
present the application to the city council for their approval or disapproval. If approved, the city clerk shall
furnish the applicant with a certificate of approval, which he shall forward to the state liquor control
commission, with his request for application for a license to sell alcoholic liquors by the glass.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-11; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-13. Inspection of premises prior to license issuance.

Prior to the issuance of any license, the premises shall be inspected by the chief of police, chief of the fire
department, building official, and health department, or by their authorized agents, and such place of business
must be approved by each of these departments and shall comply with all of the laws of the state and ordinances
of the city relative to health and safety.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-12; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-14. Mandatory grounds for license denial.

An application for approval of a new liquor license, or transfer or upgrading of an existing liquor license, shall
be denied by the city council if it finds that any one or more of the following conditions exist:

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 9 of 20



(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

The applicant was previously a licensee whose license was, for cause, recommended for
revocation or nonrenewal by the city council or by another governmental unit, or revoked by the
commission.

The applicant is a corporation which has a director, officer, shareholder, or member owning a five
percent interest or more therein, who, if he were the sole applicant, would require mandatory
denial pursuant to this chapter.

The applicant is a partnership which has a partner who, if he were the sole applicant, would
require mandatory denial pursuant to this chapter.

The applicant's place of business will be managed or controlled by a person who would, if he
were an applicant, require mandatory denial pursuant to this chapter.

The applicant is a person who does not own the premises for which a license is sought or does
not have a lease therefor for the full period for which the license is sought.

The applicant has been convicted of a violation of any federal or state law concerning the
manufacture or sale of liquor.

The applicant's or licensee's premises has or will have one or more violations of the state
construction code and applicable fire, public health, housing or other similar codes and
ordinances of the city or the state, or is not in compliance with the city zoning ordinance.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-13; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-15. Discretionary grounds for license denial.

An application for approval of a new liquor license, transfer or upgrading of an existing liquor license,
including for retail license applicants and for manufacturer and wholesale applicants, or for the renewal of a liquor
license, may be denied by the city council if any one or more of the following conditions exist:

(1) The sale of beer, wine or spirits will not be incidental and subordinate to other permitted uses upon
the premises, such as food sales, a motel operation or a recreational activity. For an establishment
which sells food for consumption on site, an applicant must be in compliance with the following
criteria:

a.

For an establishment with a class C, tavern, redevelopment, development, class A hotel, or class
B hotel license, the establishment shall prepare food consumption on the premises and at least
50 percent of the gross revenue must be derived from food and non-alcoholic beverage sales.
The sale of alcohol for take-out consumption shall not be included in the food/alcohol in-house
percentage calculations.

For an establishment with a brewpub license, the establishment shall prepare food for
consumption on the premises and at least 25 percent of the gross revenue must be derived from
food and non-alcoholic beverage sales. The sale of alcohol for take-out consumption shall not be
included in the food/alcohol in-house percentage calculations.

For an establishment with a microbrewer, small distiller or small winemaker license, the
establishment must meet the food and alcohol sales ratio requirements established by the state
liquor control commission.

In those situations where a licensee fails to meet the requirement of the respective percent of
gross revenue derived from food sales as reported during the annual license review under
subsection 4-29(2), the city council may grant a grace period for the remainder of the calendar
year after the annual license review. This grace period may be provided so that the applicant can

(Supp. No. 25)

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

Page 10 of 20



(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

attempt to bring the food sales into compliance with the food percentage requirement by the
subsequent annual license review. During the grace period, the licensee shall file progress reports
on the food sales percentage every three months. Failure to meet the percent food requirement
at the end of this grace period will be grounds for the city council to recommend the denial of a
license renewal or license revocation. When a licensee holds multiple licenses, a brewpub and
class C license, for example, the lower food percentage requirement will apply.

The premises do not, or will not reasonably soon after commencement of operations, have adequate
off-street parking, lighting, refuse disposal facilities, screening, or noise or other nuisance controls.

The proposed location is inappropriate, considering:

a. Potential traffic safety hazards;

b.  Accessibility to the premises from abutting roads;

c. Proximity to residential areas (taking into account the attitude of adjacent residents);
d.  Thedistance from churches, schools, day care centers or similar facilities; and

e.  The preference for locating such establishments in developed commercial areas rather than in
rural or residential areas.

The applicant's financial capability, experience with similar facilities, or other relevant factors are such
that there is a likelihood that the applicant will fail to conform his conduct to the requirements set
forth in this chapter, in other city ordinances or in any applicable state law or code.

The applicant has made a negligent or intentional misrepresentation concerning any material fact in
the application or in any oral or written information submitted to the city council.

The applicant has been convicted of misdemeanor alcohol possession and/or alcohol driving offenses.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-14; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 924, § 1, 3-18-2013; Ord. No. 959, § 1, 2-15-2016;
Ord. No. 1005, § 3, 12-20-2021; Ord. No. 1012, § 1, 6-20-2022)

Sec. 4-16. Priorities to be considered by city council in license approval.

In exercising its authority under the Michigan Liquor Control Code of 1998, Public Act No. 58 of 1998 (MCL
436.1101 et seq.) for the maximum benefit of the city and its persons and property, the city council shall, in
deciding whether to approve a new license, the transfer of an existing license or the upgrading of the classification
of an existing license, consider the following priorities, such priorities being listed in decreasing order of their
importance to the city and its persons and property:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Restaurants and banquet facilities having a table seating capacity in excess of 25 persons which are
located in the alcohol sales district in the C-2 central business district.

Restaurants and banquet facilities having a table seating capacity in excess of 100 persons which are
located in the alcohol sales district in the C-2 central business district.

Motel, hotel or other lodging facilities which also have restaurants, meeting rooms and banquet
facilities.

Restaurants and banquet facilities having a table seating capacity of 25 persons or more which are
located in the alcohol sales district in the Washington Avenue mixed use district.

Restaurants and banquet facilities having a table seating capacity of 25 persons or more which are
located in the alcohol sales district in the C-3 highway commercial zone district.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-15; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 1005, § 4, 12-20-2021)

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 11 of 20



Sec. 4-17. Term of licenses; license approval granted subject to certain conditions.

The city approval of a liquor license (new, transfer or upgrade) or the renewal of a liquor license shall remain
in effect for a term which shall expire on the same date and shall be for the same time period as the license period
approved by the state, unless revoked prior to the end of such time period. All approvals shall be granted subject
to the general condition that the applicant shall comply with all representations and assurances contained in the
application and in any oral or written information submitted to the city council, including building and site plans.
Approval can also be made subject to specific conditions imposed by the city council. Approval of a license shall be
with the understanding that any necessary remodeling or new construction for the use of the license shall be
commenced within six months of the action of the city council or the state liquor control commission approving
such license, whichever last occurs. Any unusual delay in the completion of such remodeling or construction may
subject the license to revocation.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-16; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-18. Authority of chief of police to order liquor establishments closed.

The chief of police or his designee is hereby authorized, in the event of any emergency, disturbance or other
condition arising in the city, to order any or all liquor establishments closed until the emergency, disturbance or
condition has ceased to exist. In addition, the chief of police or his designee is authorized to conduct inspections at
any time and/or prior to any hearing for revocation or nonrenewal of a license. After the inspection, the police
department shall submit its report to the city manager who shall then forward the report to the city council with a
recommendation for their consideration.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-17; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 1012, § 2, 6-20-2022)

Sec. 4-19. Dancing and entertainment on licensed premises.

(a) Before any licensee shall permit or allow dancing or entertainment on his premises, he shall first obtain a
dance-entertainment permit from the liquor control commission, and the chief of police. Dancing will be
allowed under such permit when there is a minimum floor space of 300 square feet and where the seating
capacity is less than 100 persons, or a minimum space of 400 square feet in establishments which have a
seating capacity of 100 or more persons. Such dance space shall be well marked and defined, and no tables,
chairs or other obstacles shall be allowed during the time that dancing is permitted thereon. Such dance-
entertainment permit shall be displayed adjacent to the liquor license.

(b) No licensee who operates a dance hall, pavilion or similar dancing place, charging admission, shall use or give
out admission return checks, and no patron who leaves such dance hall, pavilion or similar dancing place
shall be permitted to reenter such premises on the same evening without again paying full admission charge.

(c) No overcrowding on dance floor shall be permitted.
(d) Smoking or drinking on the dance floor is strictly prohibited.

(e) No entertainment, such as dancing, monologues, dialogues or other types of performing, shall be allowed in
any licensed establishment unless the licensee shall have obtained an entertainment permit, except for
orchestras, piano playing or the playing of any other type of musical instrument and/or singers.

(f)  All entertainers must comply with the labor laws of the state.

(g) Nodisorderly conduct or lewd, obscene or immoral language or exhibition, dancing or entertainment shall be
permitted.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 12 of 20



(h)  Lighting must conform to the rules and regulations of the state liquor control commission.
(i)  Separate and adequate dressing rooms for male and female entertainers and employees shall be provided.

(j)  No patron shall be allowed to take any active part in an entertainment in the licensed establishment, except
community singing.

(k) No licensee shall permit any person under the age of 18 years to entertain, either on a paid or voluntary
basis, in any licensed establishment.

() Such permit may be revoked by the city council, after notice and hearing, whenever such licensee shall fail to
comply with this chapter and the rules of the state liquor commission or shall be unable to maintain order
and control in such licensed establishment.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-18; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 1005, & 5, 12-20-2021)

State law reference(s)—Dance permits, MCL 436.1916.

Sec. 4-20. Employee age regulations for licensed premises.

All licensees must have in their possession birth certificates or other documents, showing the place and date
of birth of each employee. No person under the age of 18 years shall be permitted to sell or serve any alcoholic
liquor or to work either on a paid or voluntary basis in that portion of the premises wherein alcoholic liquor is
being served. In on-premises establishments, there shall be on duty at all times during the hours of operation at
least one person who has attained the age of 21 years who shall be the supervisor or manager of all other
employees who are present at the time.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-19; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 1005, § 6, 12-20-2021)

State law reference(s)—Similar provisions, MCL 436.1707.

Sec. 4-21. Health and sanitation regulations for licensees and employees.

The following regulations shall be complied with by all licensees where alcoholic liquors are sold for
consumption on the premises:

(1) Licensees and employees shall wear clean clothing and be clean about their person and free from
communicable disease. No person who is a carrier of an infectious disease shall be employed where
food or beverages are prepared, handled, stored or served.

(2) Licensees and employees must have in their possession a current health card, not less than one year
old, indicating results of a tuberculosis test.

(3) Licensees shall also comply with all other regulations of the health department.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-20; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-22. Hours of sale; no Sunday sales or on Christmas. (Amended by Ordinance 1042,
11.17.25)

a. _ All hours other than those which are prohibited shall be the legally established times for alcohol sales
within the city, unless such hours of operation are further limited or prohibited by the state. Alcohol
may be served on a Sunday after 12:00 noon until 2:00 a.m. on Monday, if permitted by state law. In

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 13 of 20



addition, alcohol may be sold during a special event during the time period that was approved by the
City Council.

b. No licensee shall sell or serve any alcoholic liquors between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. on any
day, except that on January 1, alcohol may be served until 4:00 a.m. No licensee shall sell or serve any
alcoholic liguors between the hours of 9:30 p.m. on December 24 to 7:00 a.m. on December 26.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-21; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

State law reference(s)—Similar provisions, MCL 436.2113, 436.2114.

Sec. 4-23. Prohibited acts by licensees, agents or employees.

No licensee, or his agent or employee, shall engage in, or permit others to engage in, any illegal occupation
or illegal act on his licensed premises.

(1) Nolicensee, or his agent or employee, shall refuse, fail or neglect to cooperate with any law
enforcement officer in the performance of such officer's duties to enforce the provisions of
Public Act No. 58 of 1998 (MCL 436.1101 et seq.), and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

(2) Nolicensee, or his agent or employee, shall allow in or upon his licensed premises any improper
conduct, disturbances, lewdness, immoral activities or indecent, profane or obscene language,
songs, entertainment, literature, pictures or advertising material, or cause to have printed or
distributed any lewd, immoral, indecent or obscene literature, pictures or advertising material.

(3) Nolicensee, or his agent or employee, shall suffer or allow in or upon his licensed premises the
annoying or molesting of patrons or employees by other employees or patrons, or any accosting
and/or soliciting for immoral purposes.

(4) Nolicensee, or his agent or employee, shall permit his licensed premises to be frequented by or
to become the meeting place, hangout or rendezvous for known prostitutes, vagrants or those
who are known to engage in the use, sale or distribution of narcotics or in any other illegal
occupation or business; provided that no licensee shall be disciplined under this subsection until
he has been warned by the commission or the law enforcing agency having jurisdiction thereof,
and has failed to comply with the requirements of this section.

(5) No licensee shall permit any person engaged in the serving of food or alcoholic liquor in his
establishment to eat, drink or mingle with the patrons.

(6) No licensee shall allow upon his licensed premises any gambling or gaming devices or
paraphernalia of any nature, type or description, machines or apparatus, or gambling or gaming
of any kind whatever, unless such gambling or gaming devises or paraphernalia are licensed and
permitted by the state.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-22; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 14 of 20



Sec. 4-24. Sale, etc., to minors.

No licensee shall sell, offer for sale, give or barter, serve or otherwise furnish alcoholic liquors to any person
who shall not have attained the age of 21 years.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-23; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

State law reference(s)—Similar provisions, MCL 436.1701.

Sec. 4-25. Licensees to comply with chapter; responsibility for conduct of patrons.

It shall be the duty of the licensee to comply with the provisions of this chapter. Such licensee shall be
responsible for the conduct of patrons and employees and shall maintain order in his place of business at all times.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-24; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-26. Giving away in connection with business; sale to intoxicated persons, consumption

by employees of licensees while on duty.

(a) Nolicensee shall give away any alcoholic liquor of any kind or description at any time in connection with his
business, except manufacturers for consumption on the premises only.

(1)

(2)

A vendor shall not sell, serve, or furnish any alcoholic liquor to any person in an intoxicated
condition.

A licensee shall not allow a person who is in an intoxicated condition to consume alcoholic liquor
on the licensed premises.

(b) There shall be no drinking of alcoholic liquors by employees while on duty.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
(5)

A licensee, or the clerk, servant, agent, or employee of a licensee, shall not be in an intoxicated
condition on the licensed premises.

A licensee shall not allow an intoxicated person to frequent or loiter on the licensed premises
except where the intoxicated person has been refused service of further alcoholic liquor and
continues to remain on the premises for the purpose of eating food, seeking medical attention,
arranging transportation that does not involve driving himself, or any other circumstances where
requiring the person to vacate the premises immediately would be considered dangerous to that
person or to the public.

A licensee shall not allow a minor to consume alcoholic liquor or to possess alcoholic liquor for
personal consumption on the licensed premises.

A licensee shall not allow any person less than 18 years of age to sell or serve alcoholic liquor.

A licensee shall not allow any person less than 18 years of age to work or entertain on a paid or
voluntary basis on the licensed premises unless the person is employed in compliance with the
youth employment standards act, Public Act No. 90 of 1978 (MCL 409.101 et seq.). This
Subsection (b)(5) does not apply to an entertainer under the direct supervision and control of his
parent or legal guardian.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-25; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

(Supp. No. 25)

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

Page 15 of 20



Sec. 4-27. Grounds for license revocation; right to hearing.

The violation of any of the provisions of this chapter, the laws of the state and/or the rules of the liquor
control commission and the county department of health rules and regulations relating to food establishments
shall be sufficient cause for the recommendation by the city council to the liquor control commission that the
license theretofore granted for the sale of alcoholic liquors for consumption on the premises be revoked. Any
licensee holding an alcoholic liquor license from the state, which license has been approved by the city council, and
who fails or neglects to comply with the terms of this chapter, shall be liable for the recommendation that such
license be revoked; provided that, in the event of such recommended revocation, the licensee shall be entitled to a
hearing before the city council. In addition to the aforesaid grounds for revocation, the city council may, by
majority vote of all members, object to the renewal of an existing liquor license or request revocation of an
existing liquor license upon any one or more of the following grounds:

(1)  Any remodeling or construction, identified as necessary for the use of the licensed premises at
the time the license is approved or renewed, which has either not been commenced within six
months or completed within one year. These time periods shall run from the date of approval or
renewal of the liquor license by the commission;

(2) Thelicensee or licensed premises meets any of the mandatory grounds for disapproval set forth
in this chapter;

(3) The operation of the licensee's business or the circumstances and conditions surrounding the
licensee's business have changed, such that the licensee or licensed premises meets any of the
discretionary grounds for disapproval set forth in this chapter;

(4) The licensee maintains a nuisance upon the licensed premises;
(5) Thelicensee has made a negligent or intentional misrepresentation concerning any material fact;

(6) The licensee has failed to comply with any general or specific condition imposed pursuant to the
granting of a license;

(7) Thelicense has not been activated by the licensee within one year after approval by the city
council;

(8) Three or more violations of state or local licensing regulations within one year; or
(9) The licensee has failed to comply with the ordinances and/or policies of the city.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-26; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-28. Hearing on license denial, revocation, or nonrenewal, etc.

(a)  Unless the city council chooses not to consider a new license application, the city council shall grant a public
hearing upon a license application when, in its discretion, the city council determines that the issuance of an
additional liquor license is in the best interests of the city at large and for the needs and convenience of its
citizens. Before the city council may take action to deny approval of any new application, transfer or
upgrading of classification, request revocation of an existing license, or file objections to the renewal of an
existing license, the applicant or licensee shall be entitled to a hearing before the city council. The city clerk
shall give the applicant or licensee notice of the hearing by certified mail, return receipt requested or by
personal delivery, mailed not less than ten days prior to the hearing. Such notice shall contain the following:

(1) The date, time and place of the hearing.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 16 of 20



(2)

(3)
(4)

A statement that the applicant or licensee may be present to present evidence and testimony, confront
adverse witnesses, and present evidence and arguments.

If the hearing is for a renewal or revocation, the tentative action and reason for the proposed action.

The applicant's right to be represented by an attorney.

(b) Following the hearing, the city council shall submit to the commission a resolution setting forth the action
taken and a written statement of its findings of fact and the basis for its action. The city clerk shall forward,
by first class mail, a copy of the council's submission to the commission within 20 days of the date of the
council's action.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-27; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Sec. 4-29. Annual license review.

An annual license review shall be required for each facility which sells alcohol for on-premises or off-
premises consumption. Such annual review shall be governed by the following rules and procedures:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

The city manager shall review the operations of all entities that are licensed by the liquor control
commission, hereinafter "the commission," or who are otherwise authorized to sell alcohol within the
city for the calendar year concluding the previous December 31. The city manager may invite or require
staff members and/or other individuals to be present for the annual review of an applicant as is
deemed necessary by the city manager.

For an applicant that sells food and alcohol for consumption on the premises, the applicant shall
provide a confidential report of its sale of alcohol and food for the prior calendar year on or before
February 15 to the city manager. Such information for the applicant shall be reported and verified by
the tax accountant of the applicant on the basis of the business and accounting records of a licensee.
Such a report shall not require an audit, however, by the tax accountant of the applicant. In addition,
an applicant shall provide such other information as may be requested by the city manager and the
applicant shall also appear in person before the city manager to answer questions and to provide such
information as may be requested by the due date and at such time as may be specified by the city
manager.

For all applicants that sell alcohol, the city manager shall consider the conformance of each licensee
with the requirements of this chapter, the city's alcohol licensing policies, the state liquor control code,
and the commission's rules. As a part of this review, the city manager shall consider information as to
any complaints that were filed with the city's zoning administrator and the chief of police, any
complaints that were filed with the commission, and other material that the city manager determines
to be relevant.

No later than March 14 of each year, the city manager shall file with the city council his or her
recommendations for further action, if any, by the council with respect to objecting to the renewal of
an entity's license. In addition, the city manager shall file with the city council such information which
may be requested by the city council which has been received by the city manager from the license
holder, city staff and/or the general public.

The city council no later than March 21 of each year shall consider the city manager's report at a
regular or special meeting. If so directed by the council, the city manager shall file not later than March
24 of each year, a communication with the commission objecting to the renewal of a license or permit
to sell alcohol within the city.

If an objection is filed with the commission, a license holder shall have the right to have a hearing
before the city council to give reasons as to why its license should be renewed.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 17 of 20



(Code 1974, § 2.1-28; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 924, § 2, 3-18-2013; Ord. No. 956, & 1, 1-18-2016;
Ord. No. 998, § 1, 1-4-2021; Ord. No. 1012, § 3, 6-20-2022)

Sec. 4-30. Criteria to be considered in annual license review.

At the time of the annual review by the city council of on-premises and off-premises licenses for purposes of
making recommendations to the state liquor control commission regarding renewal of such licenses, the council
shall consider the following:

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

(9)
(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)
(14)
(15)

(16)

Whether a licensed establishment has been operated during the existing license year in a manner
reasonably likely to adversely affect investment in real property in the vicinity of the establishment;

Whether the licensee maintained a nuisance upon the premises;
Whether the licensee failed to comply with any restrictive covenant between the city and the licensee;

Whether the licensee failed to comply with any requirement of the state liquor control act, or the
administrative rules of the state liquor control commission;

Whether the licensee failed to comply with any provisions of this Code applicable to the licensee;
Whether the licensee failed to comply with or violated any applicable statute, law, rule, or regulation;
Whether the licensee failed to provide adequate security for its patrons or their property;

Whether the licensee failed to comply with any condition imposed by the city council on the granting
of any license;

Whether the licensee is delinquent in paying any personal property taxes;

Whether the consumption of spirits has occurred, if licensed to sell only beer or wine or both beer and
wine;

Whether dancing or live entertainment open to the public has occurred, with or without an admission
charge, unless holding a valid dance or dance-entertainment permit;

Whether any disorderly conduct or action which disturbs the peace and good order of the
neighborhood has occurred;

Whether any incidents of prostitution, solicitation for prostitution, or larceny have occurred;
Whether any possession, sale or use of any illegal drug or controlled substance has occurred;

Whether the use of interior lighting which is insufficient to enable a person with average vision to
clearly see all persons within the premises is occurring; and

The reports of city staff and the input of the public.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-29; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 959, § 1, 2-15-2016)

Sec. 4-31. Applications for an SDD license, SDM license, or for another license which permits

the sale of alcohol for off-premises consumption.

(a) Persons, other than those seeking an on-premises license, who desire to sell alcoholic liquors within the city
shall file with the city that information required to be submitted under section 4-12 and shall pay a
nonrefundable filing fee of $250.00. Such information shall be filed with the city clerk within ten days of such
person filing an application with the liquor control commission for the state. This information shall be filed
with the city, so as to permit comment by the city to the liquor control commission.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 18 of 20



(b)  An applicant or licensee shall have the right to a hearing before the city council pursuant to Section 4-28. The
standards for recommending the approval, denial or revocation of a license or permit shall be those
standards as may be found in this chapter and the laws, rules and regulations of the state.

(c) Applications and licenses shall not be transferred, except where the business is to be conducted at the same
location. An SDM license, SDD license, small wine maker license, small distiller license and a brewpub license
shall be permitted in zone districts as follows:

(1) SDD (specially designated distributor) licenses shall be granted only for locations which are in an
alcohol sales district in the Washington Avenue mixed use district or in the C-3 highway commercial
zone district. An SDM (specially designated merchant) license, a microbrew license, a small wine maker
license, a small distiller license or a brewpub license shall be permitted in the Washington Avenue
mixed use district, in the C-3 highway commercial zone district, and in the C-2 central business district
on parcels which are also zoned as being in the alcohol sales district as a take-out parcel. Off-premises
licensees may only do business if a parcel is zoned for off- premises sales.

(d) Alllicensees or holders of permits which allow an applicant to sell alcohol for consumption off of the
premises must comply with the following additional restrictions:

(1) Except as otherwise permitted, SDM and SDD licenses shall only be permitted in the WMU, the
Washington mixed use zone district, or in the C-3, the highway commercial zone district, at a location
where there is an established grocery store, food market, delicatessen, drugstore business, or full
service restaurant. SDM licensees shall only be permitted in the C-2, central business district, at a
location where there is an established full service restaurant or a specialty food store which is primarily
a delicatessen, meat market, and/or cheese/cracker store.

(2) A customer display area for alcoholic liquors for take-out sales must not exceed, at all times, 25
percent of the total retail display area of the business.

(3)  Such 25 percent area shall be measured on the basis of the following procedures:

a.  The floor area of all merchandise displays, shelving, coolers, display counters, etc., which contain
any alcoholic beverages, shall be measured except that the walk-in coolers shall not be included
in this floor area measurement calculation, provided that the floor space in a walk-in cooler does
not exceed 120 square feet.

b.  The total floor area occupied by all merchandise displays, shelving, coolers, display counters, etc.,
for all merchandise, shall be measured except that walk-in coolers shall not be included in this
floor area measurement calculation, provided that the floor space in a walk-in cooler does not
exceed 120 square feet.

c. The total area described in Subsection a., above, will be divided by the total floor area described
in Subsection b., above.

d.  The quotient of the said two areas, based upon the above procedures, shall determine the
percentage of the total retail display area of a business which is used for the sale of alcoholic
beverages.

e. In those instances where the city finds that a licensee failed to meet the 25 percent area
restriction during the annual license review period, the licensee shall be liable for a fee of
$100.00 for each additional inspection that is required during that annual review period to
determine whether the licensee has come into compliance with the 25 percent restriction.

(4) Itisthe intention that the sale of alcohol for a business with an SDM license, an SDD license, a
microbrew license, or a brewpub license be incidental to the primary business of the establishment.

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 19 of 20



(5) Nolicense shall be granted or renewed for any person who has past due bills, taxes or special
assessments owing to the city.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-30; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006; Ord. No. 874, § 1, 9-15-2008; Ord. No. 923, § 1, 10-1-2012;
Ord. No. 924, § 3, 3-18-2013; Ord. No. 959, § 1, 2-15-2016; Ord. No. 1005, § 7, 12-20-2021)

Sec. 4-32. Equal service.

The licensee and employees of such establishments shall not refuse to serve any person because of his
religion, race, color, national origin, age, sex, or marital status, and licensees shall provide an equal opportunity for
employment, without discrimination as to religion, race, color, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, or marital
status.

(Code 1974, § 2.1-31; Ord. No. 838, §§ 1, 2, 6-19-2006)

Created: 2025-07-31 07:59:30 [EST]

(Supp. No. 25)

Page 20 of 20



ATTACHMENT #3

4

&
MEMORANDUM
DATE: Wednesday, January 14, 2026
TO: Tim Klunder, City Manager
FROM: Tim Maday, Community Development Director
RE: January 20" City Council meeting agenda — 17 E Main Ave — El Rancho, Inc #8 — Alcohol

license application — Community Development Department report

The Community Development Department (the City’s building and zoning department) makes the
following comments related to the City’s alcohol ordinance (ZCC Vol. I, Chapter 4) and the alcohol
license application from El Rancho, Inc. #8 for the property at 17 E Main Avenue.

The building at the property, which includes the main floor restaurant space, was constructed in 2024. The
interior build-out for the approximately 3,755 square foot restaurant with proposed alcohol service is
currently in process. Staff has reviewed and approved the construction plans for the project, and the
various contractors have obtained the required building, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, and fire
suppression permits. Inspections are being conducted as required by code, and a certificate of occupancy
will not be issued until all work is complete and compliant with applicable codes and city ordinances.

The primary zoning of this parcel is C-2 — Central Business District, which makes the parcel eligible for
inclusion in the AO — Alcohol Sales Overlay District. Like the majority of downtown, this parcel is
already included in the AO district for the sale of alcohol for on-premises and off-premises consumption.
The sale of alcohol requires Planning Commission special land use approval. The special land use
application for the sale of alcohol from this property was heard by the Planning Commission on
September 4, 2025. At that meeting, the Planning Commission found that the application met the relevant
special land use standards for the sale of alcohol, and the application was approved.

As shown on the floor plan for the facility dated May 21, 2025, the patron seating capacity of the
establishment exceeds the 25-seat minimum for establishments selling alcohol for on-premises
consumption contained in Section 4-9 of Volume I of the Zeeland City Code.

The Community Development Department does not have city ordinance concerns regarding this
application at this time. Please contact me with any questions regarding this memo.


Tim Klunder
Highlight


El Rancho — 17 E Main Ave — Alcohol Measurements ~ ATTACHMENT #4

I, |
' . |
-T ki [ R
]
e
Ny

| 20 E Main Av
a8  Bp

Key Measurement
Point Description Distance Description
A East wall of 17 E Main Ave 35’ East wall of 17 E Main Ave to west wall of North Street
Christian Reformed Church (AB)

B West wall 20 E Main Ave

01/09/26


Tim Klunder
Highlight


ATTACHMENT #5

4

&'
A\,‘{/

21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

TO: Tim Klunder, City Manager

FROM: Kevin Plockmeyer, ACM/Finance Director
SUBJECT: El Rancho, Inc. #8 — 17 East Main

DATE: December 31, 2025

There is no Personal Property at the location and the applicant holds no other Personal Property
within the City, so there are no outstanding property taxes due. As is such, the City of Zeeland’s
Treasurers Office sees no reason to deny the application.

=

Kevin Plockmeyer, ACM/Finance Director

FEEL THE ZEEL


Tim Klunder
Highlight


ATTACHMENT #6

4

&
MEMORANDUM

DATE: Thursday, January 15, 2026

TO: Tim Klunder, City Manager

FROM: Tim Maday, Community Development Director

RE: January 20" City Council meeting agenda — 17 E Main Ave parking demand and availability

At recent Planning Commission and City Council meetings, questions have been raised regarding whether adequate
parking capacity exists to serve the new development at 17 E. Main, particularly if the 72 leased spaces at the North
Street Church lot are excluded. As this question may arise again during the January 20 public hearing related to the
liquor license application for El Rancho, Inc. #8, staff has conducted additional analysis of parking availability for
the building and the west zone of downtown.

Parking Demand Calculation

If the parcel were located outside of the Central Business District, application of the City’s current parking ordinance,
which relies on conservative, use-based parking ratios, would result in an estimated parking demand of approximately
135 spaces. This estimate assumes full occupancy of all 22 residential units, the salon operating at full capacity
(including both active and waiting customers), and the restaurant operating at its maximum permitted occupancy
simultaneously.

Staff analysis shows that there are approximately 136 parking spaces available in the immediate vicinity of the
development, inclusive of the 47 on-site spaces at 17 E Main Ave. This total reflects the most immediate on- and off-
street parking resources serving the block and does not include additional municipal parking supply located elsewhere
downtown.

‘Parking Area HQuantity‘
17 E. Main Ave — On-site 147 |
‘E. Main Ave — On-street (State to Elm) H17 ‘
ICoz 46 E. Main Lot 137 |
‘Elm St On-street (Main to Washington)H 17 ‘
‘W. Main On-street (within ~660") H 18 ‘
[Total 136 |

The 47 on-site spaces directly offset a substantial portion of the development’s projected demand, and existing on-
and off-street parking is already in place around the site. As a result, this is not a scenario in which 135 new parking
spaces would need to be created to accommodate the use.


Tim Klunder
Highlight


Comparison with Block 2 — North side of downtown between Elm Street and Church Street

For context, Block 2 is served primarily by the North Municipal Parking Lot, which contains approximately 126
spaces and supports roughly 16—17 buildings with a mix of restaurants, retail, office, salon, and residential uses. On-
street parking along Main Avenue also contributes to meeting demand in this block.

The overall square footage and intensity of use served by the shared parking system in this block exceed what is
present on Block 1. The Rich & Associates parking study indicates that Block 2 accommodates this level of demand
with relatively few operational issues, demonstrating that shared municipal parking in downtown Zeeland functions
effectively at a scale greater than what is proposed for 17 E Main Ave.

Dedicated Versus Shared Parking

While the parking spaces identified above are shared and available to all users, the complementary nature of
downtown parking significantly reduces actual peak demand conflicts. The parking study shows that the highest
overall parking demand downtown occurs during the midday lunch period. At that time, residential tenants are
typically away at work, reducing overlap between residential and commercial demand.

Similarly, office users in this block generally vacate shared parking areas prior to the evening dinner period, when
restaurant demand increases. This staggered pattern of peak demand is consistent with shared parking assumptions
used in the parking study.

It is also notable that each primary use on this block, including the new development, has access to its own off-street
parking. As a result, reliance on shared public parking spaces is likely lower on this block than in the core blocks of
downtown where buildings lack on-site parking entirely.

At a systemwide level, the Rich & Associates study concluded that downtown Zeeland has sufficient overall parking
capacity, including within and adjacent to this block, and that total parking supply is not a limiting factor under
current or near-term development conditions.

Night and Weekend Capacity

The parking study further confirms that evening and weekend periods represent the lowest overall parking demand
downtown. This aligns well with the operational characteristics of the proposed restaurant use, meaning its peak
activity occurs during periods when excess parking capacity is available.

While not included in the capacity totals above, both the North and South Municipal Parking Lots, along with our
current leased spaces at North Street CRC and Huntington Bank, are also located within approximately 650 feet of
the site and remain available to patrons as needed, further reinforcing the availability of parking options.

Conclusion

Even excluding the 72 leased spaces at the North Street Church lot and the 60 leased spaces at Huntington Bank, staff
analysis demonstrates that adequate parking capacity exists to serve the 17 E. Main development under City ordinance
and consistent with the findings of the parking study. The addition of 47 on-site spaces, combined with existing
shared parking capacity and the complementary nature of downtown parking demand, supports the conclusion that
parking availability should not be a limiting factor for this project.

Staff acknowledges that there may be an initial adjustment period following the opening of the restaurant associated
with the proposed liquor license, during which patrons become familiar with appropriate parking locations for the
development.



4

&'
Al:{/

21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor Van Dorp and City Council Members
FROM: Tim Klunder, City Manager

Kevin Plockmeyer, ACM of Infrastructure/City Services and Finance

SUBJECT: Snowmelt Operation and Maintenance Special Assessment District Report
DATE: January 16, 2026
CcC: City Council Work Study Agenda and Action Items January 20, 2026

At our last meeting, City Council authorized Snowmelt Operation and Maintenance Special
Assessment Resolution No. 1 (attachment No. 1). This resolution states, “The City Manager is
hereby directed to cause to be prepared a report which shall include necessary plans, profiles,
specifications, and detailed estimates of the cost, an estimate of the life of the improvement, a
description of the assessment district, recommendations as to what portion of the project must be
borne by the Special Assessment District and the portion, if any, to be borne by the City, and such
other pertinent information as will permit the City Council to decide the cost, extent, and necessity
of the improvement proposed.” As staff, it is our pleasure to provide the necessary information
for this report in the remainder of this memo and subsequent attachments.

Plans, Profiles, and Specifications

This project involves the operation and maintenance of a number of systems that have either
been constructed or will be constructed in the very near future. As such the plans, profiles, and
specifications have been approved by City Council over the past number of years. These projects
include:

Elm Street Reconstruction — Awarded by City Council on 3/20/2017

City Hall Boiler Replacement Project — Awarded by City Council on 6/28/2017
Howard Miller Boiler Replacement Project — Awarded by City Council on 3/16/2020
Library Alley and Cherry Street Project — Awarded by City Council on 2/26/2021
Main Avenue Snowmelt and Streetscape — Awarded by City Council on 2/4/2023
Church Street Reconstruction Project — Affirmed by City Council on 12/1/2025

Because these projects have been awarded by City Council and the design of which does not

impact this overall special assessment, the plans have not been included as part of this report. If
any member of council wishes to see these plans, profiles, and specifications, they will be available

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

’

21 South Elm Street < Zeeland, Michigan 49464 « (616) 772-6400 « FAX (616) 772-5352
upon request. While this is the case, a map of the overall snowmelt system is attached to this

report (attachment No. 2).
Project Phasing

As has been noted, some of the system has already been completed and portions have yet to be
completed. Because this is the case, we would expect the following phasing as to when it is
expected that the system will be operational for specific parcels:

South of Main along Elm — Currently Operational

North Side of Cherry — Currently Operational

Area Surrounding the Howard Miller Library — Currently Operational

South of Main between 146 and 150 East Main — Currently Operational

Area along Main from State to approx. 180’ east of Maple — Currently Operational

East Side of Church from Central to Washington — Anticipating 2026-2027 Heating Season
West Side of Church from Central to Cherry — Anticipating 2026-2027 Heating Season
West Side of Church from Main to Washington — Anticipating 2026-2027 Heating Season

Because it is anticipated that the entire system will not be operational at the time of the adoption
of the special assessment, parcels will not be responsible for the payment of a special assessment
until they receive benefit from the snowmelt system abutting their respective parcel.

Detailed Estimates of Cost

The original goal of City Council, as outlined in the 2023 special assessment report, was to
establish a sustainable funding model for the snowmelt system by accounting for both ongoing
operating costs and long-term maintenance and replacement needs. To achieve this, the report
outlined an approach that proposed dividing the annual fee into two components: a commodity
or heating charge to cover the cost of natural gas used to heat the glycol, and a readiness to serve
or capital charge to fund future maintenance and replacement of system infrastructure.

The commodity charge was calculated using historical average gas usage, the prior year’s average
gas cost, and the total square footage served by the system. Using average system usage of 36,636
THM, a 2022-2023 gas cost of $0.92 per THM, and 36,527 square feet of snowmelt area, the
resulting commodity charge was calculated at $0.92 per square foot on an annual basis. This
amount was intended to remain fixed during an assessment cycle and adjusted in future cycles as
conditions changed.

The readiness to serve or capital charge was developed by evaluating the major system
components, their useful life, and the total investment made in each. Based on the investments
and estimated lifespans identified in 2023, the annual capital cost was calculated at approximately
$123,200, which equated to $1.19 per square foot when the system was fully built out to 103,479
square feet. When combined with the commodity charge, the total annual operation and

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

’

21 South Elm Street < Zeeland, Michigan 49464 « (616) 772-6400 « FAX (616) 772-5352
maintenance cost was estimated at $2.11 per square foot, which fell within the range previously

presented to City Council.

In response to the 2023 special assessment report, City Council decided not to levy the readiness
to serve or capital charge. Instead, Council set aside approximately $600,000 as an endowment
to fund the long term maintenance and replacement portion of the snowmelt system. This
endowment was intended to relieve downtown property owners of the readiness to serve or
capital charge for as long as the endowment funds remained available.

As part of the current special assessment cycle, staff intends to levy only the commodity or
heating charge again at a rate of $0.92 per square foot. This recommendation is being made
because the City is still working to establish a more accurate understanding of the true operating
and heating costs of the snowmelt system. Actual heating costs have fluctuated significantly,
ranging from approximately $0.33 per square foot in some seasons to as high as $1.30 per square
foot in others. Continuing the assessment at $0.92 per square foot for another cycle is intended
to provide additional data and stability, allowing staff to better refine and confirm the long term
operating costs of the system.

As part of this special assessment cycle, staff is not recommending that the readiness to serve or
capital charge be levied. After accounting for the capital charges that would have otherwise been
levied and the interest earnings generated by the endowment, the snowmelt endowment
continues to maintain a balance of nearly $600,000. In addition, when incorporating the snowmelt
components and additional square footage being added along Church Street and in the downtown
passageway, the calculated capital charge would be reduced to approximately $1.10 per square
foot. This remaining endowment balance is considered sufficient to fund the capital maintenance
and replacement needs of the system at this time, eliminating the need to impose a capital charge
during this assessment cycle.

Estimated Life of the Improvement

The life of a snowmelt system is a function of the useful life of its individual parts. While the
piping and tubing may have a life greater than 60 years, the useful life of the pumps and boilers
is anticipated to be between 20 and 30 years. In a normal application, the useful life of the
sidewalk which contains the snowmelt tubing may be 20 to 30 years, but because it is not exposed
to the traditional freeze/thaw cycle of a normal sidewalk neighboring communities have
experienced useful lives eclipsing the 30-year useful life cycle. Because this is the case, as included
in the detail estimates of cost, the useful life of the system is estimated to be as follows:

Snowmelt Boilers, Pumps, Heat Exchangers, Etc. — useful life of approximately 20 years.

Snowmelt Piping, Tubing, Insulation — useful life of approximately 50 years.

Valves, Manifolds, Glycol, and Sensors — useful life of approximately 25 years.

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

’

21 South EIm Street « Zeeland, Michigan 49464 « (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352
Special Assessment District

The assessment district is described as the properties abutting the following areas:

Main Avenue from State Street east through the parcel at 421 East Main Avenue
Elm Street from Main Avenue to Cherry Avenue

Church Street from Central Avenue to Washington Avenue

The North Side of Cherry Avenue from Elm Street to Church Street.

a0 oo

A listing of properties is included as attachment No. 3 of this report.
Cost of the Project to be borne by the Special Assessment District

Each parcel in the special assessment district will be billed the $.92 commodity charge and will
not be charged the $1.10 capital charge per square foot of snowmelt with the following
considerations:

Parcels exempt from a special assessment will be paid for by the city at large. This
includes the following parcels:

e Zeeland Public Schools — 320, 405, and 410 East Main Avenue
e United States Postal Service — 155 East Main Avenue and 20 North Church

Owner-occupied single-family homes will be paid for by the city at large. This includes
the following parcels:

e 43 East Main Avenue
e 311 East Main Avenue

Square footage of snowmelt on each parcel will be calculated using the following
assumptions. Areas that are outside the areas outlined will be considered the
responsibility of the city:

e Crosswalks will be the responsibility of the city.

e Bump outs are the responsibility of the city.

e Corner lots are calculated to the lot line. Corner sidewalks are only
calculated in instances where the snowmelt connects to the snowmelt
in an adjacent parcel. Corner lots are charged for the frontage with the
least amount of assessable square footage of snowmelt.

e Square footage is calculated from the back of curb (or inferred back of
curb) to edge of snowmelt nearest the face of building.

e Sidewalk square footage along Elm Street is calculated based on a
sidewalk width of 9’ (based on similar sidewalk widths in the district
Cherry, Main west of Church, etc.).

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

’

21 South Elm Street < Zeeland, Michigan 49464 « (616) 772-6400 « FAX (616) 772-5352
e Public passageways are the responsibility of the city, aside from areas
reserved for private use.

In addition to the considerations listed above, entities for which we have a shared-use
parking agreement (North Street CRC, First CRC, and Second Reformed) will be modified
to reflect that sidewalks with snowmelt that abut a leased parking lot will be paid for by
the city at large.

Finally, snowmelt systems on private property not included in an easement or other
such operating agreement will be charged both the commodity charge and the capital
charge.

The estimated cost to operate and maintain the snowmelt system for the term of this special
assessment cycle is $245,920.86 per year which is calculated based on a total of 121,743 square
feet of snowmelt at $2.02 per square foot ($.92 operating charge plus $1.10 capital charge). The
City is proposing to pay for $202,759.96 of this total cost or 82% of the operating costs. This
$202,733.70 is broken down as follows:
e 549,395.50 represents the capital charge that will be covered by the “endowment” within
the Snowmelt Operations Fund. 1
e 524,282.42 represents the amount of the special assessment within district that cannot
be specially assessed (United States Postal Service and Zeeland Public Schools).
e $34,622.80 represents the special assessment on the City of Zeeland parcels and
passageways not included in the special assessment.
e 594,459.24 represents the square footage on specific parcels that has been excluded from
the special assessment (both capital and commodity charge) per the exceptions listed
above.

The remaining $43,160.90 will be spread among the parcels as described in the special assessment
district.

Special Assessment Term

While special assessment resolution no. 1 authorizes a special assessment period of up to 10
years, staff would recommend a period of 2 years. This would allow us to construct the Church
Street system in year 1 and have one full year of normal operation. We think this will allow us to
refine the operational costs of the full system prior to committing ourselves to a long-term special
assessment.

Next Steps

We are not looking for City Council approval at this meeting. We are simply presenting the report
and seeking feedback at this time. At your next meeting (February 2"), we will likely bring forth
Special Assessment Resolution No. 2, which will set a public hearing likely on February 16 to gather
feedback from the general public about the proposed special assessment.

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

&'
A\,‘{/

21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352

(
Timothy R. Klunder, City Manager

Kevin Plockmeyer, ACM of City Services/Infrastructure and Finance

FEEL THE ZEEL



RESOLUTION NO. 1
(Snowmelt Special Assessment District, 2026-1-SM)

City of Zeeland
County of Ottawa, Michigan

Portions of minutes of a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of
Ottawa, Michigan, held in the City Hall in said City on January 5, 2026, at 7:00 o’clock p.m., Local Time.

PRESENT: Council Members

ABSENT: Council Members

The following preamble and resolution were offered by Council Member

and supported by Council Member

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Zeeland tentatively deems it in the public interest,
health and welfare to operate, maintain and replace, if necessary, certain public improvements and a
snowmelt system in the City as described in the attached Exhibit A;

AND WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 14.6 of the City Charter of the City of Zeeland, the City
Superintendent of the City of Zeeland must make a report of these improvements before the City Council
may consider proceedings for the making, maintaining, replacing and operation of local public
improvements within the City;

AND WHEREAS, the special assessment responsibilities of the City Superintendent have been
assigned to the City Manager, and the title “City Manager” shall therefore be used in this resolution and in
future special assessment resolutions for this project;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT:



1. The City Manager is hereby directed to cause to be prepared a report which shall include
necessary plans, profiles, specifications and detailed estimates of the costs, an estimate of the life of the
improvements, a description of the assessment district, recommendations as to what portion of the cost of
the project must be borne by the Special Assessment District and the portion, if any, to be borne by the City
at-large, and such other pertinent information as will permit the City Council to decide the cost, extent and
necessity of the proposed improvements.

2. When the aforesaid report is completed, such report is to be filed with the City Clerk for
presentation to the City Council.

3. All resolutions and parts of resolutions as far as they conflict with the provisions of this

resolution be and the same hereby are rescinded.

AYES: Council Members
NAYS: Council Members
ABSENT: Council Members

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk

CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of a Resolution adopted
by the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of Ottawa, Michigan, at a Regular Meeting held on
January 5, 2026, and that said meeting was conducted and public notice of said meeting was given pursuant
to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public Acts of Michigan, 1976, as
amended, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or have been made available as
required by said Act.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk



EXHIBIT A

(Snowmelt Special Assessment District, 2026-1-SM)

2026 SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS TO OPERATE, MAINTAIN AND
REPLACE, IF NECESSARY, A SNOWMELT SYSTEM

Project Description:

The work of the project is described as follows:

A. The operational, maintenance and future replacement costs of a snowmelt system under
the sidewalks and pedestrian walkways along:

L
ii.
iii.

Main Avenue from State Street through the parcel at 421 E. Main Avenue;
Elm Street from Main Avenue to Cherry Avenue;

The East and West side of Church Street from Washington Avenue to
Central Avenue; and,

iv. The crosswalks at intersections and mid-block crossings on Main Avenue,
Elm Street and Church Street.
B. The maintenance and future replacement of sidewalks and hard surface in the areas in

which the snowmelt system is located;

C. The maintenance and future replacement of piping, valves and other ancillary items which

are necessary to operate a snowmelt system in the above described areas; and,

D. The operation, maintenance and future replacement of boilers, pumps and related ancillary

items which are necessary to operate a snowmelt system in the above described areas.

All such areas are located within the City of Zeeland, County of Ottawa, and State of Michigan.

The costs to be assessed for the above referenced items shall be for a period of up to ten years. The special
assessments for this project do not include the initial costs for the installation and purchase of boilers,

piping, valves and other necessary ancillary components of the initial snowmelt system.

As a part of the report of the City Manager, a map shall be provided of the snowmelt system and such report

shall indicate the phases for the installation of a snowmelt system and the time periods as to when it is
expected that parcels will benefit from the installation of a snowmelt system.



eg? wm, woosoquHealew  Logeoe (010) NVOIHOIN ‘ALNNOD YMVLLO ‘GNY13IZ 40 ALID mm m wm 2| = m : I
- 5% Oy N SO1UON 020> e ATV AAV™LIT ANV AV AHH3HD 2 S m 5| & .
'} | Q o N N .
i 28 sJesulbuz Buninsuo) > ‘1S HOYNHD ‘LS W13 ‘IAV NIVIN > m s |s 5 ig|e ©
R o} S o
-3 yuibbnig+-aloop 4O 2 185 |2 |2 E2]E
°Te < SNOISIATY NV1d SV3dV LT3N MONS 3 12 |E |2 |5 =0
- v
Z =
<
2 E w
L] © _Alm
N
- >
- © L o
Z > &
™ - <
O O o
LLl
—
-
—
LLI
W
O
2
(7))
| “ :
| | __
| | | |
| | et | 7. ¥ - Y 1 7 e T e
T | =
»ﬁ!\i\li!»_! = ANNN X r!i!/<_\ wllJM< !iMN%WMM@»W’H’M’M’ﬁV 3 @ Mu‘
S N\ I - — \
Y | N 7 E
_ _ N W
| | I . i \
! ! o ,:m
1 ,,,,! /
N NL_
* * \ ”_ \
} Nl - N ramﬁ
= .Wa.x}er//V/ SO /",_," y
N

/45 SET

)

121

(75,923 SFT CITY OF ZEELAND)

TOTAL SNOW MELT AREA (ALL SHEETS)
(45,820 SFT SPECIAL ASSESSMENT)

&_J.\f
SN
2o

d— — - —

WA}\ N2
}
|
|

N — — — —

N

2 III;III o

7777

SRR ODOSOOT
SNNNN “\.. —

SO NSNS NN OSSN S S5 S

XK N
NN

e SN NSNS NN s

S RNNNY WMIIISISS S —
e

] ]
AN i
NI N T H
Y
i s s s
@z
L
o
[

NAMNMAHNVA SHNVE I LF:0S:CT1 920T/71/1 SMP'SVAYY LTANMONS LSTOITDMA\dVINPWMOUS dAY UIRIA - PUB[AAZ [('LSTOIT\:d




_JAMES VANHEKKEN

g 1/14/2026 12:50:55 PM

P:\210257.01 Zeeland - Main Ave Snowmelt\CAD\DWG\210257 SNOWMELT AREAS.dw

70—-16—-13-481-038
HOP FAMILY LLC
#5 MAIN AVE

STATE ST.

70—17-24-227-017
SPIRIT SPE PORTFOLIO
CA C—STORE LLC
#4 MAIN AVE

-025
ICAL

2,731 SFT

70-17-18-356-063

17 E MAIN LLC
#17 MAIN AVE

- ™ 70-17-18-356—034
_ \ AT&T
P #25 MAIN AVE
- )
- 1,214 SFT
AN /
~ —

941 SFT

70—17-18-356—
ZEELAND HISTORICAL
#37 MAIN AVE

025

SNOWMELT LEGEND

L/

F\J
NWN\WAZ

/

N

e —

727

744 SFT 450 SFT

70-17-18-356—-026
DENNIS & CHRISTINE VINCIGUERRA
#43 MAIN AVE

70—17-18-356-027
MRB DEVELOPMENT LLC
#47 MAIN AVE

s o
NN\ 47
=

i

=

620 SFT

70=17-19-101-044

JCJ HOLDINGS LLC

#10 MAIN AVE

857 SFT

70-17-18-356-046
Z & S PROPERTIES LLC

#55 MAIN AVE

70—-17—18-356-045
HUNTINGTON BANK
#18 ELM ST

545 SFT

-/

N

72277

IH

70=17-19-101-049
NORTH ST CHR REF CHURCH
#20 MAIN AVE

2,286 SFT
765 SFT (City of Zeeland)

70-17-19-101-006
CITY OF ZEELAND
#46 MAIN AVE

778 SFT

70-17-19-101-045

JCJ HOLDINGS LLC
#16 MAIN AVE

821 SFT

ELM ST.

70=17-19-101-049
NORTH ST CHR REF CHURCH
#20 MAIN AVE

2,286 SFT

765 SFT (City of Zeeland)

1,175 SFT
225 SFT

70-17-18-357-023
NORTHPOINT
PARTNERS LLC
#1171 MAIN AVE

70—17-18=357-047
ZEELAND BNK INVES LLC C&0O CORP
#1071 MAIN AVE

280 SFT

70=17-18-357-024
115 EAST MAIN LLC
#1132 MAIN AVE

400 SFT

70-17-18-357-025
115 EAST MAIN LLC
#115 MAIN AVE

388 SFT

70-17-18-357-050
3D PROPERTIES LLC
#121 MAIN AVE

272 SFT

70-17-18-357-049
3D PROPERTIES LLC
#119 MAIN AVE

|

70—=17-19-101-049
NORTH ST CHR REF CHURCH

383 SFT

70—17-18-357-051
123 DEVELOPMENT INC
#123 MAIN AVE

#20 MAIN AVE

70-19-101-052
ELIZARDO HOLDINGS
#14 S. ELM ST.

1,073 SFT

70-17-19-101-047
MARY VANDEPOEL TRUST

#62 MAIN AVE

669 SFT
1,028 SFT

(CITY OF ZEELAND)

(SEE SHEET 5

FOR TOTAL AREA)

s

%%

,

3 il L
) 2 Q<

70-17-19-102—002
BRUMMEL PROPERTIES LLC
#110 MAIN AVE l

715 SFT

3,043 SFT

70-17-19-102-028
CITY OF ZEELAND
#100 MAIN AVE

(SEE SHEET 5
FOR TOTAL
AREA)

]

70-17-19-102-003
ZEELAND HARDWARE
ETC LLC
#114 MAIN AVE

581 SFT

|

J AN

L/

70-17-19-102—031
120 MAIN LLC
#120 MAIN AVE

358 SFT

ETC LLC
#122 MAIN AVE

342 SFT

70-17-19-102-032
ZEELAND HARDWARE

70-17-19-102-033

VAN KAMPEN
GARY—VALERIE
l #124 MAIN AVE l

256 SFT

70—-17-19-102-043

EQUITABLE LEARNING
INVESTMENTS LLC
#126 MAIN AVE

357 SFT

"AAV NIVIN

"AAV NIVIN

CITY OF ZEELAND

PROPERTY OWNER

PRIVATE

0 10 20

™ ™ g —

PLAN SCALE: 1" = 20"

Know what's below.
Call before you dig.

PLAN REVISIONS

IS
X S
[}
< 8
()] o
O X
=3 82
=c 2T
Mo ~F
c o=
+'-”<>i§-g
O 2 3sx
55 55
>
o(DE'O(B\
5 858
= O 68

\/

SNOW MELT AREAS
FOR
MAIN AVE, ELM ST, CHURCH ST,
CHERRY AVE AND LIBRARY ALLEY
CITY OF ZEELAND, OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN

FIELD SURVEY / DATE
M+B

PROJECT NO.:
210257.01

DESIGN DRAWN BY:
LFY

DESIGNED BY:
AP

CHECKED BY:
AP

PLAN DATE:
JANUARY 13, 2023

SHEET NUMBER

2 o 7



_JAMES VANHEKKEN

g 1/14/2026 12:51:00 PM

P:\210257.01 Zeeland - Main Ave Snowmelt\CAD\DWG\210257 SNOWMELT AREAS.dw

383 SFT

70—17-18-357-051
123 DEVELOPMENT INC
#123 MAIN AVE

m

287 SFT

70-17-18-357-052
DSME PROPERTIES LLC
#129 MAIN AVE

264 SFT

LLC
#1351 MAIN AVE

70-17-18-357-037
NORTHPOINT PARTNERS NORTHPOINT PARTNERS

423 SFT

1,652 SFT L
(CITY OF
ZEELAND)

70-17-18-357-085
WOODEN NICKEL

LLC PROPERTIES

#137 MAIN AVE

261 SFT

70-17-18-357-038 70-17-18-357-056
VQUEST PROPERTIES LLC

#133 MAIN AVE #139 MAIN AVE

224 SFT | .

BRIAN VAN HOVEN
#143 MAIN AVE
70-17-18-357-057

VQUEST PROPERTIES LLC
#1417 MAIN AVE

233 SFT

|

17-18-357-033

TRUST

7'{22 SFT

[

250 SFT ’219 SFT

BRIAN VAN HOVEN
#145 MAIN AVE

|
|
|
|

70—=17-18-357—-059
3D PROPERTIES LLC
#149 MAIN AVE

|
| |

2,498 SFT

70—17-18-357—-036
UNITED STATES POST OFFICE
#155 MAIN AVE

EE SHEET 7

IR

Yo\

NN

B
W NSQE

70-17-19-102-043
EQUITABLE LEARNING

INVESTMENTS LLC
| #126 MAIN AVE

357 SFT

CHURCH ST.

70-17-19-102-034
130 MAIN STREET

| #130 bﬁfw ave | ;\\
LL

238 SFT

148 S

318 SFT

2,296 SFT
(CITY OF
ZEELAND)

70-17-18—-398-044
SUNDAY LUNCH
PROPERTIES LLC
#201 MAIN AVE

(SEE SHEET 7
FOR TOTAL

286 SFT

152 SFT,

70-17-19-102-012 |70-17-19-102—01

70-17-19-102-035

JAMES & SaRA 70-17-19-102-036

GTVZ PROPERTIES LLC GgTy7 PROPERTIES LLC BLACK LAKE
DONKERSLOOT
134 MAIN AVE CAPITAL LLC
#132 MAIN AVE | # | 138 MAN AVE ) AN A |

70—17-19-102—-009
K & H HOLDINGS LLC
#132 MAIN AVE A

208 SFT 222 SFT

1104 SFT

70-17-18-398-045
QUALITY COURT LLC
#205 MAIN AVE

N
A y7

s

=

)

S — i

—————————
| BRACK
n
coc/

N

j 357 SFT

70-17-19-102-014
3D PROPERTIES LLC

|
|
|
|

#140 MAIN AVE

250 SFT

70-17-19-102-037
FEEL THE ZEEL LLC
#144 MAIN AVE

241 SFT

672 SFT

70-17-18-398-046
MDOK LLC
#217 MAIN AVE

70-17-19-102—-038
CADO LLC
#146 MAIN AVE

915 SFT

(SEE SHEET 6
FOR PATIO

RS

. AREA)

549 SFT =~

(SEE SHEET 6
FOR TOTAL
AREA)
ed 70-17-19-102—017
=z LAKESHORE INVESTOR GROUP
58 #150 MAIN AVE
V
AN

CONG

-

757 SFT

70-17-18-398-047
MDOK LLC
#225 MAIN AVE

[ V7 e

70—17-19-102-018
MM&S HOLDINGS LLC
#154 MAIN AVE

1,131 SFT

(SEE SHEET 7
FOR TOTAL
AREA)

546 SFT

70-17-18-398-023
RONALD & SHIRLEY KNOPER
#231 MAIN AVE

322 SF'I'j<

(SEE SHEET 7
FOR TOTAL
AREA)

70—-17-19-102-019
NEWZ PROPERTIES LLC
#156 MAIN AVE

802 SFT
(CITY OF

ZEELAND)

CHURCH ST.

804 SFT

70-17-18-398-014
MICHIGAN PIZZA HUT INC
#237 MAIN AVE

318 SFT

2,296 SFT
(CITY OF
ZEELAND)

70—17-18-398—-044
SUNDAY LUNCH
PROPERTIES LLC
#2071 MAIN AVE

(SEE SHEET 7
FOR TOTAL
AREA)

7

1104 SFT

70—=17-18-398-045
QUALITY COURT LLC
#205 MAIN AVE

SNOWMELT LEGEND

19
[e]

"4AV NIVIN

NN

N

SEE SHEET 7

—

449 SFT

NS
DN
g

4,925 SFT (City of Zeeland)

826 SFT

70-17-18-398-035
LEE & YOO LLC
#243 MAIN AVE

CENTENNIAL ST.

2

NN

_——

RN

S\t

ﬁ/

SEE SHEET 7

S R —

449 SFT
4,925 SFT (City of Zeeland)

NN
SANANANANRANNNRNY

\LH

AN

AN

f ANNNNNANN -

70-17-19-126-021
FIRST CHR REF CHURCH
#15 CHURCH ST

0
)

N

|

1,1GOEFT

70—-17-19-126-022

GL

#244 MAIN AVE

RENTALS LLC

CITY OF ZEELAND

PROPERTY OWNER

PRIVATE

"AAV NIVIA

0 10 20

™ ™ g —

PLAN SCALE: 1" = 20"

Know what's below.
Call before you dig.

PLAN REVISIONS

£
X 8
c 3
- — _g
(@)) )
O X
S 3 32
| O'E
— (o]
Mo Y&
c o=
+'-“<>f§-g
O 2 8o
SE
>
02 2o3s
S 882
= O 868

\/

SNOW MELT AREAS
FOR
MAIN AVE, ELM ST, CHURCH ST,
CHERRY AVE AND LIBRARY ALLEY
CITY OF ZEELAND, OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN

FIELD SURVEY / DATE
M+B

PROJECT NO.:
210257.01

DESIGN DRAWN BY:
LFY

DESIGNED BY:
AP

CHECKED BY:
AP

PLAN DATE:
JANUARY 13, 2023

SHEET NUMBER

3o 7



_JAMES VANHEKKEN

g 1/14/2026 12:51:05 PM

P:\210257.01 Zeeland - Main Ave Snowmelt\CAD\DWG\210257 SNOWMELT AREAS.dw

826 SF

630 SFT

70—17-18-399-021
CITY OF ZEELAND
#303 MAIN AVE

CENTENNIAL ST.

529 SFT

70-17-18-399-022
SCOTT & MARTHA ZUIDEMA
#311 MAIN AVE

560 SFT

70—17-18-399-013
GDP PROPERTIES
#315 MAIN AVE

580 SFT

70~17-18-399-023
GDP PROPERTIES LLC
#323 MAIN AVE

598 SFT

70-17-18-399-028
GDP PROPERTIES LLC
#331 MAIN AVE

3,032 SFT

70-17-18-399-032
GDP — ZEELAND LLC
#349 MAIN AVE

SNOWMELT LEGEND

IR
SR

<

P |444/‘A

——
——

1,160 SFT

3,032 SFT

70-17-18-399-032
GDP — ZEELAND LLC
#349 MAIN AVE

A

N. MAPLE STREET

6,041 SFT

1,163 SFT

70—17-18-460-016
ZEELAND PUBLIC SCHOOLS

#405 MAIN AVE

70=17-19-127-018
ZEELAND PUBLIC SCHOOLS
#320 MAIN AVE

758 SFT

/0-17-18-460-019
BA KOBE 1701 LLC
#421 MAIN AVE

70—-17-18-460—-024
BENJAMIN DOORN
#427 MAIN AVE

i

A

2\

%7

A

6,041 SFT

S. MAPLE STREET

N

/.

27

70—-17-19-201-025

ZEELAND PUBLIC SCHOOLS

#410 MAIN AVE

1,405 SFT

"AAV NIVIN

"AAV NIVIN

CITY OF ZEELAND

PROPERTY OWNER

PRIVATE

0 10 20

™ ™ g —

PLAN SCALE: 1" = 20"

Know what's below.
Call before you dig.

PLAN REVISIONS

=
X S
c 3
- — _g
()] o
O X
=3 82
=c 2T
Mo ,3F
c o=
4= U 2?,—5
O 2 8z
5% 55
a E_oco
OC o Cco
S Ng2
= O 868

\/

SNOW MELT AREAS
FOR
MAIN AVE, ELM ST, CHURCH ST,
CHERRY AVE AND LIBRARY ALLEY
CITY OF ZEELAND, OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN

FIELD SURVEY / DATE
M+B

PROJECT NO.:
210257.01

DESIGN DRAWN BY:
LFY

DESIGNED BY:
AP

CHECKED BY:
AP

PLAN DATE:
JANUARY 13, 2023

SHEET NUMBER

4 7



_JAMES VANHEKKEN

g 1/14/2026 12:51:09 PM

P:\210257.01 Zeeland - Main Ave Snowmelt\CAD\DWG\210257 SNOWMELT AREAS.dw

ELM ST.

669 SFT
1,028 SFT
(CITY OF ZEELAND)
i
i
2
|
224 SFT N

13341S W13 'S vl
017 LNINdOT13A3A gdi
£S0—10L—=6l—£L1—0L

7

750 SFT

70—17-19-101-051
16 S ELM ST LLC
#16 S. ELM STREET

13341S W13 'S 8¢

5

/ @ ANVT133Z 40 ALID

\g L10—=10l=61—/L1-0L
\\\

“AKE-DAVID ADRAGNA

17-19-101-029
t3 MAIN AVE

Jr

N

70—17—-19-102-028
CITY OF ZEELAND
100 E. MAIN AVE

3,043 SFT

441 SFT

70-17-19-102-029

CITY OF ZEELAND
17 S. ELM STREET

4,644 SFT

70—-17-19-102-045

CITY OF ZEELAND
21 S. ELM STREET

WI

2

IR N NN N N N NN TN

‘

70-17-19-103-001
- JUSTIN &| SHELBY DEKOEKKOEK

"AAV NIVIN

"1S AHH3HOD

SNOWMELT LEGEND

CITY OF ZEELAND

PROPERTY OWNER

PRIVATE

0 10 20

™ ™ g —

PLAN SCALE: 1" = 20"

Know what's below.
Call before you dig.

PLAN REVISIONS

€

4 8
c 3
- — _g
O o
O X
S 3 32
=c {§T
ms 2F
c o=
+'-“<>f§-g
O 2 8o
55 i
U:’,E_oco
OCOCG
S 882
=0 [68

\/

SNOW MELT AREAS
FOR
MAIN AVE, ELM ST, CHURCH ST,
CHERRY AVE AND LIBRARY ALLEY
CITY OF ZEELAND, OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN

FIELD SURVEY / DATE
M+B

PROJECT NO.:
210257.01

DESIGN DRAWN BY:

LFY
DESIGNED BY:
AP
CHECKED BY:
AP
PLAN DATE:

JANUARY 13, 2023

SHEET NUMBER

9o [



_JAMES VANHEKKEN

g 1/14/2026 12:51:15 PM

P:\210257.01 Zeeland - Main Ave Snowmelt\CAD\DWG\210257 SNOWMELT AREAS.dw

CHERRY AVE.

ELM ST.

7777,

G~

13341S W13 'S 8¢
ANVI33Z 40 ALID
L10—

10L=61l—=L1-0L

AN

% I N A

L S SNOWMELT LEGEND
| o) e} &) J o J—
CITY OF ZEELAND
@@@ 1
@
PROPERTY OWNER
4,644 SFT
PRIVATE
€3
: GEe
_ T ﬁ T
, VA Y =
J\%%%%%\ N SNNNNRRa

‘AL;
RN NI ORI

NN N R N IR N RN

/1

"AAV AH™E3HD

#3 MAIN AVE

70-17-19-101-029
INA" PEAKE—DAVID ADRAGNA

70-17-19-102-045
CITY OF ZEELAND
21 S ELM ST

AF

4,644 SFT

70-17-19-103-00
JUSTIN &| SHELBY DEKOEKKOEK
7 S ELM ST

T‘{‘¥“_ I I R
70—17-19-103—-004

ERIK HELTON
118 £ CHERRY AVE

70—17-19-103-003
SCOTT BREUKER
114 E CHERRY AVE

70-17-19-103—005
BORCULO PROPERTIES LLC
122 E CHERRY AVE

70-17-19-103-006
JASON & COURTNEY TIEMAN
126 £ CHERRY AVE

CHURCH ST.

70-17-19-102-045
CITY OF ZEELAND
21 S ELM ST

5,806 SFT (0

0
- ' : T //// Wﬁmfﬁ%
NN . =S _— >
R ) H‘%“ﬁ“&*#&hﬁ%%ﬁ&? A N L T S s NN NARARR. I RHSEERYNN X

|

H

70-17-19-103—-004
ERIK HELTON
118 £ CHERRY AVE

70-17-19-103—005
BORCULO PROPERTIES LLC
122 E CHERRY AVE

]

| 1

JASON & COURTNEY TIEMAN

R

70-17-19-103-006 70-17-19-103—-007

126 £ CHERRY AVE

134 B CHERRY AVE

|

BERNARD & JOYCE WOLTERS

70-17-19-103—-008
CITY OF ZEELAND
136 E CHERRY AVE

70—17-19-103-009
3D PROPERTEES LLC
156 £ CHERRY AVE

P T T

70-17-19-103—-007
BERNARD & JOYCE WOLTERS
134 £ CHERRY AVE

N\
\

/0-17-19-126-02
FIRST CHR REF CHURCH
#15 S. CHURCH ST

0 10 20

™ ™ g —

PLAN SCALE: 1" = 20"

Know what's below.
Call before you dig.

PLAN REVISIONS

£
X S
c 3
- — ?g
(@)) )
O X
=3 82
=c 2T
Mo ~F
c o=
+ u 2?,—5
O 2 3sx
55 5t
>
o(D E'Oo,_j\
5 858
= O 68

\/

SNOW MELT AREAS
FOR
MAIN AVE, ELM ST, CHURCH ST,
CHERRY AVE AND LIBRARY ALLEY
CITY OF ZEELAND, OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN

FIELD SURVEY / DATE
M+B

PROJECT NO.:
210257.01

DESIGN DRAWN BY:

LFY
DESIGNED BY:
AP
CHECKED BY:
AP
PLAN DATE:

JANUARY 13, 2023

SHEET NUMBER

6 o 7



_JAMES VANHEKKEN

g 1/14/2026 12:51:20 PM

P:\210257.01 Zeeland - Main Ave Snowmelt\CAD\DWG\210257 SNOWMELT AREAS.dw

SNOWMELT LEGEND
[ :'
V
CITY OF ZEELAND
0 10 20
™ ™
PLAN SCALE: 1" = 20'
CENTRAL AVE. CHERRY ST. PROPERTY OWNER
‘ |
_____ Y PRIVATE ﬁ\ Bl
o1 105 e #156 E. CHERRY AVE
p SR ) 414 SFT 0 5,806 SFT § 1,131 SFT
pe8 <GS NS. ® (SEE SHEET 4 . . .. .. "H5a £ MAN AVE
i h FOR TOTAL 5 i sweeer ‘T\
. AREA) j\
+ £ e M \ 321 SFT
L | > S 497 SFT | S 802 SFT Gl 9
N I , BN (CITY OF 5
SN -. | ZEELAND) 3
+ T S z
— & R j
——— C—— o
\ O
-
C
)
O
ala _—
n \ OO m A R B T i .(il)
; AEAEAIA AR eSO
5 k® @Jj ‘.ﬁ/ g Z I
B 1~ i 449 SF
| 849 SFT ‘4 4,925 SFT
. —I ‘ CITY OF
i‘ ZEELAND)
fite |
’ Inp e 128-020 oo FRST CHR REL CHURGH
SECOND REFORMED CHURCH Lo #15 S. CHURCH ST
MAIN AVE. #225 E. CENTRAL AVE é §
o wi
1131 SFT UNITED STATES ST o | 'g;“é, ;zg
| | == cgo
f E SHEET 3 , 93258
{ @ o =3 oo
322 SFT Hef 202 SFT DAL ¢ T
802 SFT 2,498 SFT | | 490 SFT 1,826 SFT .0, ' =
(CITY OF 50 SFT
ZEELAND) /<<> 21% SFT ’ (CITY OF >
— L | | ZEELAND) oz
.=~ — by
=) > NN 722NN\ NN k f
e — : L B N N . N N "‘““““““‘“““‘-“““““““““ > g 8 > =
ole § = 2
T[S Cd8
C|l|F =S
T |d59az
\ O|ls"=SZC
\\\ — I il < O
N\ \ \ ; LLl L (|
: N— / NANA VAN W NN — g g ui > <
. ///M /////////////////// Wmim o >
SNSRI AL 7 7 A S S S S S SSSSSSS A LT 7 7 77 < >N
4 / / ] Vi 7 NN NN OSSNSO AL /)
7 2 SN\ 7l NN\ 2a’
318 SFT % ¥ ()G 58 B ® | ] Bebrohy N /] Ww Z
2,296 SFT , @ O ’ ;/ = 5 7
SUNDA@:;LODJ;&JB&E%%ﬁ%g&S LLC (éITY OF l 1’440 SFT ’ 746 SFT FIELD SURVEY / DATE
ZEELAND 1,161 SFT
) o o \ ‘l ’ //\‘ PROJECT NO.: =
SEE SHEET 3 ’ — 210257.01
e o ’ o DESIGN DRAWN BY:LFY
#205 E. MAIN AVE #SQ%F%?‘CHH%EZHLLSCT #ﬁcﬁRccEgTWE‘NvN&{)é;T 7252%5&4@3381889 DESIGNED BY:
I #49 N. CHURCH ST AP
? ’ S CHECKED BY:
! g / : 455 N CHORGH S I PLAN DATE: =
JANUARY 13, 2023
SHEET NUMBER
T o 7




NORTH SIDE OF MAIN

Operating Capital Total
ASSESSED Cost/SFT Cost/SFT Special

PARCEL ADDRESS OWNER NAME DESCRIPTION AREA (SFT) S 0.92 | $ 1.10 | Assessment
70-17-18-356-063 17 E Main Ave, Zeeland, Ml 49464 17 E MAIN LLC Midwest Apartments 2731 $ 2,512.52 | $ - S 2,512.52
70-17-18-356-034 25 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1701 AT&T AT&T 1214|$ 1,116.88 | $ - S 1,116.88
70-17-18-356-025 37 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1701 ZEELAND HISTORICAL Historical Society 941| S 865.72 [ $ - S 865.72
70-17-18-356-027 47 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1761 MRB DEVELOPMENT LLC Former West Coast Building 450| $ 414.00 | S - S 414.00
70-17-18-356-046 55 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1701 Z & S PROPERTIES LLC Steve Sterken's Building 620( $ 570.40 | $ - S 570.40
70-17-18-356-045 18 N Elm St Zeeland, M1 49464 HUNTINGTON BANK Huntington Lot 545| S 501.40 [ $ - S 501.40
70-17-18-357-047 101 E Main St, Zeeland, M1 49464-1757 ZEELAND BNK INVES LLC C&O CORP Huntington Main Building 1175| $ 1,081.00 | $ - S 1,081.00
70-17-18-357-023 111 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464 NORTHPOINT PARTNERS LLC La Creme 225($ 207.00 | $ - S 207.00
70-17-18-357-024 113 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 115 EAST MAIN LLC Buntes 280( $ 257.60 | $ - S 257.60
70-17-18-357-025 115 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 115 EAST MAIN LLC Buntes 400| $ 368.00 | $ - S 368.00
70-17-18-357-049 119 E Main Street, Zeeland, M1 49464-1735 3D PROPERTIES LLC The Salon Co. 272( $ 250.24 | $ - S 250.24
70-17-18-357-050 121 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 3D PROPERTIES LLC Mom and Baby Again 388( S 356.96 | $ - S 356.96
70-17-18-357-051 123 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1768 123 DEVELOPMENT INC Koele Godfrey 383($ 352.36 | $ - S 352.36
70-17-18-357-052 129 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 DSME PROPERTIES LLC State Farm 287( S 264.04 | $ - S 264.04
70-17-18-357-037 131 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 NORTHPOINT PARTNERS LLC Moxy 264 $ 242.88 [ $ - S 242.88
70-17-18-357-038 133 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 NORTHPOINT PARTNERS Public 261| S 240.12 | S - S 240.12
70-17-18-357-065 137 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 WOODEN NICKEL PROPERTIES 423| S 389.16 | $ - S 389.16
70-17-18-357-056 139 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464 VQUEST PROPERTIES LLC Innovative Nail Oasis 224 $ 206.08 | $ - S 206.08
70-17-18-357-057 141 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 VQUEST PROPERTIES LLC Royal Cutz 233($ 21436 | $ - S 214.36
70-17-18-357-033 143 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 BRIAN VAN HOVEN TRUST Zeeland Print 122 s 112.24 | $ - S 112.24
70-17-18-357-063 145 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 VAN HOVEN BRIAN Zeeland Print 250( $ 230.00 | $ - S 230.00
70-17-18-357-059 149 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1735 3D PROPERTIES LLC Weise Law 219( $ 201.48 | $ - S 201.48
70-17-18-398-044 201 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1737 SUNDAY LUNCH PROPERTIES LLC Main Street Cycle 318( $ 292.56 | $ - S 292.56
70-17-18-398-045 205 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1737 QUALITY COURT LLC Kiekover Building 1104| $ 1,01568 | $ - S 1,015.68
70-17-18-398-046 217 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1737 MDOK LLC Dons' Flowers 672 $ 618.24 | $ - S 618.24
70-17-18-398-047 225 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1737 MDOK LLC Dons' Flowers 757| S 696.44 | $ - S 696.44
70-17-18-398-023 231 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1737 KNOPER RONALD-SHIRLEY Knoper Rental 546| S 502.32 | $ - S 502.32
70-17-18-398-014 237 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1737 MICHIGAN PIZZA HUT INC Pizza Hut 804| S 739.68 | $ - S 739.68
70-17-18-398-035 243 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1737 LEE & YOO LLC ACE Dental 826| S 759.92 [ $ - S 759.92
70-17-18-399-021 303 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1323 ZEELAND CITY OF Former Main St Auto 630( $ 579.60 | $ - S 579.60
70-17-18-399-013 315 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464 GDP PROPERTIES LLC GDP 560| $ 515.20 [ $ - S 515.20
70-17-18-399-023 323 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1323 GDP PROPERTIES LLC GDP 580| $ 533.60 | $ - $ 533.60
70-17-18-399-028 331 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1323 GDP PROPERTIES LLC GDP 598| S 550.16 | $ - S 550.16
70-17-18-399-032 349 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464 GDP - ZEELAND LLC GDP 3032 $ 2,789.44 | S - S 2,789.44
70-17-18-460-019 421 E Main Ave, Zeeland, Ml 49464-1325 BA KOBE 1701 LLC Community Restaurant 758| S 697.36 | $ - S 697.36

Totals 23092 $21,244.64 | $ - $ 21,244.64

SOUTH SIDE OF MAIN
Operating Capital Total
ASSESSED Cost/SFT Cost/SFT Special

PARCEL ADDRESS DESCRIPTION AREA (SFT) S 0.92 | $ 1.10 | Assessment
70-17-19-101-044 10 E Main Ave, Zeeland, Ml 49464 JCJ HOLDINGS LLC MTV Lot 857| S 788.44 | S - S 788.44
70-17-19-101-045 16 E Main Ave, Zeeland, Ml 49464-1702 JCJ HOLDINGS LLC MTYV Building 821| S 755.32 | $ - S 755.32
70-17-19-101-049 20 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1702 NORTH ST CHR REF CHURCH North Street CRC 2286 S 2,103.12 | $ - S 2,103.12
70-17-19-101-052 52 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1751 ELIZARDO HOLDINGS DON’T TELL MOM 1073| $ 987.16 | $ - S 987.16
70-17-19-101-047 62 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1702 VANDEPOEL MARY L TRUST Mary VanderPoel 669 $ 615.48 | $ - S 615.48
70-17-19-101-053 14 S Elm St, Zeeland, M1 49464-1751 MRB DEVELOPMENT LLC Streats Taco 224 $ 206.08 | $ - S 206.08




70-17-19-101-051 16 S EIm St, Zeeland, M1 49464 16 SELM ST LLC MIDWEST 750| $ 690.00 | $ - S 690.00
70-17-19-102-002 110 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 BRUMMEL PROPERTIES LLC Brummels 715| S 657.80 [ $ - S 657.80
70-17-19-102-003 114 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 ZEELAND HARDWARE ETC LLC Out of the Box 581| S 534.52 [ $ - S 534.52
70-17-19-102-031 120 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 120 MAIN LLC GRITZMAKER 358( S 329.36 | $ - S 329.36
70-17-19-102-032 122 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 ZEELAND HARDWARE ETC LLC Zeeland Hardware 342( $ 314.64 | $ - S 314.64
70-17-19-102-033 124 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 VAN KAMPEN GARY-VALERIE Deckers 256( $ 235.52 [ $ - S 235.52
70-17-19-102-043 126 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 EQUITABLE LEARNING INVESTMENTS LLC ELS 357($ 32844 | S - S 328.44
70-17-19-102-034 130 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 130 MAIN STREET LLC Zeeland Bakery 238( $ 218.96 | $ - S 218.96
70-17-19-102-009 132 E Main Ave A, Zeeland, Ml 49464-1736 K & H HOLDINGS LLC Integrity Cabinents 148| S 136.16 | $ - S 136.16
70-17-19-102-035 132 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 DONKERSLOOT JAMES-SARA Donkersloot Law 286 $ 263.12 | $ - S 263.12
70-17-19-102-036 134 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 6TVZ PROPERTIES LLC-VANDER ZWAAG TIMOTH|Franks 208 $ 191.36 | $ - S 191.36
70-17-19-102-012 136 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 6TVZ PROPERTIES LLC Franks East 222| S 204.24 | S - S 204.24
70-17-19-102-013 138 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 BLACK LAKE CAPITAL LLC Engedi 152| $ 139.84 | $ - S 139.84
70-17-19-102-014 140 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 3D PROPERTIES LLC Mitch Baker Vacant Building 250( $ 230.00 | $ - S 230.00
70-17-19-102-037 144 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 FEEL THE ZEEL LLC Tripelroot 241| S 22172 | S - S 221.72
70-17-19-102-038 146 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 CADO LLC Tripelroot 357($ 32844 | S - S 328.44
70-17-19-102-038 146 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 CADO LLC (Private Patio) Tripelroot 915| $ 841.80 [ $ 1,006.50 | $ 1,848.30
70-17-19-102-017 150 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 LAKESHORE INVESTOR GROUP Drip/Bridal Shop 549| S 505.08 | $ - S 505.08
70-17-19-102-018 154 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1774 MM&S HOLDINGS LLC Edward Jones/Redlum 1131| $ 1,040.52 | $ - S 1,040.52
70-17-19-102-019 156 E Main Ave, Zeeland, MI 49464-1736 NEW?Z PROPERTIES LLC Five Star/ Ron Brink 322($ 296.24 | $ - S 296.24
70-17-19-126-021 15 S Church St, Zeeland, M1 49464-1738 FIRST CHR REF CHURCH 1st CRC 449| S 413.08 | $ - $ 413.08
70-17-19-126-022 244 E Main Ave, Zeeland, M1 49464-1738 GL RENTALS LLC Generational Wealth 1160| $ 1,067.20 | $ - S 1,067.20

Totals 15917| $ 14,643.64 | $ 1,006.50 | $ 15,650.14

CHURCH ST
Operating Capital Total
ASSESSED Cost/SFT Cost/SFT Special

PARCEL ADDRESS DESCRIPTION AREA (SFT) S 0.92 | $ 1.10 | Assessment
70-17-19-103-009 156 E. CHERRY 3D PROPERTIES LLC Medical Office Building 414| S 380.88 [ $ - S 380.88
70-17-18-357-041 26 N CHURCH ST STEENLAND TIMOTHY-HOP RANDALL OTTAWA INSURANCE 490| $ 450.80 | $ - S 450.80
70-17-18-357-045 146 E WASHINGTON AVE SCFRC-HW-V LLC ZEELAND LUMBER 1826| $ 1,679.92 | $ - S 1,679.92
70-17-18-398-001 55 N CHURCH ST SCFRC-HW-V LLC ZEELAND LUMBER 734| S 675.28 | $ - S 675.28
70-17-18-398-009 49 N CHURCH ST SCFRC-HW-V LLC ZEELAND LUMBER 1161| $ 1,068.12 | $ - S 1,068.12
70-17-18-398-011 34 N CENTENNIAL ST SCFRC-HW-V LLC ZEELAND LUMBER 746| S 686.32 [ $ - S 686.32
70-17-18-398-043 25 N CHURCH ST SCFRC-HW-V LLC ZEELAND LUMBER 1440| $ 1,324.80 | $ - S 1,324.80

Totals 6811| $ 6,266.12 | $ - $  6,266.12

Total A d Area 45820

Total Amount Collected

$ 43,160.90




4

&'
Al:{/

21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor VanDorp and City Council Members

FROM: Kevin Plockmeyer, ACM of City Services/Infrastructure and Finance
SUBJECT: Lincoln Cemetery String Trimming Bid Award

DATE: January 16, 2026

CC: City Council Work Study and Action Items January 20, 2026

As City Council is aware, the Zeeland community places a high value on the appearance and
maintenance of our cemeteries as a way to honor loved ones and reflect community pride. Staff
share this commitment and work to ensure cemetery grounds are maintained to a high
standard.

For the past two years, the City has privatized the string trimming work at Lincoln Cemetery.
This approach was taken after the elimination of the SWAP program with Ottawa County, which
resulted in the City no longer being able to perform this work in-house. Outsourcing this service
has allowed staff to maintain expected service levels while addressing staffing limitations.

Bids were solicited in accordance with the attached bid documents for string trimming services
at Lincoln Cemetery for the growing seasons of 2026 through 2028. In an effort to attract more
competitive pricing and provide cost stability, staff elected to bid this work as a three-year
contract rather than a single season. Bids were opened on January 13, 2026, and two bids were
received.

Based on the bid tabulation, Near Shore Property Solutions submitted the lowest responsible
bid in the amount of $125,000 for the full three-year term. Staff has reviewed the bid and
confirmed it meets the specifications outlined in the bid documents. While the City has not
previously worked with Near Shore Property Solutions, staff have spoken with the company and
believe they can perform the work and have a clear understanding of what will be required to
successfully complete the contract.

Recommendation: Award a three-year contract for Lincoln Cemetery string trimming services

for the 2026 through 2028 growing seasons to Near Shore Property Solutions in the amount of
$125,000.

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

&'
A\,‘{/

21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352

Kevin Plockmeyer, ACM of City Services/Infrastructure and Finance

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

’

21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352

BIDS ARE REQUESTED FOR THE
FOLLOWING PROJECT:

STRING TRIMMING
LINCOLN CEMETERY
2026-2028 GROWING SEASONS
200 EAST LINCOLN AVENUE
CITY OF ZEELAND, MICHIGAN

Sealed bids from contractors will be received at
the Zeeland City Clerk’s Office, 21 S. Elm St.,
Zeeland MI 49464 on or before 10:00 AM,
January 13, 2026. Bids will be opened and read
aloud at that time and location.

All bids must be submitted in a sealed envelope
clearly marked Lincoln Cemetery String

Trimming.

The Owner reserves the right to waive
informalities and to award bids in its own best
interest.

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

g
&

21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352

Bid Specifications
String Trimming
Lincoln Cemetery
2026-2028 Growing Seasons
City of Zeeland, Michigan

General Information and Instructions

l.

The City of Zeeland will receive proposals from qualified contractors
for Lincoln Cemetery String Trimming, 200 E. Lincoln Ave., Zeeland,
MI 49464.

. Proposals must be mailed or delivered in person to the Zeeland City’s

Clerk Office, 21 South Elm Street, Zeeland, MI 49464. All proposals
must be sealed in envelopes, clearly marked “Lincoln Cemetery String
Trimming” and must be received prior to 10:00 AM, local time, on
Tuesday, January 13, 2026. This will be a public bid opening.
Evaluation of proposals and award will be at a later date; the
contractor will receive a letter of intent prior to receipt of contract.

The schedule of bidding/contract award shall be as follows:

January 13, 2026 at 10:00 AM Bids Due
January 20, 2026 Anticipated Award

Performance and Labor and Material Bonds will not be required for
the project.

Provide Liability Insurance and a Certificate of Insurance showing the
City of Zeeland as additional insured with a liability coverage of at
least $2,000,000. As is such, the successful bidder shall be required to
hold the City of Zeeland harmless from any liability in connection
with the required work.

FEEL THE ZEEL



4

&'
Al:{/

21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 « FAX (616) 772-5352
. Funding for the project is by the City of Zeeland and project does not
require the payment of prevailing wages.

. The successful bidder shall comply with all ordinances of the City of
Zeeland in conjunction with the performance of the project.

. Please direct all questions to Mike Bronkhorst at 616-218-3784 or
mbronkhorst@cityofzeeland.com.

. The owner reserves the right to accept or reject any or all bids and to
waive all irregularities in proposals. Proposals remain firm for sixty
(60) days from the date of the Bid Opening.

FEEL THE ZEEL


mailto:mbronkhorst@cityofzeeland.com

4

&'
4
21 South Elm Street + Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 + FAX (616) 772-5352

Project Specifications
String Trimming
Lincoln Cemetery
2026 — 2028 Growing Seasons
City of Zeeland, Michigan

. The City is seeking bids for string trimming at its Lincoln Cemetery (200
East Lincoln Avenue). An overhead map is included as part of this bid
package. The cemetery measures approximately 16.8 acres and contains
over 5,000 headstones. In addition to the headstones, the cemetery has a
number of trees, water spigots, signs and landscape features.

. Contractor is responsible for furnishing all equipment, labor, and
materials to string trim around all headstones, trees, water spigots, signs,
landscaping, and other features within the cemetery grounds.

. Contractor is responsible for the removal of grass trimmings from the
headstones and road surfaces with a blower or other means.

. Contractor shall move flower baskets in order to trim under/around the
baskets.

. Qrass is to be trimmed at a minimum on a biweekly basis, but the grass
around the headstones, trees, etc., shall not exceed 17 taller than the
adjacent mowed grass area. The City mows the cemetery on a weekly
basis.

. It is anticipated that 14 trimmings will need to take place each growing

season (April through October). The bid price will be lump sum for the
entire season. Progress payments will be made on a monthly basis.

FEEL THE ZEEL



Z!)

21 South Elm Street « Zeeland, Michigan 49464 - (616) 772-6400 « FAX (616) 772-5352

Contract Bid
String Trimming
Lincoln Cemetery
2026 — 2028 Growing Seasons
City of Zeeland, Michigan

String Trimming of the Lincoln Street Cemetery for the 2026 - 2028
growing seasons.

2026 Growing Season: § 4,250

2027 Growing Season: s 4\, 350

2028 Growing Season: s H2, 000

Total Bid: $ 125,000
Bidder:
Mear Snore Property Splutons
Printed Name of Bidder

pated: 01-0 5-2020 By: A@gjﬁ:&_

Signature of Authorized Representative

Andrew  Kosten

Printed Name of Signer and Title

20%L RHH Ave.

Street Address

Zeeland, MU 4a46Y

City, State, and Zip

FEEL THE ZEEL



Lincoln Cemetery String Trimming Bids

Bid Tab Sheet
Tuesday, January 13, 2026 @ 10:00 AM

Bidder

Bid
Quote

Near Shore Property Solutions

125,000.00

DJ's Landscape Management

158,100.00




4

&
,\:(,

21 South Elm Street « Zeeland, Michigan 49464 + (616) 772-6400 « FAX (616) 772-5352

CITY COUNCIL MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor Van Dorp and City Councilmembers
FROM: Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk

SUBJECT: Ottawa County Election Publishing Services and
Ottawa County Early Voting Printing/Mailing Agreement

DATE: January 16, 2026

CC: January 20, 2026, Council Packet

BACKGROUND: Ottawa County has prepared two (2) agreements with the City
Clerk for you to approve as these are statutory responsibilities that the Clerk is
responsible for and has already budgeted for. Additionally, both contracts were
formulated on concepts that Ottawa County believes will not be easily altered
based on a few different reasons surrounding the simplicity of the contracts
overall:

1. Publishing Contract — this is something our jurisdiction and Ottawa County
already do. Ottawa County simply put these services in a contract as they
realized that they likely should have been under contract for these already
but were missed.

2. Early Voting Notice — this is something that happens once every two (2)
years and is strictly guided by statute already. The language follows what
statute already indicates but just labels who will be doing what.

RECOMMENDATION: Motion and support to approve the following:
1. Subiject to City Attorney approval, authorize the City Clerk to enter into the
attached Agreement for Election Publishing Services with Ottawa County.
2. Subject to City Attorney approval, authorize the City Clerk to enter into the
attached Agreement for Early Voting Printing and Mailing Services with
Ottawa County.

FEEL THE ZEEL



FEEL THE ZEEL



AGREEMENT FOR ELECTION PUBLISHING SERVICES

This Agreement is made as of January 1, 2026, by the City/Township Clerk, a Michigan
municipal corporation, (“the
City/Township Clerk”) and the County of Ottawa, a Michigan municipal corporation, 12220
Fillmore St., West Olive, M1 49460 (“Ottawa County”), with reference to the following facts
and circumstances:

A. City/Township Clerk, pursuant to Michigan Complied Laws (MCL168.498, MCL
168.653(a) & MCL 168.798) is required to provide public notice by publication in a
newspaper of general circulation, three separate election related notices
(Registration, Election and Public Accuracy Test).

B. City/Township Clerk, pursuant to Michigan Complied Laws (MCL 168.498(3) &
MCL168.653(a)(2)), may enter into an agreement with the County Clerk to jointly
publish the notices required.

C. The City/Township Clerk has requested that the Ottawa County Clerk provide
assistance in publishing three notices for each election (as described and defined
in this Agreement) and has agreed to reimburse Ottawa County for these services
as provided in this Agreement.

D. Pursuant to the Urban Cooperation Act, MCL 124.501 et seq, Ottawa County is
willing to assist the City/Township Clerk by providing the requested election
publishing services under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual promises and representations, set
forth in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
adequacy of which is hereby acknowledge, the City/Township Clerk and Ottawa County
agree as follows:

1.  General Agreement: Ottawa County, through the Ottawa County Clerk/Register’s
Office (“County Clerk”) agrees to publish three (3) notices for each election, for those
cities and townships that enter into an Agreement for Election Publishing Services
with Ottawa County. The publishing will be administered by the County Clerk,
utilizing a newspaper of general circulation within each jurisdiction in accordance
with Michigan law. The County Clerk will organize, design, approve, and monitor the
publishing requirements, in consultation with, the City/Township Clerk. Ottawa
County agrees to perform the following services through its employees, and to
provide the materials set forth herein:

A. Scope of Service: The County Clerk, through its employees, agrees to
administer and publish during every election, according to the laws of the
State of Michigan, a Registration, Election and Public Accuracy Test Notice
in a newspaper of general circulation in the cities and townships listed in the
notice, for the City/Township Clerk and the other City/Township Clerks within




Ottawa County which are parties to this Agreement, starting January 1, 2026,
and concluding its services December 31, 2028.

. The City/Township Clerks in the following jurisdictions may enter such
Election Publishing Services Agreement with Ottawa County are:
Allendale Charter Township; Blendon Township; Chester Township; City of
Coopersville; Crockery Township; City of Ferrysburg; City of Grand Haven;
Grand Haven Charter Township; Georgetown Charter Township, Holland
Charter Township; City of Holland (including those parts of the City of Holland
within Allegan County); City of Hudsonville; Jamestown Charter Township;
Olive Township; Park Township; Polkton Charter Township; Port Sheldon
Township; Robinson Township; Spring Lake Township; Tallmadge Charter
Township; Wright Township; Zeeland Charter Township; City of Zeeland;
Ottawa County.

. Provide Proofs of Publication to City/Township Clerk: The County Clerk
will be responsible for providing a proof of publication to the City/Township
Clerk for review and approval. The County Clerk shall provide the
City/Township Clerk with an initial review period of no less than three (3) days,
and may as specified in the transmittal, allow additional review time when
feasible. Following receipt of approval, or deemed approval as provided
herein, from the City/Township Clerk, The County Clerk will publish the notice
utilizing a newspaper of general circulation within each jurisdiction in
accordance with Michigan Law.

. Public_Notice for Receiving Registrations: The County Clerk will be
responsible for publishing notice, no later than thirty (30) days before the
applicable election, specifying the location and the hours of operation of the
City/Township Clerk’s Office, for the purpose of receiving registrations before
an election. The notice must include the offices to be filled that will appear on
the ballot and a brief caption or description of any ballot proposals that will
appear on the ballot, and where an elector can obtain the full text of the ballot
proposal.

. Public Notice of Election: The County Clerk will be responsible for
publishing notice, no later than seven (7) days before the election, specifying
the location and the time at which the election is to be held, the offices to be
filled, and the proposals to be submitted to the voters. The notice mustinclude
a caption or brief description of the proposal or proposals along with the
location where an elector can obtain the full text of the proposal or proposals.
If certain offices or proposals are to be voted on in less than all of the
precincts, the notice shall specify the townships or cities that shall vote on
only those offices or proposals.

. Public Notice of Public Accuracy Testing: The County Clerk will be
responsible for publishing notice, no later than forty-eight (48) hours before




the testing of electronic tabulating equipment, specifying the location and the
time at which the test will be held.

G. Process for Withdrawing from Agreement: Ottawa County or the
City/Township Clerk may withdraw from this Agreement by providing at least
thirty (30) days’ written notice to the other. Any City/Township Clerk
withdrawing from the Agreement must send written notice of its withdrawal to
the following parties: the County Clerk, Corporate Counsel of Ottawa County
at 12220 Fillmore Street Room 130, West Olive, Ml 49464, and any other
participating City/Township Clerk that has entered an existing Agreement for
Election Publishing Services with Ottawa County. If Ottawa County withdraws
from this Agreement, written notice of its withdrawal shall be sent to the
City/Township Clerk and all other participating City/Township Clerks that
have entered an existing Agreement for Election Publishing Services with
Ottawa County. The City/Township Clerk and Ottawa County agree that they
may not withdraw from this Agreement during the period beginning sixty (60)
days before an Election.

Upon receiving written notice of withdrawal, and if the thirty (30) day notice
described above has been met, the County Clerk will send the City/Township
Clerk an approval letter acknowledging the withdrawal, with simultaneous
copies to all other parties to the Agreement. The Agreement will expire thirty
(30) days from the date of delivery of the notice of withdrawal if all deadlines
are satisfied. If the withdrawal falls within the sixty (60) days before an
Election, the County Clerk will send the City/Township Clerk a letter rejecting
the termination of the Agreement; the City/Township Clerk then will continue
to perform all responsibilities as outlined in this Agreement.

2. Responsibilities of the City/Township Clerk: The City/Township Clerk agrees to
perform the following services through its employees, and to provide the materials
set forth herein:

A. Review and Approval of Publication: The City/Township Clerk is
responsible for reviewing, proofreading, and approving all publications prior
to release. The City/Township Clerk’s review shall include, but not be limited
to, accuracy, completeness, formatting, and compliance with applicable laws,
policies and standards.

The City/Township Clerk shall provide written approval or requested revisions
within the established initial review period, as defined by the timeframe
communicated by the County Clerk at the time the proof of publication is
transmitted. If no written response is received within that period, the notice
shall be deemed approved. No publication shall be finalized or published until
written approval is received or approval is deemed granted pursuant to this
section.



B. Payment: The City/Township Clerk is responsible for paying its portion of
Ottawa County’s actual expenses for the services provided. Ottawa County
will bill the City/Township Clerk after each election, and the City/Township
Clerk will pay Ottawa County within thirty (30) days following its receipt of the
invoice.

C. Other Notices: In the event that notice is required outside of publication in a
newspaper, the City/Township Clerk shall be responsible for posting all
written or printed notices.

Independent Contractor: At all times and for all purposes under this Agreement,
the relationship of Ottawa County and the City/Township Clerk shall be that of
independent contractors. All employees of Ottawa County who perform services
under this Agreement shall be and remain employees of Ottawa County. They shall
be subject to the discipline, supervision, direction, policies, and control of Ottawa
County and the County Clerk. All employees or agents of the City/Township Clerk
who perform services under this Agreement shall be and remain employees or
agents of the City/Township Clerk, subject to the discipline, supervision, direction,
policies and control of the City/Township Clerk.

Indemnification and Hold Harmless: Each party to this Agreement shall defend,
indemnify and hold the other parties, and their officers, employees, agents, and
assigns, harmless from claims and any liability which arise out of and/or are the
result of an alleged error, mistake, negligence, or intentional act or omission of the
indemnifying party, its officers, employees, agents, and assigns.

Insurance: The City/Township Clerk will include Ottawa County, the Ottawa County
and its officers, employees, agents, and assigns as additional named insureds on a
policy of liability insurance. The required insurance policy shall have commercial
general liability policy limits of not less than $1,000,000. Ottawa County will include
the City/Township Clerk and its officers, employees, agents, and assigns as
additional named insureds on a policy of liability insurance or in its Memorandum of
Coverage from the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority. The required
insurance policy or coverage will have commercial general liability policy limits of not
less than $1,000,000. Written proof of the existence of such insurances will be
supplied by the City/Township Clerk and Ottawa County to each other as of effective
date of this Agreement, and at such times during the term thereafter, as Ottawa
County or the City/Township Clerk may reasonably require per this agreement.

Term of Agreement: The effective date of this Agreement shall be January 1, 2026.
This Agreement shall continue in effect from the effective date through December
31, 2028. This Agreement may be renewed thereafter for three (3) additional 4-year
renewals, by mutual written agreement of the parties, entered into no later than
December 31 of the previous year.




7.

Miscellaneous:

A. Section Headings. The headings of the several sections shall be solely for

convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction or
effect of the language in those sections.

B. Severability. If any one (1) or more of the provisions contained in this

Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable
in any respect, then such provision or provisions shall be deemed severable
from the remaining provisions of this Agreement. Any such invalidity, illegality,
or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement,
which shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision
had never been contained herein.

. Entire_ Agreement and Amendment. In conjunction with matters covered

by this Agreement, the Agreement contains the entire understanding and
agreement of the parties. There have been no promises, representations,
agreements, warranties, or undertakings by any of the parties, either oral or
written, of any character or nature hereafter binding except as set forth in this
Agreement. The parties acknowledge that terms within this Agreement may
be altered, amended or modified as a result of impending legislation, but only
by an instrument in writing, executed by the parties to this Agreement. Each
party to this Agreement waives its future right to claim or assert that this
Agreement has been modified, canceled, superseded, or changed by any oral
agreement, course of conduct, waiver, or estoppel.

. Successors and Assigns. All representations, covenants, and warranties

set forth in the Agreement, by or on behalf of or for the benefit of any or all of
the parties hereto, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any or all
such parties, and their successors and assigns.

. Terms and Conditions. The terms and conditions used in this Agreement

shall be given their common and ordinary definition and will not be construed
against any party considered to be the drafter of this Agreement.

. Execution of Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any

number of counterparts; all such counterparts shall for all purposes be
deemed to be an original. All such counterparts, or as many of them as the
parties shall preserve undestroyed, shall together constitute one (1) and the
same instrument.

. Individuality of Contractual Relationship. Although multiple local units

may enter into this agreement with the Ottawa County, each particular
contract shall be individual between the County and the particular local unit
that approves and executes it. Stated differently, this Agreement creates no
contractual obligations among the local units executing it and each
agreement stands on its own relative to the County.



In witness whereof the parties have executed this Agreement as of the indicated date (s).

City/Township Clerk:

By:

Its:

Dated:

COUNTY OF OTTAWA:
By:

Josh Brugger, Chairperson
Its: Board of Commissioners

By:

Justin F. Roebuck
Its: County Clerk/Register of Deeds

Dated:




AGREEMENT FOR EARLY VOTING PRINTING AND MAILING SERVICES

This Agreement is made as of January 1, 2026, by the City/Township Clerk of
, @ Michigan municipal corporation,
(“the City/Township Clerk”) and the
County of Ottawa, a Michigan municipal corporation, 12220 Fillmore St., West Olive, Ml
49460 (“Ottawa County”), with reference to the following facts and circumstances:

A. City/Township Clerk, pursuant to Michigan Complied Laws [MCL168.662(10)], is
required to provide actual notice to every registered elector, as to where and when
early voting will be conducted in their jurisdiction.

B. City/Township Clerk, pursuant to Michigan Complied Laws (MCL 68.720h), must
file their early voting plan with the County Clerk. One requirement of the early
voting plan includes the communication strategy, including how they will inform
and notice each elector of the opportunity for early voting, including where early
voting will occur, along with the dates and hours of operation of each early voting
site.

C. The City/Township Clerk has requested that the Ottawa County Clerk provide
assistance in printing and mailing notices for the early voting site(s) (as described
and defined in this Agreement) and has agreed to reimburse Ottawa County for
these services as provided in this Agreement.

D. Pursuant to the Urban Cooperation Act, MCL 124.501 et seq, Ottawa County is
willing to assist the City/Township Clerk by providing the requested early voting
printing and mailing services under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual promises and representations, set
forth in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
adequacy of which is hereby acknowledge, the City/Township Clerk and Ottawa County
agree as follows:

1.  General Agreement: Ottawa County, through the Ottawa County Clerk/Register’s
Office (“County Clerk”) agrees to notice all households of each registered elector for
each early voting site, for those cities and townships that enter into an Agreement
for Early Voting Printing and Mailing Services with Ottawa County. The printing and
mailing of the notice will be administered by the County Clerk, through its current
Kent Communications Inc. (“KCI”) Contract, who will organize, design, approve, and
monitor the notice requirements, in consultation with, the City/Township Clerk.
Ottawa County agrees to perform the following services through its employees, and
to provide the materials set forth herein:

A. Scope of Service: The County Clerk, through its employees, agrees to
administer and mail, according to the laws of the State of Michigan, a printed
notice specifying the location and hours of operation of the early voting site




for each day early voting is offered and to each registered elector’s
household, for the City/Township Clerk and the other City/Township Clerks
within Ottawa County which are parties to this Agreement, starting January
2, 2026, and concluding its services December 31, 2027.

. The Jurisdictions (“Jurisdictions”) that may enter such Early Voting
Printing and Mailing Services Agreement with Ottawa County are:
Allendale Charter Township; Blendon Township; Chester Township; City of
Coopersville; Crockery Township; City of Ferrysburg; City of Grand Haven;
Grand Haven Charter Township; Georgetown Charter Township; Holland
Charter Township; City of Holland (including those parts of the City of Holland
within Allegan County); City of Hudsonville; Jamestown Charter Township;
Olive Township; Park Township; Polkton Charter Township; Port Sheldon
Township; Robinson Township; Spring Lake Township; Tallmadge Charter
Township; Wright Township; Zeeland Charter Township; City of Zeeland;
Ottawa County.

. Design and Approval of the Notices: The County Clerk will be responsible
for working collaboratively with KCI to design the notice template for each
jurisdiction. Upon receipt of the design or proof, the County Clerk shall
forward the proof to the applicable City/Township Clerk for review and
approval. The County Clerk shall provide the City/Township Clerk with a
review period of no less than one (1) week, and may as specified in the
transmittal, allow additional review time when feasible. Following receipt of
approval, or deemed approval as provided herein, from the City/Township
Clerk, the County Clerk shall notify KCI of any required corrections or
authorize the notice for final printing and mailing.

. Early Voting Site Notices: The County Clerk will be responsible for providing
notice, no later than forty-five (45) days before the applicable election,
specifying the location of the approved early voting sites and the hours of
operation of the early voting sites for each day early voting is offered, to each
registered elector entitled to vote at these early voting sites. The County Clerk
must provide notice by mail to each registered elector’s household. A notice
is not required for the November General Election, if an early voting site is
established in addition to one or more early voting sites that remain in effect
for which notice was previously provided to each elector’s household.

If there is a temporary change to an early voting site, no later than 21 days
before the first day of early voting for an early voting site, the County Clerk
will be responsible for providing notice, no later than twenty-one (21) days
before the first day of early voting as to the new early voting site, to each
registered elector’s household by mail.

. Process for Withdrawing from Agreement: Ottawa County or the
City/Township Clerk may withdraw from this Agreement by providing at least




thirty (30) days’ written notice to the other, except during the statutory
blackout period described below. Written notice of withdrawal must be sent
to the County Clerk, Corporate Counsel of Ottawa County at 12220 Fillmore
Street Room 130, West Olive, Ml 49464, and to all participating
City/Township Clerk’s that are parties to an existing Agreement for Early
Voting Printing and Mailing Services with Ottawa County. If Ottawa County
withdraws from this Agreement, written notice shall likewise be sent to the
City/Township Clerk and all other participating City/Township Clerks that
have entered an existing Agreement for Early Voting Printing and Mailing
Services with Ottawa County.

The parties agree that no withdrawal may occur during the period beginning
one hundred fifty (150) days before the statewide August Primary Election in
an even-numbered year and ending upon the completion of the county
canvass for the statewide November General Election in that same even-
numbered year (the “Blackout Period”).

Upon receiving written notice of withdrawal, and provided that the notice is
submitted outside the Blackout Period and satisfies the thirty (30) day
requirement, the County Clerk will issue an approval letter acknowledging the
withdrawal, with similar copies to all other participating City/Township Clerks.
In such circumstances, the Agreement will expire thirty (30) days from the
date of delivery of the notice of withdrawal.

If a notice of withdrawal is submitted during the Blackout Period, the County
Clerk will issue a letter rejecting the attempted withdrawal, and the jurisdiction
shall continue to perform all responsibilities outlined in this Agreement.

2. Responsibilities of the City/Township Clerk: The City/Township Clerk agrees to
perform the following services through its employees, and to provide the materials
set forth herein:

A. Review and Approval of Notice: The City/Township Clerk is responsible
for reviewing, proofreading, and approving the notice upon receipt of a proof
copy from the County Clerk. The City/Township Clerk’s review shall include,
but not be limited to, accuracy, completeness, formatting, and compliance
with applicable laws, policies, and standards.

The City/Township Clerk shall provide written approval or requested revisions
within the established review period, as defined by the timeframe
communicated by the County Clerk at the time the proof is transmitted, to not
be less than one (1) week. If no written response is received within that
period, the notice shall be deemed approved. No notice shall be finalized,
printed, and mailed until written approval is received or approval is deemed
granted pursuant to this section.



B. Payment: The City/Township Clerk is responsible for paying its portion of
Ottawa County’s actual expenses for the services estimated in Exhibit A.
Ottawa County will bill the City/Township Clerk after the County Clerk has
paid its invoice to KCI, and the City/Township Clerk will pay Ottawa County
within thirty (30) days following its receipt of the invoice.

C. Change to Early Voting Site: In the event of a temporary change to an early
voting site, the City/Township Clerk shall, no later than twenty-one (21) days
prior to the commencement of early voting at such site, provide notice of the
change to the County Clerk as expeditiously as practicable, so as to enable
the County Clerk to comply with the statutory twenty-one (21) day notice
requirement.

In addition, the City/Township Clerk, or designated staff, shall be responsible
for posting, at the former early voting site, a notice identifying the new early
voting site, in accordance with the requirements set forth in MCL
168.662(8)(b).

In the event of a temporary change to an early voting site, within 20 days
before the start of early voting, the City/Township Clerk, or designated staff
shall provide notice in accordance with the requirements set forth in MCL
168.662(11)(a-c).

Independent Contractor: At all times and for all purposes under this Agreement,
the relationship of Ottawa County and the City/Township Clerk shall be that of
independent contractors. All employees of Ottawa County who perform services
under this Agreement shall be and remain employees of Ottawa County. They shall
be subject to the discipline, supervision, direction, policies, and control of Ottawa
County and the County Clerk. All employees or agents of the City/Township Clerk
who perform services under this Agreement shall be and remain employees or
agents of the City/Township Clerk, subject to the discipline, supervision, direction,
policies and control of the City/Township Clerk.

Indemnification and Hold Harmless: Each party to this Agreement shall defend,
indemnify and hold the other parties, and their officers, employees, agents, and
assigns, harmless from claims and any liability which arise out of and/or are the
result of an alleged error, mistake, negligence, or intentional act or omission of the
indemnifying party, its officers, employees, agents, and assigns.

Insurance: The City/Township Clerk will include Ottawa County, the Ottawa County
and its officers, employees, agents, and assigns as additional named insureds on a
policy of liability insurance. The required insurance policy shall have commercial
general liability policy limits of not less than $1,000,000. Ottawa County will include
the City/Township Clerk and its officers, employees, agents, and assigns as
additional named insureds on a policy of liability insurance or in its Memorandum of
Coverage from the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority. The required
insurance policy or coverage will have commercial general liability policy limits of not

4



less than $1,000,000. Written proof of the existence of such insurances will be
supplied by the City/Township Clerk and Ottawa County to each other as of effective
date of this Agreement, and at such times during the term thereafter, as Ottawa
County or the City/Township Clerk may reasonably require per this agreement.

Term of Agreement: The effective date of this Agreement shall be January 1, 2026.
This Agreement shall continue in effect from the effective date through December
31, 2027. This Agreement may be renewed thereafter for three (3) additional two (2)
year terms, by mutual written agreement of the parties, entered into no later than
one hundred fifty (150) days before the first regularly scheduled statewide or federal
election in 2028, 2030 and 2032.

Miscellaneous:

A. Section Headings. The headings of the several sections shall be solely for
convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction or
effect of the language in those sections.

B. Severability. If any one (1) or more of the provisions contained in this
Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable
in any respect, then such provision or provisions shall be deemed severable
from the remaining provisions of this Agreement. Any such invalidity, illegality,
or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement,
which shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision
had never been contained herein.

C. Entire Agreement and Amendment. In conjunction with matters covered
by this Agreement, the Agreement contains the entire understanding and
agreement of the parties. There have been no promises, representations,
agreements, warranties, or undertakings by any of the parties, either oral or
written, of any character or nature hereafter binding except as set forth in this
Agreement. The parties acknowledge that terms within this Agreement may
be altered, amended or modified as a result of impending legislation, but only
by an instrument in writing, executed by the parties to this Agreement. Each
party to this Agreement waives its future right to claim or assert that this
Agreement has been modified, canceled, superseded, or changed by any oral
agreement, course of conduct, waiver, or estoppel.

D. Successors and Assigns. All representations, covenants, and warranties
set forth in the Agreement, by or on behalf of or for the benefit of any or all of
the parties hereto, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any or all
such parties, and their successors and assigns.

E. Terms and Conditions. The terms and conditions used in this Agreement
shall be given their common and ordinary definition and will not be construed
against any party considered to be the drafter of this Agreement.




F. Execution of Counterparts.

G. Individuality of Contractual Relationship.

may enter into this agreement with the Ottawa County, each particular
contract shall be individual between the County and the particular local unit
that approves and executes it. Stated differently, this Agreement creates no
contractual obligations among the local units executing it and each

agreement stands on its own relative to the County.

In withness whereof the parties have executed this Agreement as of the indicated date (s).

COUNTY OF OTTAWA:

City/Township Clerk:

By:

This Agreement may be executed in any
number of counterparts; all such counterparts shall for all purposes be
deemed to be an original. All such counterparts, or as many of them as the
parties shall preserve undestroyed, shall together constitute one (1) and the
same instrument.

Although multiple local units

Its:

Dated:

By:

Josh Brugger, Chairperson
Its: Board of Commissioners

By:

Justin F. Roebuck
Its: County Clerk/Register of Deeds

Dated:




EXHIBIT A - ESTIMATED COSTS

City of Holland- | City of Holland - City of
D Charge Org & Object Detail Blendon Chester City of Ci Allegan Ottawa Hudsonville |City of Zeeland| Crockery Holland Olive Park Polkton Port Sheldon Wright Zeeland Total
Households pulled from QVF

on 11/18/2025 7646 2811 812 1732 3391 10095 3074 2410 1995 19988 14341 3740 1877 7720 948 2281 3618 1223 4226 93928
ELEC1 Printing - Postcard 10114511-676000 $0.05 | $ 371.36 | $ 136.53 | $ 39.44 | $ 8412 | $ 164.70 | $ 490.31 | $ 149.30 | $ 117.05 | $ 96.90 [ $ 970.80 [ $ 696.53 | $ 181.65 | $ 91.16 | $ 374.95 | $ 46.04 | $ 110.79 | $ 17572 | $ 59.40 [ $ 205.25 | $ 4,562.00
ELEC1 Load File 10114511-676000 $55.00 | $ 55.00 [ $ 55.00 [ $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 [ $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 [ $ 55.00 [ $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 [ $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 [ $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 | $ 55.00 [ $ 55.00 | $ 1,045.00
ELEC1 F i 10114511-676000 1211 $ 1211 [ $ 1211 [ $ 1211 [ $ 1211 [ $ 1211 [ $ 1211 | $ 1211 [ $ 1211 | $ 1211 [ $ 1211 [ $ 12.10 | $ 1210 [ $ 12.10 | $ 12.10 | $ 1210 [ $ 12.10 | $ 12.10 | $ 1210 [ $ 12.10 | $ 230.00
ELEC1 NCOA Full Service 10114511-676000 0.00345| $ 26.38 | $ 9.70 | $ 2.80 [ $ 598 | $ 11.70 | $ 34.83 | $ 1061 [ $ 831 (% 6.88 | $ 68.96 | $ 49.48 | $ 12.90 [ $ 6.48 [ $ 26.63 | $ 327 | $ 7.87 [ $ 1248 | $ 422 | $ 14.58 | $ 324.05
ELEC1 Digital 10114511-676000 0.017| $ 129.98 | $ 47.79 | $ 13.80 | $ 29.44 | $ 57.65 | $ 171.62 | $ 52.26 [ $ 40.97 | $ 3392 [ $ 339.80 | $ 243.80 | $ 63.58 | $ 31.91 | $ 131.24 | $ 16.12 [ $ 38.78 | $ 6151 | $ 2079 [ $ 7184 | $ 1,596.78
ELEC1 Pre-Press 10114511-676000 18.95| $ 18.95 [ $ 18.95 [ $ 18.95 | $ 18.95 | $ 18.95 | $ 18.94 | $ 18.94 [ § 18.94 | $ 18.94 [ § 18.94 [ § 18.95 | $ 18.95 [ $ 18.95 | $ 18.95 | $ 18.95 [ $ 18.95 | $ 18.95 | $ 18.95 [ $ 18.95 | $ 360.00
ELEC1 Sort & Mail 10114511-676000 0.015| $ 114.69 | $ 4217 | $ 12.18 | $ 25.98 | $ 50.87 | $ 151.43 | $ 46.11 | $ 36.15 | $ 29.93 [ $ 299.82 [ $ 21512 | $ 56.10 [ $ 28.16 | $ 115.80 | $ 14.22 [ $ 34.22 | $ 54.27 | $ 18.35 [ $ 63.39 | $ 1,408.92
ELEC1 Prepare Forms 10114511-676000 0.79) $ 079 | $ 079 | $ 079 [ $ 079 [ $ 078 [ $ 079 [ $ 079 | $ 079 [ $ 079 | $ 079 | $ 079 [ $ 079 | $ 079 [ $ 079 [ $ 079 | $ 079 [ $ 079 [ $ 079 | $ 079 [ $ 15.00
ELEC1 Postage 10114511-676000 0.178| $ 1,360.99 | $ 500.36 | $ 144.54 | $ 308.30 | $ 603.60 | $ 1,796.91 | $ 547.17 | $ 428.98 | $ 355.11 | $ 3,557.86 | $ 2,552.70 | $ 665.72 | $ 33411 | $ 1,374.16 | $ 168.74 | $ 406.02 | $ 644.00 | $ 217.69 | $ 752.23 | $ 16,719.18
Total $ 2,090.25 | $ 823.39 | § 29961 | $ 540.67 | $ 975.35 | $ 2,731.92 | $ 892.29 | § 71831 | $ 609.57 | $ 5,324.08 | $ 3,844.46 | $ 1,066.79 | $ 578.65 | $ 2,109.63 | $ 335.23 | § 684.51 | $ 1,034.83 | $ 407.29 [$  1,194.13 | $ 26,260.93

Exhibit A - 1




3 KCI

create « communicate « connect

Renee Kuiper
Ottawa County
12220 Fillmore St.
PO BOX 310

West Olive, MI 46460
Ph: 616-994-4776

Project

Fax:

2026 Early Voting Postcard — Color

3901 East Paris SE
Grand Rapids, M|l 49512
616.957.2120 phone
616.957.3026 fax
kentcommunications.com

Proposal

Proposal 243734.

Date November 20, 2025

Variable Color Digital Print & Address 4x6 Postcard on 100# White Coated Cover, Trim to Bleed, Sort

& Mail NonProfit

Components
Postcard
Quantity of 105,000
Services

**Printing - Postcard

Load File

Programming for Digital Print
NCOA Full Service

Digital Addressing

Pre-Press
Sort & Mail

Prepare Forms/Verify and/or Del.

to PO

Total Cost for Services

Estimated Postage
Std-Reg (Non-Profit)/5-Digit

Total Estimated Postage

Total Estimated Project Cost

Postage must be paid in advance or on deposit with the Post Office.

Quantity Setup Minimum  Rate
105,000 $48.57
19 $55.00 $55.00
2 $115.00 $115.00
105,000 $225.00 $3.45
105,000 $115.00 $17.00
8 $40.00 $40.00
105,000 $90.00 $15.00
1 $15.00 $15.00
Pieces Rate
105,000 0.17800
105,000  Unit Price: $0.2777

Thank you for the opportunity to quote on this project.

Ericka Wujkowski

Exhibit B - 1

per
/m
ea
ea

/m
ea

ea

Price
$5,099.76
$1,045.00

$230.00
$362.25
$1,785.00
$360.00
$1,575.00
$15.00

$10,472.01

Postage
$18,690.00000

$18,690.00000
29,162.01



Account Manager Accepted :
Phone: 616-957-2120

Fax: 616-957-3026 o Ottawa County ('CLIENT')
Email: erickaw@kentcommunications.com

By

Name

Title

Date

THIS PROPOSAL CONSISTS OF THIS PAGE AND PARAGRAPH 1-18 ON THE BACK SIDE

Exhibit B - 2



MAIL INDUSTRY TRADE CUSTOMS

1. PROPOSALS: Proposals are subject to acceptance within 90 days. Proposals are based on the cost of labor and materials on the date of the proposal. If changes
occur in cost of materials, labor, or other costs prior to acceptance, or if the customer requires changes in the mailing schedule subsequent to acceptance, the right is
reserved to change the price quoted. Subsequent orders will be subject to price revision if required. Proposals do not include applicable taxes, shipping costs or
deliveries unless specifically stated. Postage included on proposals is an estimate only. Proposals are only valid when in writing.

2. CANCELLATION: Orders may be canceled by the customer at any time by notice in writing or via e-mail with the understanding that Kent Communications
Inc. (KCI) will be compensated in full for any work or services performed prior to cancellation, plus the cost of any goods or services purchased for the order.

3. ALTERATIONS/SPECIFICATIONS: Prices quoted are based upon our understanding of the specifications submitted. If there is a change in specifications or
instructions resulting in additional costs, the work performed will be billed at the current rates, and the mailing date may be delayed.

4. VERBAL ORDERS: Written or e-mail orders are strongly recommended. KCI may accept verbal orders; however such orders are subject to KCI’s acceptance
of the written final specifications which customer shall deliver to KCI by fax or mail prior to the commencement of the work.

5. POSTAGE: Proposals include estimated postage only. The customer is responsible for the payment of all postage, whether or not included in the proposals.
KCI will notify the customer in writing, by e-mail or verbally by telephone call as soon as reasonably possible after the actual amount of postage is known and will
notify the customer of the date when the postage is needed in order to complete the mailing prior to the agreed upon mailing date. KCI will make reasonable efforts to
provide the customer with an accurate estimate of required postage; however, the customer, and not KCI, is responsible for additional postage charges if the rate of
postage changes for any reason including the design of the mail piece. Payment of postage in advance is required on all orders and is the responsibility of the customer.
KCI reserves the right to hold mailings for which sufficient postage has not been paid or until postage payment has been verified. The customer will provide the
postage payment in adequate time for KCI to complete the mailing prior to the previously agreed upon mail date. The customer is responsible for all additional postage
and or shipping charges assessed by the Post Office or any other shipping agent after the mailing has been mailed.

6. ACCEPTANCE OF ORDER: The customer agrees that KCI may refuse at any time to mail any copy, photographs or illustrations of any kind that in the
management’s sole judgement believes is an invasion of privacy, is degrading, libelous, unlawful, profane, obscene, pornographic, tends to ridicule or embarrass, or is
in bad taste, or which in the management’s sole judgement is an infringement on a trade mark, or trade name, or service mark, or copyright belonging to others.

The Customer also agrees to defend and hold KCI harmless in any suit, claim, or court action brought against KCI for alleged or actual damages, costs, expenses
(including reasonable attorney’s fees), liabilities or losses of any kind or nature resulting from the mailing for the customer, including circumstances where KCI, acting
as the customer’s agent, uses copy, photographs, or illustrations that are or believed by others to be degrading, libelous or harmful to their reputations, images, or
standing in the community or an infringement on a trade mark, trade name, service mark, or copyright belonging to others, or in a suit or court action brought against
KCI for actions of the customer’s employees which may occur as a result of any mailing.

7. MAILING LISTS: Customer’s mailing list(s) in KCI’s possession for storage or otherwise, is the exclusive property of the customer and shall be used only at
the customers instructions. KCI shall provide reasonable protection against the loss of a customer’s list. It is the customer’s sole responsibility to maintain a duplicate
list or have the source material from which the list was compiled. KCI shall pay for the cost of replacing such lists in the event of its systems failure, loss by fire,
vandalism, theft or other such causes on KCI’s premises (excluding destruction of the list due to the customer’s negligence or willful misconduct), provided that the
customer has a duplicate list or has the source material from which the list was compiled, and then only to the extent of the costs involved in replacing the lost list. KCI
shall not be liable for compiling such lists nor for an intangible or special value attached thereto.

KClI is not responsible for the accuracy or integrity of lists or other data supplied by the customer or list broker. Unless otherwise specified in writing in advance, all
rented mailing lists are provided on a one-time use basis.

8. MATERIALS: KCI assumes in all proposals that all material provided will permit efficient handling on automated equipment, and meets equipment
manufacturer’s published specifications. Materials furnished that are within manufacturer’s specifications, but which are not up to acceptable operational standards due
to poor folding, facing, trimming, packing, sticking together of material, insufficient leeway between enclosures and envelopes, square envelope flaps or other causes,
will be subject to pricing at special rates. The customer will be notified when a deficiency is discovered and approval will be obtained for handling at special rates
before proceeding with work, and a new delivery schedule may result.

KClI is not responsible for identifying errors in preprinted copy on customer-furnished materials and assumes no liability for damages resulting from the mailing of
materials which contain erroneous information. When performing mailings for not-for-profit customers, KCI is not responsible for content in mailed materials which
causes a customer to lose their Nonprofit Status.

All direct mail handling and processing involves spoilage. Allowances for spoilage should be taken into consideration in ordering material. Spoilage of up to three (3)
percent of customer’s materials is typical. KCI will make reasonable efforts to handle customer’s material to prevent undue spoilage. Nevertheless, KCI is not
responsible for shortages of material as a result of spoilage in processing. All stock and materials belonging to a customer will be held and stored only at the
customer’s risk, and the customer shall be responsible for insurance on its stock and material.

Printer delivery tickets must accompany the materials delivered, and should show the number of skids or cartons, the quantity per skid or carton, and the total delivery
quantity. Each incoming carton or skid must bear an identity, item code, quantity and a sample clearly visible. Each skid shall have only one material version, unless
clearly marked and separated. Multiple items shall not be included within a single carton, skid or container unless noted thereon and on accompanying paperwork. KCI
will apply a surcharge for any rework necessary for materials received not meeting these specifications.

KCI accepts and may rely upon printers’ count until processing, and assumes no responsibility for shortages discovered at that time. Additional charges will apply if
the customer requires the mailer to verify printer’s counts prior to processing. Customer shall provide KCI with sufficient inventory or adequate sources of supply to
meet anticipated demand. Cost for back orders, delay notices, canceled orders and increased customer service resulting from out of stock conditions is to be paid by,
and will be billed to customer.

Collect shipment will be accepted only if clearance is obtained in advance, and a service charge will be added to the actual freight charges. KCI is not responsible for
the condition of shipped overs, unless customer has been billed for packing and/or shipping.

Exhibit B - 3



The customer retains title to and the insurable interest in its materials. Customer shall obtain its own insurance for loss or damage to its materials. Customer releases,
discharges, and holds KCI harmless from any loss or damage to customer’s material that is or should have been covered by the insurance to be provided by customer, as
provided above. KCI may carry insurance to protect itself against acts of negligence on the part of its employees in the normal course of business. If specific additional
insurance coverage is desired by customer, such coverage must be specified by agreement in writing with KCI and customer shall then provide and pay for such
additional coverage by separate insurance or rider. In such instances, the liability of KCI for losses will be limited to the insurance coverage provided.

9. LABELS: Labels must be within equipment manufacturers’ published specifications for labeling equipment. For paper labels as well as those which are
electronically generated, quoted prices assume that label placement will be in the position most advantageous to production speed, or additional charges will be billed.

10. INSERTING SEQUENCE: Effort will be made to insert material in the sequence and facing the direction the customer requests, but quoted prices assume the
most advantageous production speeds, and specified sequence or facing may result in additional charges being billed.

11. OVERAGES: The customer must advise KCI, in advance of the performance of the order, of the disposition of overs (leftover mail pieces). Overs may be
returned to the customer, stored, or destroyed. If items are stored or returned, applicable storage and delivery charges will be added. Additionally, at KCI’s option and
without liability to KCI, material may be automatically destroyed after 60 days if customer has failed to respond to a disposition request or failed to pay for storage
starting 30 days after the mail date. Premium storage rates may be applied to old materials or materials for which disposition has not been designated. KCI is not
responsible for the condition of shipped overs.

12. DELIVERY SCHEDULES: KCI will make reasonable efforts to meet scheduled delivery and mailing date(s), but is not liable for failure to meet any requested
delivery dates. In addition, KCI has no control over U.S. Postal Service, United Parcel Service or common carriers’ delivery schedules and cannot guarantee when the
mail or shipments deposited with or released to these carriers will be delivered. The date which mail or shipments are deposited by KCI with or released to these
carriers is the date of delivery for purposes of this contract.

KCI is not responsible or liable due to delays, and all orders are accepted contingent upon, fire, accident, act of God, mechanical breakdown or other causes beyond
KCTI’s control. Since the time element is an integral part of KCI’s business, quoted prices are based upon a specific set of time schedules for completion. Any
requested deviation from the schedules described or agreed upon by both parties at the time the order is placed may alter the quoted price. Late delivery of material
may delay the completion date of the order by a greater degree than the actual elapsed time the material is late.

13. ERRORS IN MAILING: In the event of an error or mistake by KCI resulting in an erroneous mailing, KCI, at its expense, shall remail that portion of the
mailing that was in error, as soon as is reasonably possible after notification in writing by customer of the error or mistake. Notwithstanding KCI’s error or mistake, the
customer shall pay the postage for all such remailings. The remailing is the exclusive and sole remedy of customer against KCI for such error or mistake, and is in
substitution for all other remedies or damages, including loss of business, postage, or other consequential or incidental damages.

14. DELINQUENT INVOICES: If customer fails to timely pay KCI, KCI may, at its option, along with all other remedies available to KCI, retain the customer’s
list or printing or other property until paid in full or sell the customers property and apply the proceeds against payment of delinquent invoices. “Delinquent” is defined
as “past the agreed or specified payment date.” After suitable credit has been established, unless otherwise specified in writing by KCI, terms are net with interest as
allowed by law applied to delinquent invoices. Customer is responsible for any related collection costs, legal fees and interest.

15. BROKER/AD AGENCY/RESELLER: When contracting with an intermediary such as a broker, ad agency or reseller for work on behalf of their customers, the
intermediary, as well as the customer is fully responsible to KCI for timely payment of invoices and for related collection costs, legal fees and interest. The
intermediary’s responsibility for payment to KCI is without regard to whether the intermediary has been paid by its customer for services rendered.

16. TAXES: All amounts due for taxes and assessments will be added to the customer’s invoice and are the responsibility of the customer. No tax exemption will be
granted unless official proof of the customer’s exemption is on file with KCI or such documentation accompanies the order. If, after the customer has paid the invoice,
it is determined that more tax is due, the customer shall promptly remit the required taxes to the taxing authority or immediately reimburse KCI for any additional taxes
paid by KCL

17. SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY: The Sole and exclusive remedy of customer for the breach of this agreement by KCI or any express or implied
warranties pertaining to the mailing purchased by customer pursuant to this agreement, shall be remailing as provided in paragraph 13 above. Alternatively KCI may, at
its opinion, provide a full refund of the invoice price. Customer shall notify KCI by written notice of any defect in the mailing within the period of 60 days immediately
following the mailing. Failure by customer to notify KCI within this 60 day period shall relieve KCI from any liability to customer as a result of the defective mailing.
The remedy here provided by KCI as to remailing, shall be customers sole and exclusive remedy and is expressly made in substitution of any and all remedies otherwise
provided under the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted in the state of Michigan or any other state or jurisdiction. Under no circumstances shall KCI be liable to
customer or any other person for any consequential, incidental, economic, direct, indirect, general or specific damages arising out of any breach of warranty, express or
implied, under the agreement.

18. STATE OF MICHIGAN: This agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of, and enforced within the jurisdiction of, the state of Michigan.
Any suit against KCI involving this agreement shall be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction within the county of Kent and the state of Michigan.

Exhibit B - 4



DATE: Friday, January 16, 2026

TO: Tim Klunder, City Manager
FROM: Tim Maday, Community Development Director
RE: January 20" City Council Meeting Agenda - 2026 Poverty Exemption Guidelines

The State Tax Commission has amended the guidelines to be used by Michigan Boards of Review in 2026 for
determining eligibility of property owners that may request a poverty property tax exemption.

State Tax Commission Bulletin No. 15 of 2025 requires local government approval of guidelines and an asset level test
(enclosed) to be used by the Board of Review when considering applications for poverty exemptions. Bulletin No. 15
also states that the local governing body shall not set the poverty guidelines lower than the federal poverty guidelines
which are listed below. Example: The income level for a household of 3 people shall not be set lower than $26,650,
which is the amount shown on the following chart for a family of 3 people; however the local governing body may set
the income level for a family of 3 people higher than $26,650.

Below are the federal poverty guidelines proposed for use by the Board of Review in considering poverty exemption

applications for 2026:

Poverty Guideline Schedule

Size of Family Unit Poverty Guidelines

1 $ 15,650

2 $21,150

3 $ 26,650

4 $32,150

5 $ 37,650

6 $43,150

7 $ 48,650

8 $ 54,150

For each additional person $5,500

Recommendation: Adopt the federal poverty guidelines as stated in State Tax Commission Bulletin Number 15

of 2025 for use by the Board of Review when considering 2026 poverty exemption

applications.

o

Timothy Mgday,‘ﬁommunity Development Director




v Adopted: _/_/____

&
A

City of Zeeland

2026 Poverty Exemption Policy

(POLICY GUIDELINES ARE UPDATED TO REFLECT GUIDELINES ISSUED NOYV.
18, 2025, BY MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY BULLETIN NO. 15)

THIS FORM IS ISSUED UNDER AUTHORITY OF PUBLIC ACT 206 OF 1893; MCL 211.7U.

1. Applicant(s) must be the owner(s) of, and occupant of, the home for which the exemption is being sought.
Proof of ownership and residency will be required (deed or land contract, and driver's license/state ID or
voter's registration card).

2. Applicant(s) will not be eligible for consideration unless they meet the following adopted guidelines, which
include ALL individuals currently residing in the household, as well as ANY co-owners who are not
residing in the homestead:

INCOME LIMITATIONS

The following are the federal poverty income guidelines which the United States Office of Management and Budget
recommends that federal departments and agencies use. The standards are actually issued by the Department of Health
and Human Services and are referred to as "poverty guidelines." The following are the poverty guidelines as of
December 31, 2025, for use in setting poverty exemption guidelines for 2026 assessments.

NO. OF PERSONS AND CO- ANNUAL INCOME
OWNERS

1 person $15,650
2 persons $21,150
3 persons $26,650
4 persons $32,150
5 persons $37,650
6 persons $43,150
7 persons $48,650
8 persons $54,150
For each additional person, add $ 5,500

P.A. 135 FF 2012 changed the requirements for filing documentation in support of a poverty exemption to allow
an affidavit (TREASURY FORM 4988) to be filed for all persons residing at the residence who were not required to
file federal or state income tax returns in the current year or in the immediately preceding year.

For purposes of the income limitations, annual income will include annual income of the applicant(s), any
person(s) residing in the homestead, and any person(s) residing in the homestead, and any co-owner(s) who are
not residing in the homestead. The applicant(s), any person(s) residing in the homestead and any co-owner(s)
will each be considered one person. Annual income is defined as household income, being both taxable and
exempt income from all and every source.

City of Zeeland 21 S Elm Street Phone: (616)772-0872
Assessing Office Zeeland M1 49464 Email: assessor@cityofzeeland.com



ASSET LIMITATIONS

In addition, the total household assets (i.e. bank accounts, other real property, boats, campers, stocks, bonds,
IRA's, other assets in or out of the United States, etc.) SHALL NOT exceed $15,000. Verification of additional
assets will be done for all parties and household members applying for property tax assistance. Information not
provided by applicant that is discovered by the Board of Review may cause your application to be denied.

For purposes of calculating an applicant(s)’ combined asset, the homestead for which the exemption is being sought
will not be included.

LONGEVITY LIMITATIONS
A Poverty Exemption may only be granted for the Current Tax Year. To obtain a Poverty Exemption for the
following tax year, the applicant(s) must repeat the application process.

3. All applicant(s) must obtain the proper application from the Assessor's Office, complete the entire
application, attach all documentation requested (see below), and sign the application.

4. As applicable, all applicant(s) will supply copies of the following documents for each individual currently
residing in the household as well as any co-owners who are not residing in the household:

a. Homestead Property Tax Credit Claim (Mi-1040cr or 1040cr-2).
b. Michigan Income Tax Return (Mi-1040).

C. Federal Income Tax Return (Federal 1040 or 1040a).
d. W-2 Forms.

e. Interest Income Statements.

f. Dividend Income Statements.

g. Social Security Benefit Statements.

h. Pension Benefit Statements.

1. SSE Benefit Statements.

J- Workmen's Compensation Benefit Statements.

k. Public Assistance Benefit Statements.

1. General Assistance Benefit Statements.

5. ADC Benefit Statements.

6. Child Support Documentation.

7. Alimony Documentation.

8. ALL applicants will be evaluated based on data submitted and testimony given, along with information
gathered from any source the Board chooses. Any successful applicant may be subject to investigation of
their financial and property records by the City. This investigation will be performed to verify information
used to support the applicant's poverty claim.

9. Information and documents submitted to the Board of Review in support of an application for a poverty

exemption shall be kept confidential, to the maximum extent permitted by law.



INSTRUCTIONS: When complete, this document must accompany a taxpayer's Application for Poverty
Exemption filed with the local unit where the property is located. MCL 211.7u provides for a whole or
partial property tax exemption on the principal residence of an owner of the property by reason of
poverty and the inability to contribute toward the public charges. MCL 211.7u (2) (b) requires proof of
eligibility for the exemption to be provided to the board of review by supplying copies of Federal and State
Income Tax Returns for all persons residing in the principal residence, including Property Tax Credit Returns,
or by filing an affidavit for all persons residing in the residence who were not required to file Federal or
State Income Tax Returns for the current or preceding tax year.

I, swear and affirm by my signature below that I reside in the principal
residence that is the subject of this Application for Poverty Exemption.

Address:

Petitioner Signature Date

FOR ALL PERSONS RESIDING IN THE RESIDENCE WHO WERE NOT REQUIRED TO FILE FEDERAL OR
STATE INCOME TAX RETURNS FOR THE CURRENT OR PRECEDING TAX YEAR.

By signing below you swear and affirm that you reside in the principal residence that is the subject of this
Application for Poverty Exemption and that for the current tax year and the preceding tax year, you were not
required to file a Federal or State Income Tax Return.

Print Name Signature Date
Print Name Signature Date
Print Name Signature Date
Print Name Signature Date

Print Name Signature Date



IMPORTANT
e If applicant(s) cannot attend board of review in person, a written excuse shall be provided to the
board of review.
* Board of Review dates:
o March 9th & 10th, 2026
o July 21st, 2026
o December 15th, 2026
e It is recommended that applicant attend the March Board of Review to avoid receiving a tax bill, if
applicant is unable to attend the March Board of Review a tax bill will be issued and is due by
payment deadline, reimbursement may then occur upon attendance and approval of the Board of
Review.



Michigan Department of Treasury
5737 (Rev. 10-25), Page 1 of 4

Application and Affirmation for MCL 211.7u Poverty Exemption

This form is issued under the authority of the General Property Tax Act, Public Act 206 of 1893, MCL 211.7u.

MCL 211.7u of the General Property Tax Act, Public Act 206 of 1893, provides a property tax exemption for the principal
residence of persons who, by reason of poverty, are unable to contribute toward the public charges. This application is
to be used to apply for the exemption and must be filed with the Board of Review where the property is located. This
application may be submitted to the city or township where the property is located in each year on or after January 1 but
before the day prior to the last day of the board of review. Poverty Exemptions may be heard by the Board of Review
during its March, July, and December sessions.

To be considered complete, this application must: 1) be completed in its entirety, 2) include information regarding all
members residing within the household, and 3) include all required documentation as listed within the application. Please
write legibly and attach additional pages as necessary.

PART 1: PERSONAL INFORMATION — Petitioner must list all required personal information.

Petitioner’'s Name Daytime Phone Number
Age of Petitioner Marital Status Age of Spouse Number of Legal Dependents
Property Address of Principal Residence City State ZIP Code

PART 2: REAL ESTATE INFORMATION

List the real estate information related to your principal residence. Be prepared to provide a deed, land contract or other
evidence of ownership of the property at the Board of Review meeting.

Property Parcel Identification Number Name of Mortgage Company

Unpaid Balance Owed on Principal Residence Monthly Payment Length of Time at this Residence

Property Description

PART 3: AFFIRMATION OF OWNERSHIP, OCCUPANCY, AND INCOME STATUS (Check all boxes that apply.)

|:| | own the property in which the exemption is being claimed.

|:| The property in which the exemption is being claimed is used as my homestead. Homestead is generally defined
as any dwelling with its land and buildings where a family makes its home.

PART 4: ADDITIONAL PROPERTY INFORMATION

List information related to any other property owned by you or any member residing in the household.

. . Amount of Income Earned from other Propert
D Check if you own, or are buying, other property. If checked, complete the pery
information below.
Property Address City State ZIP Code
1 Name of Owner(s) Assessed Value Date of Last Taxes Paid Amount of Taxes Paid
Property Address City State ZIP Code
2 Name of Owner(s) Assessed Value Date of Last Taxes Paid Amount of Taxes Paid

Continue on Page 2



5737, Page 2 of 4

PART 5: EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION — List your current employment information.

Name of Employer

Address of Employer City State ZIP Code

Contact Person Employer Telephone Number

PART 6: INCOME SOURCES

List all income sources, including but not limited to: salaries, Social Security, rents, pensions, IRAs (individual
retirement accounts), unemployment compensation, disability, government pensions, worker’s compensation,

dividends, claims and judgments from lawsuits, alimony, child support, friend or family contribution, reverse mortgage,
or any other source of income, for all persons residing at the property.

Monthly or Annual Income

Source of Income (indicate which)

PART 7: CHECKING, SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT INFORMATION

List any and all savings owned by all household members, including but not limited to: checking accounts, savings

accounts, postal savings, credit union shares, certificates of deposit, cash, stocks, bonds, or similar investments, for all
persons residing at the property.

Name of Financial Institution Amount Current Value of
or Investments on Deposit Interest Rate Name on Account Investment

PART 8: LIFE INSURANCE — List all policies held by all household members.

Amount of Monthly Policy Paid in

Relationship to
Name of Insured Policy Payments Full

Name of Beneficiary Insured

PART 9: MOTOR VEHICLE INFORMATION

All motor vehicles (including motorcycles, motor homes, camper trailers, etc.) held or owned by any person residing
within the household must be listed.

Make Year Monthly Payment Balance Owed

Continue on Page 3



5737, Page 3 of 4

PART 10: HOUSEHOLD OCCUPANTS — List all persons living in the household.

First and Last Name

Age

Relationship
to Applicant

$ Contribution to
Place of Employment | Family Income

PART 11: PERSONAL DEBT — List all personal debt for all household members.

Creditor Purpose of Debt

Date
of Debt

Original Balance [Monthly Payment| Balance Owed

PART 12: MONTHLY EXPENSE INFORMATION

The amount of monthly expenses related to the principal residence for each category must be listed. Indicate N/A as

necessary.

Heating Electric Water Phone

Cable Food Clothing Health Insurance
Garbage Daycare Car Expense (gas, repair, etc.)

Other (type and amount)

Other (type and amount)

Other (type and amount)

Other (type and amount)

Other (type and amount)

Other (type and amount)

Continue and sign on Page 4



5737, Page 4 of 4

NOTICE: Per MCL 211.7u(2)(b), federal and state income tax returns for all persons residing in the principal residence,
including any property tax credit returns, filed in the immediately preceding year or in the current year must be submitted
with this application. Federal and state income tax returns are not required for a person residing in the principal residence
if that person was not required to file a federal or state income tax return in the tax year in which the exemption under this
section is claimed or in the immediately preceding tax year.

PART 13: POLICY AND GUIDELINES ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The governing body of the local assessing unit shall determine and make available to the public the policy and
guidelines used for the granting of exemptions under MCL 211.7u. In order to be eligible for the exemption, the
applicant must meet the federal poverty guidelines published in the prior calendar year in the Federal Register by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services under its authority to revise the poverty line under 42 USC
9902, or alternative guidelines adopted by the governing body of the local assessing unit so long as the alternative
guidelines do not provide income eligibility requirements less than the federal guidelines. The policy and guidelines
must include, but are not limited to, the specific income and asset levels of the claimant and total household income
and assets. The combined assets of all persons must not exceed the limits set forth in the guidelines adopted by the
local assessing unit.

|:| The applicant has reviewed the applicable policy and guidelines adopted by the city or township, including the
specific income and asset levels of the claimant and total household income and assets.

PART 14: LEGAL DESIGNEE INFORMATION (Complete if applicable.)

Legal Designee Name Daytime Telephone Number

Mailing Address City State ZIP Code

PART 15: CERTIFICATION

| hereby certify to the best of my knowledge that the information provided in this form is complete, accurate and | am
eligible for the exemption from property taxes pursuant to Michigan Compiled Law, Section 211.7u.

Printed Name Signature Date

This application shall be filed after January 1, but before the day prior to the last day of the local unit’s December
Board of Review.

Decision of the March Board of Review may be appealed by petition to the Michigan Tax Tribunal by July 31 of
the current year. A July or December Board of Review decision may be appealed to the Michigan Tax Tribunal by
petition within 30 days of decision. A copy of the Board of Review decision must be included with the petition.

Michigan Tax Tribunal
PO Box 30232
Lansing MI 48909

Phone: 517-335-9760
Email: taxtrib@michigan.gov



mailto:taxtrib@michigan.gov

	01 - CC mtg Time change 1-20-26
	02 - StyAgenda 1-20-26
	03 - Agenda 1-20-26
	04 - Council Minutes 1-5-26
	05 - SARB Minutes 1.8.2026docx
	06 - BPW minutes 1-13-2026_amb_draft
	07 - CM Report_1.20.26
	08 - CC_Utilities Manager Cover Memo_w_att__1.20.26
	Robert Mulder Resume
	Employment Agreement

	09 - CC_El Racho Alcohol License approval_1.20.26
	10 - Snowmelt Special Assesment Report Memo 1.20.26 - 1
	ADP288.tmp
	Sheet1


	11 - Lincoln Cemetery String Trimming Bid Award 1.20.26
	Bid Tab Sheet.pdf
	Sheet1


	12 - OC Election Publishing Services and OC Early Voting Printing-Mailing Services 
	13 - Election Publishing Service Contract
	14 - Election Early Voting Printing and Mailing Services Contract - 01.12.2026
	15 - CC_2026 Poverty Guidelines_1.20.26
	2026 Poverty combined Final.pdf
	2026 Poverty Exemption App Final
	5737 (1)



